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2010 Frnanctal IkgMts

Cs mjltrons except prsiiawamwiiits 20t0 20D9 2008

Revenues $24031 $32818 $30981

Operating Income 314 279 1070

Net Income 236 206 606

ErnIn8s Per Diluted Share 00 88 026

Weighted Average Shares 235 233 2304

Cash and Invstments 886 639 682

Long Term Debt 55 62 43

ThtalAsses $25114 $24114 $21802

acIog $5l39O $3 2608 $4 404

figures are presented on the basis of continuing operatmns

neludes cash cash equivalents restricted cash and investments
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To Our

Sharehoders

In looking back an this past year 2010 feel enormous sense of pride in what

your company McDermott lnternatmnal Inc McDermott or the Company

accomplished In sammary outstanding financial results were delioered daring

period that was nothing short of transfarmat anal

The most gnificaof event far McDermott as compared to prmr years occurred

on July 30 2010 when we distributed to oar shareholders all of the ownership of

The Babcock Wilcox Company whch prevmosly represented nor Government

Operations and Power Generation Systems segments together BWf We are

very pleased with the completion of this spin-off and the performance of both

companies since but far the remainder of this letter the fucos will be an

McDermotts ongoing operatinns Likewise references tn records our history

and the like throughout nhis annual report ielate only to McDermotts

continuing operations

Today McDermott is leading engineering procorement coostractoo and

installation EPCIf company offering pare play an the desirable offshore nil

and gas industry Oar major product offerings wclade fixed and floating production

facilities offshore pipelines and sabsea systems The Companys customers

include national and major energy companies thmaughnat the Atlantic Middle

East and Asia Pacific regions where we operate These regnos now represent nor

reportable financial segments and in each location we maintain engineering

offices one or mare fabrication facilities and marine vessels

As new stand-alone Company with history of indastry leadership this is truly

an exciting time and we believe oar fatare is bright However lets first review

nor summary results and accomplishments from 2010

2010 Year hi Review Focosed on the Basinoss

Geaeraily fiaar cial metrics head to be sigaif can component in evaloafiag the

soccnss of any gvnn ynar Whiln nncnaragn you to fully raview fhx aftachcd

Form 10-K far comprehensive description of nor financial results its plea

snre to report these highlights from nor 2010 continuing operations

Revenues at 02.4 billion produced operating income of $315 million oar

second hig iest level ever and or operating margin of 13%

Nec income was $237 million or $1.00 per dilated share nor second

coosecafive year-over year increase in both metrics

Key line items of McDermotts financial faaodatiao oar balance sheet

oclade

Total assets at $2 billion

Cash and investments of approximately $887 million

Working capital defined as current assets less current liabilities

at b420 million

Total debt of only $55 million very modest sow

Shareholders equity of $1.5 billion or 58% of assets

Backlog at $5 billion at
year end which represents future expected revenues

under contract is oar highest year
end level ever as result of $4.2 billion

in new awards daring the year

Of the backlog amount $3.1 billion is expected to be realized through

revenues in 2011 which pronides good visibility tar the coming year

Ta continue serving both shareholders and customers the Company

ovested aboat $187 million in capital expenditures which we eupect to

ocrease in 2011 These investments keep assets well-maintained and

enable pursuit of growth initiatives

McDermotts safety statistics remained outstanding in 2010 better than

year aoo and oar taroets In fact we wore recoaoized far oar achieve

ments in safety with Chevrons Contractor of the Year award

Finally the metric that shareholders tend to follow closely McDermotts

stock price increased approaimateiy 65% following the BW spin-aft

through year-end While many factors influence valuations believe

portion of nor strong appreciation relates to the enthusiasm investors

have for McDermott and oar industry

BoUdiog for Our Futuro Leveraging Strong Market

Whilo Im more than satisfied w4h our results and achievements daring 2010 my

true enthusiasm is reserved for McDermotts years ahead And the Companys

future is always more important than past results

cp or
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$5039 $887 $315

While McDermotts results tor 2010 were strong our path torward cue he better

if we successfully address number of priorities For iostaoce eveo after deliv

eriog the secood best full year
for earoiogs io our history the Atlaotic segmeot

did oat cootribute to this achievemeot aod io fact recorded ao operatiog loss

While it would be tempting to place the blame on the Macoodo accideot we

instead are proactively taking action Tn help return the segment to profitability

weve installed new management begun catting costs and most importantly

have recently won new work Clearly additional projects are still needed and

it will take time to return the segment to profitability however through this

multi-prong approach we are actively pursuing the opportunity

Another priority relates to cuntinuing with oar vessel renewal program As youve

seen throughout this annual report our EPCI business model is at the heart of the

Companys value proposition
In our active markets we believe our fabrication

facilities are second to none and our marine vessels have been fully maintained

serving their respective markets well However as we plan for the future we do

expect number of vessel retirements and replacements over the next two

decades We have already begun the
process

of upgrading oar marine fleet

including broadening certain capabilities with the purchase of an interest in the

North Ocean 102 the recent completion of the L832 shallow water lay barge and

the ongoing construction of the North Ocean 105 In addition we are upgrading

the DB5O in 2011 in anticipation of more complex workload in the years to

come Ensuring access to the right number of vessels with the right capabilities

and in the right regions
will increase our ability to generate strong returns and

better serve our customers in the
years

ahead

Finally while the Company serves historically cyclical industry and faces fnrmi

dable competition for new awards we understand the owners of our Company

rightfully expect our management team to grow the Company improve our finan

cial results invest wisely and plan for the future We gladly accept this directive

and are pursuing it through several avenues We have actively increased our

capital expenditures in recent
years pursuing organic growth such as the deeper

water and snbsea expansion
initiatives Additionally we are engaging in partnership

discussions in several markets to give us enhanced growth opportunities at lower

cost and have formed global marine organization to better utilize our propeller-

driven assets We are also baking for growth beyond cur current footprint

as evidenced by diversification into brown field work and entering new regions

such as Brazil Finally we will regularly evaluate accelerated opportunities

achievable through mergers and acquixitions

The examples above remind us that even with the stellar results of 2010 and

better visibility for 2011 oar work is never complete because like us our owners

are focused no the future And believe there is on better time to plan fur the

times ahead than right nnwwhile our worklnad is solid our results strong and

the industry is growing The macrn fundamentals of our industry are promising

and the simple reality is the Company has more upportanities available to us

than we can realistically pursue As such the Board and our management team

have become much more focused on the expected returns on invested capital

to better allocate both our human and financial resources for shareholders

maximum benefit

As of this writing am approaching just my second anniversary with McDermott

However my professional background includes almost 40 years
of diversified

engineering and construction experience so feel qualified to state that McDermott

is special company McDermotts leadership in the industry the projects weve

built and the relationships with our clients are all unmatched However what

truly separates McDermott from the competition are my 15000 cu-workers who

strive everyday to exceed our customers expectations It is my honor and privilege

to serve alongside them and fully appreciate their efforts in 2010 and commit

ment to the Companys future

Finally want to thank you ncr owners for your ongoing trust and investment in

McDermott

Kindest regards

Stephen Johnson

McDerriott intei oa
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Statements we make in this Annual Report on Form 10-K which express belief expectation or intention as well

as those that are not hi storical fact are forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities

Litigation Reform Act of 1995 These forward-looking statements are subject to various risks uncertainties and

assumptions including those to which we refer under the headings Cautionary Statement Concerning Forward-

Looking Statements and Risk Factors in Items and 1A of Part of this report

PART

Item BUSINESS

General

McDermott International Inc Mu incorporated under the laws of the Republic of Panama is leading

engineering procurement construction and installation EPCI company focused on designing and executing

complex offshore oil and gas projects worldwide Providing fully integrated EPCI services for offshore oil and

gas field developments we deliver fixed and floating production facilities pipeline installations and subsea

systems from concept to commissioning We support these activities with comprehensive project management
and procurement services Our customers include national and major energy companies and we operate in most

major offshore oil and
gas producing regions throughout the world While we provide wide range of products

and services our business segments are heavily focused on major projects At any given time relatively small

number of projects can represent significant part of our operations We have operations in approximately 20

countries with 15000 employees worldwide In this annual report on Form 10-K unless the context otherwise

indicates we us and our mean MIT and its consolidated subsidiaries MITs common stock is listed on the

New York Stock Exchange under the trading symbol MDR

On July 30 2010 we completed the spin-off of our previously reported Government Operations and Power

Generation Systems segments into an independent publicly traded company named The Babcock Wilcox

Company BW Additionally during the quarter ended September 30 2010 we committed to plan to sell

our charter fleet business which operates 10 of the 14 vessels from our 2007 acquisition of substantially all of the

assets of Secunda International Limited the Secunda acquisition Various prior period amounts contained in

these consolidated financial statements as well as the accompanying notes reflect the historical operations of

BW and the charter fleet business as discontinued operations Accordingly the discussions in this annual report

are presented on the basis of continuing operations unless otherwise stated

Business Segments

In connection with the spin-off of BW as discussed in Note Discontinued Operations and Other

Charges we have modified our previous reporting segments which included the operations of BW to reflect

our geographic operating segments We operate in five primary business segments which consist of Asia Pacific

Atlantic Caspian the Middle East and Corporate Our Corporate segment primarily reflects corporate personnel

and activities incentive compeasatioll piogialus and other costs Costs incurred in our Corporate segment are

generally fully allocated to our other segments The Caspian and Middle East operating segments are aggregated

into the Middle East reporting segment due to the proximity of regions similarities in the nature of services

provided economic characteristics and oversight responsibilities Accordingly we now report our financial

results under four reporting segments consisting of Asia Pacific Atlantic the Middle East and Corporate For

financial information about our segments see Note 12 to our consolidated financial statements included in this

annual report

Asia Pacific Segment

Through our Asia Pacific segment we serve the needs of national and major energy companies primarily in

Australia Indonesia Vietnam Malaysia and Thailand Project focus in this segment includes the fabrication and

installation of fixed and floating structures and the installation of pipelines and subsea systems The majority of

segment operations are performed on an EPCI basis Engineering and procurement services are provided by our



Singapore office and are supported by additional resources located in Houston Texas The primary fabrication

facility for this segment is located on Batam Island Indonesia Additionally through our equity ownership

interest in joint venture we are developing fabrication facility located in China At December 31 2010 and

2009 our Asia Pacific segment employed approximately 7800 and 9100 employees respectively

Atlantic Segment

Through our Atlantic segment we serve the needs of national and major energy companies primarily in the

United States Mexico Canada Trinidad Brazil West Africa and the North Sea Project focus in this segment

includes the fabrication and installation of fixed and floating structures and the installation of pipelines and

subsea systems Engineering and procurement services are provided by our Houston office and our New Orleans

office provides specialized marine engineering capabilities to support our global marine activities The primary

fabrication facilities for this segment are located in Morgan City Louisiana and Altamira Mexico Our Atlantic

segment employed approximately 1300 and 1000 employees at December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively

Middle East Segment

Through our Middle East segment which includes the Caspian region we serve the needs of national and

major energy companies primarily in Saudi Arabia Qatar the United Arab Emirates U.A.E Kuwait India

Azerbaijan Russia Kazakhstan and Turkmenistan Project focus in this segment relates primarily to the

fabrication and installation of bottom-founded production platforms and the installation of related subsea

pipelines in shallow water The majority of our projects in this segment are performed on an EPCI basis

Engineering and procurement services are provided by our Dubai U.A.E and Chennai India offices and are

supported by additional resources from our Houston and Baku Azerbaijan offices The primary fabrication

facility for this segment is located in Dubai U.A.E At December 31 2010 and 2009 our Middle East segment

employed approximately 5900 and 6600 employees respectively

The above-mentioned fabrication facilities in each segment are equipped with wide variety of heavy-duty

construction and fabrication equipment including cranes welding equipment machine tools and robotic and

other automated equipment Project installation is performed by major construction vessels which we own or

operate and are stationed throughout the various regions and provide structural lifting/lowering and pipelay

services These major construction vessels are supported by our multi-function vessels and chartered vessels

from third parties to perform wide array of installation activities that include anchor handling pipelay cable

umbilical lay dive support and hookup/commissioning See Properties in Item of this annual report

Our business activity depends mainly on capital expenditures for offshore construction services of oil and

gas companies and foreign governments for construction of development projects in the regions in which we

operate Our operations are generally capital intensive and rely on large contracts which can account for

substantial amount of our revenues number of factors influence our activities including

oil and
gas prices along with expectations about future prices

the cost of exploring for producing and delivering oil and gas

the terms and conditions of offshore leases

the discovery rates of new oil and gas reserves in offshore areas

the ability of businesses in the oil and gas industry to raise capital

local and international political and economic conditions and

the cost of potential future litigation

Acquisitions

We had no significant acquisitions during 2010 In December 2009 we completed transaction with

Oceanteam ASA involving the acquisition of an approximate 50% interest in vessel-owning company that owns



the vessel North Ocean 102 and 75% interest in another company that is building and will own similarvessel

the North Ocean 105 The acquisition cost to us was approximately $30.2 million net of cash acquired and these

entities are consolidated in our financial statements We agreed to charter each vessel from the respective vessel

owning companies for five-year period after which time we will have the option to purchase Oceanteam

ASAs remaining interest in each vessel-owning company This acquisition provided us with versatile subsea and

deepwater installation equipment to support our growing subsea capabilities

We continue to evaluate accelerated growth opportunities achievable through acquisition or consolidation

in addition to pursuing organic growth strategies

Contracts

We execute our contracts through variety of methods including fixed-price cost reimbursable cost-plus

day-rate and unit-rate basis or some combination of those methods Contracts are usually awarded through

competitive bid process primarily based on price However other factors that customers may consider include

facility or equipment availability technical capabilities of equipment and personnel efficiency safety record and

reputation

Fixed-price contracts are for fixed amount to cover costs and any profit element for defined scope of

work Fixed-price contracts entail more risk to us because they require us to predetermine both the quantities of

work to be performed and the costs associated with executing the work See Risk FactorsWe are subject to

risks associated with contractual pricing in our industries including the risk that if our actual costs exceed the

costs we estimate on our fixed-price contracts our profitability will decline and we may suffer losses in

Item 1A of this annual report

We have contracts that extend beyond one year Most of our long-term contracts have provisions for

progress payments We attempt to cover anticipated increases in labor material and service costs of our long-

term contracts either through an estimate of such charges which is reflected in the original price or through risk-

sharing mechanisms such as escalation or price adjustments for items such as labor and commodity prices

We generally recognize our contract revenues and related costs on percentage-of-completion basis

Accordingly we review contract price and cost estimates periodically as the work progresses and reflect

adjustments in profit proportionate to the percentage-of-completion in the period when we revise those estimates

To the extent that these adjustments result in reduction or elimination of previously reported profits with

respect to project we would recognize charge against current earnings which could be material

Our arrangements with customers frequently require us to provide letters of credit bid and performance
bonds or guarantees to secure bids or performance under contracts While these letters of credit bonds and

guarantees may involve significant dollar amounts historically there have hen no material payments to our

customers under these arrangements

In the event of contract deferral or cancellation we generally would be entitled to recover costs incurred

settlement
expenses and profit on work completed prior to deferral or termination Significant or numerous

cancellations could adversely affect our business financial condition results of operations and cash flows

Backlog

Backlog represents the dollar amount of revenues we expect to recognize in the future from contracts

awarded and in progress Not all of our expected revenues from contract award are recorded in backlog for

variety of reasons including projects awarded and completed within the same fiscal period We generally include

expected revenues of contracts in our backlog when we receive written confirmation from our customers We do

not include expected revenues of contracts related to unconsolidated joint ventures in our backlog



Backlog is not measure defined by generally accepted accounting principles and our methodology for

determining backlog may not be comparable to the methodology used by other companies in determining their

backlog amounts Backlog may not be indicative of future operating results and projects in our backlog may be

cancelled modified or otherwise altered by customers We can provide no assurance as to the profitability of our

contracts reflected in backlog

Our backlog at December 31 2010 and 2009 was as follows

December 31 December 31
2010 2009

Dollars in millions

Asia Pacific $2176 43% $1491 46%

Atlantic1 315 6% 44 1%

Middle East 2548 51% 1726 53%

Total Backlog $5039 100% $3261 100%

Backlog attributable to the charter fleet business of $110 million at December 31 2009 has been removed

due to the classification of that business as discontinued operations

Of the December 31 2010 backlog we expect to recognize revenues as follows

2011 2012 Thereafter

In approximate millions

Total Backlog $3105 $1669 $265

Competition

We believe we are among the few offshore construction contractors capable of providing wide range of

services in major offshore oil and gas producing regions of the world We believe that the substantial capital

costs and specialized skill-sets involved in becoming full-service offshore construction contractor create

significant barrier to entry into the market as global fully-integrated competitor We do however face

substantial competition from regional competitors and less integrated providers of offshore construction services

such as engineering firms fabrication facilities pipelaying companies and shipbuilders number of companies

compete with us in each of the separate marine installation and construction and fabrication phases in various

parts of the world Our competitors by segment are discussed below

Asia Pacific

number of companies compete with us in the Asia Pacific region These competitors include Allseas

Marine Contractors S.A Daewoo Engineering Construction Co Ltd EMAS Offshore Pte Ltd Global

Industries Ltd Heerema Group Hyundai Heavy Industrial Co Ltd Nippon Steel Corporation Saipem S.p.A

Samsung Heavy Industries Co Ltd Subsea S.A Swiber Holdings Ltd and Technip S.A

Atlantic

Our Atlantic segment operates in areas with varying degrees of contract segmentation between engineering

fabrication and offshore marine installation services Numerous competitors exist for each function Key

competitors include Allseas Marine Contractors S.A Dragados Offshore Mexico S.A Global Industries Ltd

Gulf Island Fabrication Inc Heerema Group Helix Energy Solutions Group Inc Kiewit Corporation Saipem

S.p.A Subsea S.A and Technip S.A

Middle East

We are one of few offshore construction contractors capable of providing full range of services for major

offshore oil and gas projects in the Middle East region However it is not uncommon for competitors with



limited fabrication or marine presence in the region to pursue projects through partnering and alliances to

compete for projects requiring the full range of services
necessary for such projects Competitors include

Hyundai Heavy Industrial Co Ltd Keppel Corporation Larsen and Toubro Ltd India National Petroleum

Construction Company Abu Dhabi Saipem S.p.A Technip S.A and Valentine and Swiber Holdings Ltd

Joint Ventures

We participate in the ownership of entities with third parties primarily through corporations limited

liability companies and partnerships which we refer to as joint ventures We generally account for our

investments in joint ventures under the equity method of accounting Our more substantial joint ventures are

described below

Asia Pafic

Qingdao McDermott Wuchuan Offshore Engineering Company Ltd We co-own this entity with

Qingdao Wuchuan Heavy Industry Co Ltd leading shipbuilder in China This joint venture which

commenced in 2009 expands the focus of our business on floating production storage off-loading

FPSO vessel construction and integration

Atlantic

F1oaTEC LLC We co-own this entity with Keppel FELS Ltd This joint venture designs markets

procures and contracts floating production systems to the deepwater oil and
gas industry The

deepwater solutions provided include tension leg platforms TLPs spars and production semi

submersibles significant part of this entitys strategy is to build on the established presence

reputation and resources of its two owners and to contract activity back to its owners

Deepwater Marine Technology LLC We co-own this entity with Keppel EELS Ltd This joint

venture expands our services related to solutions involving TLPs TLP is vertically moored floating

structure normally used for the offshore production of oil and
gas and is particularly suited for water

depth greater than 1000 feet



Customers

We provide services to diverse customer base including multinational and state-owned oil and gas

companies Our five largest customers as percentage of our total consolidated revenues during the years ended

December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 were as follows

Year Ended December 31 2010

Saudi Aramco 40%

Chevron Corporation 15%

Exxon Mobil Corporation 10%

Shell Oil Company

Woodside Energy Limited

Year Ended December 31 2009

Saudi Aramco 20%

Ras Laffan Liquified Natural Gas Company 16%

Qatar Liquified Gas Company 12%
Shell Oil Company 11%

Maersk Oil Qatar 11%

Year Ended December 31 2008

Ras Laffan Liquified Natural Gas Company 16%

Cuu Long Joint Operating Company 12%

Reliance Industries Limited 10%

Saudi Aramco

Maersk Oil Qatar

Less than 10% of consolidated revenues

Customers that account for significant portion of revenues in one year may represent an immaterial portion

of revenues in other years

Raw Materials and Suppliers

Our operations use raw materials such as carbon and alloy steels in various forms and components and

accessories for assembly which are available from numerous sources We generally purchase these raw materials

and components as needed for individual contracts We do not depend on single source of supply for any

significant raw materials

Employees

At December 31 2010 we employed approximately 15000 persons worldwide compared with

approximately 17000 at December 31 2009 excluding BW employees Approximately 6400 of those

employees were members of labor unions at December 31 2010 compared with approximately 7500 at

December 31 2009 excluding BW employees Some of our operations are subject to union contracts which

we customarily renew periodically We consider our relationships with our employees to be satisfactory

Patents and Licenses

We currently hold number of U.S and foreign patents and also have certain patent applications pending
We also acquire patents and grant licenses to others when we consider it advantageous for us to do so Although
in the aggregate our patents and licenses are important to us we do not regard any single patent or license or

group
of related patents or licenses as critical or essential to our business as whole In general we depend on

our technological capabilities and the application of know-how rather than patents and licenses in the conduct of

our business



Hazard Risks and Insurance

Our operations present risks of injury to or death of people loss of or damage to property and damage to

the environment We conduct difficult and frequently precise operations in
very challenging and dynamic

locations We have created loss control systems to assist us in the identification and treatment of the hazard risks

presented by our operations and we endeavor to make sure these systems are effective

As loss control measures will not always be successful we seek to establish various means of funding losses

and liability related to incidents or occurrences We primarily seek to do this through contractual protections

including waivers of consequential damages indemnities caps on liability liquidated damage provisions and

access to the insurance of other parties We also procure insurance operate our own captive insurance

company and/or establish funded or unfunded reserves However there can be no assurance that these methods

will adequately address all risks

Depending on competitive conditions the nature of the work industry custom and other factors we may not

be successful in obtaining adequate contractual protection from our customers and other parties against losses

and liabilities arising out of or related to the performance of our work The scope
of the protection may be

limited may be subject to conditions and may not be supported by adequate insurance or other means of

financing In addition we sometimes have difficulty enforcing our contractual rights with others following

material loss

Similarly insurance for certain potential losses or liabilities may not be available or may only be available

at cost or on terms we consider not to be economical Insurers frequently react to market losses by ceasing to

write or severely limiting coverage
for certain exposures Risks that we have frequently found difficult to cost-

effectively insure against include but are not limited to business interruption including from the loss of or

damage to vessel property losses from wind flood and earthquake events war and political risks confiscation

or seizure of property including by act of piracy pollution liability liabilities related to occupational health

exposures including asbestos losses or liability related to acts of terrorism professional liability/errors and

omissions coverage the failure misuse or unavailability of our information systems or controls or security

measures related to those systems and liability related to risk of loss of our work in progress and customer-

owned materials in our care custody and control In cases where we place insurance we are subject to the credit

worthiness of the relevant insurers the available limits of the coverage our retention under the relevant policy

exclusions in the policy and gaps in coverage

Our wholly owned captive insurance subsidiary currently provides workers compensation employers

liability commercial general liability maritime employers liability and automotive liability insurance to support

our operations This insurance subsidiary has from time to time in the past also provided builders risk and

marine hull insurance for us We may also have business reasons in the future to have this insurance subsidiary

accept other risks which we cannot or do not wish to transfer to outside insurance companies These risks may be

considerable in any given year or cumulatively This insurance subsidiary has not provided significant amounts

of insurance to unrelated parties Claims as result of our operations could adversely impact the ability of our

captive insurance subsidiary to respond to all claims presented

Additionally upon the February 22 2006 effectiveness of the settlement relating to the Chapter 11

proceedings involving several BW subsidiaries most of our subsidiaries contributed substantial insurance

rights to the asbestos personal injury trust These insurance rights provided coverage for among other things

asbestos and other personal injury claims subject to the terms and conditions of the policies With the

contribution of these insurance rights to the asbestos personal injury trust we may have underinsured or

uninsured exposure for non-derivative asbestos claims or other personal injury or other claims that would have

been insured under these coverages
had the insurance rights not been contributed to the asbestos personal injury

trust



Governmental Regulations and Environmental Matters

General

Many aspects of our operations and properties are affected by political developments and are subject to both

domestic and foreign governmental regulations including those relating to

constructing and equipping offshore production platforms and other offshore facilities

marine vessel safety

workplace health and safety

currency conversions and repatriation

taxation of foreign earnings and earnings of expatriate personnel and

protecting the environment

In addition we depend on the demand for our offshore construction services from the oil and gas industry

and therefore are affected by changing taxes price controls and other laws and regulations relating to the oil and

gas industry generally The adoption of laws and regulations curtailing offshore exploration and development

drilling for oil and gas for economic and other policy reasons would adversely affect our operations by limiting

demand for our services

We are required by various governmental and quasi-governmental agencies to obtain certain permits

licenses and certificates with respect to our operations The kinds of permits licenses and certificates required in

our operations depend upon number of factors

The exploration and development of oil and gas properties on the continental shelf of the United States is

regulated primarily under the U.S Outer Continental Shelf Lands Act and related regulations These laws require

the construction operation and removal of offshore production facilities located on the outer continental shelf of

the United States to meet stringent engineering and construction specifications Similar regulations govern the

plugging and abandoning of wells located on the outer continental shelf of the United States and the removal of

all production facilities Violations of regulations issued pursuant to the U.S Outer Continental Shelf Lands Act

and related laws can result in substantial civil and criminal penalties as well as injunctions curtailing operations

We cannot determine the extent to which new legislation new regulations or changes in existing laws or

regulations may affect our future operations

Environmental

Our operations and properties are subject to wide variety of increasingly complex and stringent foreign

federal state and local environmental laws and regulations including those governing discharges into the air and

water the handling and disposal of solid and hazardous wastes the remediation of soil and groundwater

contaminated by hazardous substances and the health and safety of employees Sanctions for noncompliance may
include revocation of permits corrective action orders administrative or civil penalties and criminal prosecution

Some environmental laws provide for strict joint and several liability for remediation of spills and other releases

of hazardous substances as well as damage to natural resources In addition companies may be subject to claims

alleging personal injury or property damage as result of alleged exposure to hazardous substances Such laws

and regulations may also
expose us to liability for the conduct of or conditions caused by others or for our acts

that were in compliance with all applicable laws at the time such acts were performed

These laws and regulations include the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and

Liability Act of 1980 as amended CERCLA the Clean Air Act the Clean Water Act the Resource

Conservation and Recovery Act and similar laws that provide for responses to and liability for releases of

hazardous substances into the environment These laws and regulations also include similar foreign state or local



counterparts to these federal laws which regulate air emissions water discharges hazardous substances and

waste and require public disclosure related to the use of various hazardous substances Our operations are also

governed by laws and regulations relating to workplace safety and worker health primarily in the United States

the Occupational Safety and Health Act and regulations promulgated thereunder

We are currently in the process of investigating and remediating some of our former operating sites

Although we have recorded reserves in connection with certain of these matters due to the uncertainties

associated with environmental remediation there can be no assurance that the actual costs resulting from these

remediation matters will not exceed the recorded reserves

In addition offshore construction and drilling in some areas have been opposed by environmental groups

and in some areas have been restricted To the extent laws are enacted or other governmental actions are taken

that prohibit or restrict offshore construction and drilling or impose environmental protection requirements that

result in increased costs to the oil and gas industry in general and the offshore construction industry in particular

our business and prospects could be adversely affected

We have been identified as potentially responsible party at various cleanup sites under CERCLA
CERCLA and other environmental laws can impose liability for the entire cost of cleanup on any of the

potentially responsible parties regardless of fault or the lawfulness of the original conduct Generally however

where there are multiple responsible parties final allocation of costs is made based on the amount and type of

wastes disposed of by each party and the number of financially viable parties although this may not be the case

with respect to any particular site We have not been determined to be major contributor of wastes to any of

these sites On the basis of our relative contribution of waste to each site we expect our share of the ultimate

liability for the various sites will not have material adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition

results of operations or cash flows in any given year

At December 31 2010 and 2009 we had total environmental reserves of $2.9 million and $3.2 million

respectively excluding BW reserves Of our total environmental reserves at December 31 2010 and 2009 $2.4

million and $3.2 million respectively were included in current liabilities Inherent in the estimates of those

reserves and recoveries are our expectations regarding the levels of contamination remediation costs and

recoverability from other parties which may vary significantly as remediation activities progress Accordingly

changes in estimates could result in material adjustments to our operating results and the ultimate loss may differ

materially from the amounts we have provided for in our consolidated financial statements

Cautionary Statement Concerning Forward-Looking Statements

We are including the following discussion to inform our existing and potential security holders generally of

some of the risks and uncertainties that can affect our company and to take advantage of the safe harbor

protection for forward-looking statements that applicable federal securities law affords

From time to time our management or persons acting on our behalf make forward-looking statements to

inform existing and potential security holders about our company These statements may include projections and

estimates concerning the timing and success of specific projects and our future backlog revenues income and

capital spending Forward-looking statements are generally accompanied by words such as estimate project

predict forecast believe expect anticipate plan seek goal could may or should or

other words that convey the uncertainty of future events or outcomes In addition sometimes we will specifically

describe statement as being forward-looking statement and refer to this cautionary statement

In addition various statements in this annual report on Form 10-K including those that express belief

expectation or intention as well as those that are not statements of historical fact are forward-looking

statements Those forward-looking statements appear
in Item 1Business and Item 3Legal Proceedings in

Part of this report and in Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results

of Operations and in the notes to our consolidated financial statements in Item of Part II of this report and

elsewhere in this report



These forward looking statements include but are not limited to statements that relate to or statements that

are subject to risks contingencies or uncertainties that relate to

future levels of revenues operating margins income from operations net income or earnings per share

outcome of project awards and execution

anticipated levels of demand for our products and services

future levels of capital environmental or maintenance expenditures

the success or timing of completion of ongoing or anticipated capital or maintenance projects

expectations regarding the acquisition or divestiture of assets

the ability to dispose of assets held for sale in timely manner or for price at or above net realizable

value

the potential effects of judicial or other proceedings on our business financial condition results of

operations and cash flows and

the anticipated effects of actions of third parties such as competitors or federal foreign state or local

regulatory authorities or plaintiffs in litigation

These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this report we disclaim any obligation to

update these statements unless required by securities law and we caution you not to rely on them unduly We
have based these forward-looking statements on our current expectations and assumptions about future events

While our management considers these expectations and assumptions to be reasonable they are inherently

subject to significant business economic competitive regulatory and other risks contingencies and

uncertainties most of which are difficult to predict and many of which are beyond our control These risks

contingencies and uncertainties relate to among other matters the following

general economic and business conditions and industry trends

general developments in the industries in which we are involved

decisions about offshore developments to be made by oil and gas companies

the highly competitive nature of our industry

cancellations of and adjustments to backlog and the resulting impact from using backlog as an indicator

of future revenues or earnings

the ability of our suppliers and subcontractors to deliver raw materials in sufficient quantities and/or

perform in timely manner

our ability to perform projects on time in accordance with the schedules established by the applicable

contracts with customers

volatility and uncertainty of the credit markets

our ability to comply with covenants in our credit agreements and other debt instruments and

availability terms and deployment of capital

the unfunded liabilities of our pension plans may negatively impact our liquidity and depending upon
future operations our ability to fund our pension obligations may be impacted

the continued availability of qualified personnel

the operating risks normally incident to our lines of business including the potential impact of

liquidated damages

changes in or our failure or inability to comply with government regulations
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adverse outcomes from legal and regulatory proceedings

impact of potential regional national and/or global requirements to significantly limit or reduce

greenhouse gas and other emissions in the future

changes in and liabilities relating to existing or future environmental regulatory matters

rapid technological changes

the consequences of significant changes in interest rates and currency exchange rates

difficulties we may encounter in obtaining regulatory or other necessary approvals of any strategic

transactions

the risks associated with integrating acquired businesses

the risk we may not be successful in updating and replacing current key financial and human resources

legacy systems with enterprise systems

social political and economic situations in foreign countries where we do business including countries

in the Middle East Asia Pacific and the former Soviet Union

the possibilities of war other armed conflicts or terrorist attacks

the effects of asserted and unasserted claims and the extent of available insurance coverages

our ability to obtain surety bonds letters of credit and financing

our ability to maintain builders risk liability property and other insurance in amounts and on terms

we consider adequate and at rates that we consider economical

the aggregated risks retained in our captive insurance subsidiary and

the impact of the loss of insurance rights as part of the Chapter 11 Bankruptcy settlement concluded in

2006 involving several BW subsidiaries

We believe the items we have outlined above are important factors that could cause estimates in our

financial statements to differ materially from actual results and those expressed in forward-looking statement

made in this annual report or elsewhere by us or on our behalf We have discussed many of these factors in more

detail elsewhere in this annual report These factors are not necessarily all the factors that could affect us

Unpredictable or unanticipated factors we have not discussed in this annual report could also have material

adverse effects on actual results of matters that are the subject of our forward-looking statements We do not

intend to update our description of important factors each time potential important factor arises except as

required by applicable securities laws and regulations We advise our security holders that they should be

aware that factors not referred to above could affect the accuracy of our forward-looking statements and use

.1 ml

Available Information

Our website address is www.mcdermott.com We make available through the Investor Relations section of

this website under SEC Filings free of charge our annual reports on Form 10-K quarterly reports on

Form 10-Q current reports on Form 8-K statements of beneficial ownership of securities on Forms and

and amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file those materials

with or furnish those materials to the Securities and Exchange Commission the SEC You may read and

copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SECs Public Reference Room at 100 Street NE Washington

DC 20549 You may obtain information regarding the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at

l-800-SEC-0330 In addition the SEC maintains website at www.sec.gov that contains reports proxy and

information statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC We have

also posted on our website our Corporate Governance Guidelines Code of Ethics for our Chief Executive
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Officer and Senior Financial Officers Board of Directors Conflicts of Interest Policies and Procedures Officers

Board Members and Contact Information Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation By-laws and

charters for the Audit Governance Compensation and Finance Committees of our Board

Item 1A RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider each of the following risks and all of the other information contained in this

annual report If any of these risks develop into actual events our business financial condition results of

operations or cash flows could be materially adversely affected and as result the trading price of our

common stock could decline

Risk Factors Related to Our Business

We derive substantially all of our revenues from companies in the oil and gas exploration and production

industry historically cyclical industry with levels of activity that are sign ficantly affected by the levels and

volatility of oil and gas prices

The demand for our EPCI services has traditionally been cyclical depending primarily on the capital

expenditures of oil and gas companies for construction of development projects These capital expenditures are

influenced by such factors as

prevailing oil and gas prices

expectations about future prices

the cost of exploring for producing and delivering oil and gas

the sale and expiration dates of available offshore leases

the discovery rate of new oil and gas reserves in offshore areas

domestic and international political military regulatory and economic conditions

technological advances and

the ability of oil and gas companies to generate funds for capital expenditures

Prices for oil and gas have historically been extremely volatile and have reacted to changes in the supply of

and demand for oil and natural
gas including changes resulting from the ability of the Organization of Petroleum

Exporting Countries to establish and maintain production quotas domestic and worldwide economic conditions

and political instability in oil producing countries We anticipate oil and natural gas prices will continue to be

volatile and affect the demand for and pricing of our EPCI services material decline in oil or natural gas prices

or activities over sustained period of time could materially adversely affect the demand for our services and
therefore our financial condition results of operations and cash flows

We are subject to risks associated with contractual pricing in our industry including the risk that our

actual costs exceed the costs we estimate on our fixed-price contracts our profitability will decline and we

may suffer losses

We are engaged in highly competitive industry and we have contracted for number of projects on

fixed-price basis In many cases these projects involve complex design and engineering significant procurement

of equipment and supplies and extensive construction management and other activities conducted over extended

time periods Our actual costs related to these projects could exceed our projections We attempt to cover the

increased costs of anticipated changes in labor material and service costs of long-term contracts either through

estimates of cost increases which are reflected in the original contract price or through price escalation clauses

Despite these attempts however the cost and gross profit we realize on fixed-price contract could
vary

materially from the estimated amounts because of supplier contractor and subcontractor performance our own
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performance changes in job conditions unanticipated weather conditions variations in labor and equipment

productivity and increases in the cost of raw materials particularly steel over the term of the contract These

variations and the risks generally inherent in the industry in which we operate may result in actual revenues or

costs being different from those we originally estimated and may result in reduced profitability or losses on

projects Some of these risks include

Our engineering procurement and construction projects may encounter difficulties related to the

procurement of materials or due to schedule disruptions equipment performance failures or other

factors that may result in additional costs to us reductions in revenue claims or disputes

We may not be able to obtain compensation for additional work we perform or expenses we incur as

result of customer change orders or our customers providing deficient design or engineering

information or equipment or materials

We may be required to pay significant amounts of liquidated damages upon our failure to meet

schedule or performance requirements of our contracts

Difficulties in engaging third-party subcontractors equipment manufacturers or materials suppliers or

failures by third-party subcontractors equipment manufacturers or materials suppliers to perform could

result in project delays and cause us to incur additional costs

Performance problems relating to any significant existing or future contract arising as result of any of

these or other risks could cause our actual results of operations to differ materially from those we anticipate at the

time we enter into the contract and could cause us to suffer damage to our reputation within our industry and our

customer base

Our use ofpercentage-of-completion method of accounting could result in volatility in our results of

operations

We recognize revenues and profits from our long-term contracts using the percentage-of-completion basis

of accounting Accordingly we review contract price and cost estimates periodically as the work progresses and

reflect adjustments proportionate to the percentage of completion in income in the period when we revise those

estimates To the extent these adjustments result in reduction or an elimination of previously reported profits

with respect to project we would recognize charge against current earnings which could be material Our

current estimates of our contract costs and the profitability of our long-term projects although reasonably reliable

when made could change as result of the uncertainties associated with these types of contracts and if

adjustments to overall contract costs are significant the reductions or reversals of previously recorded revenues

and profits could be material in future periods In addition change orders which are normal and recurring part

of our business can increase and sometimes substantially the future scope and cost of job Therefore change

order awards although frequently beneficial in the long term can have the short term effect of reducing the job

percentage of completion and thus the revenues and profits that otherwise would be recognized to date

Our backlog is subject to unexpected adjustments and cancellations

There can be no assurance that the revenues projected in our backlog will be realized or if realized will

result in profits Because of project cancellations or changes in project scope
and schedule we cannot predict

with certainty when or if backlog will be performed In addition even where project proceeds as scheduled it is

possible that contracted parties may default and fail to pay amounts owed to us or poor project performance

could increase the cost associated with project Delays suspensions cancellations payment defaults scope

changes and poor project execution could materially reduce the revenues and reduce or eliminate profits that we

actually realize from projects in backlog

Reductions in our backlog due to cancellation or modification by customer or for other reasons may

adversely affect potentially to material extent the revenues and earnings we actually receive from contracts

included in our backlog Many of the contracts in our backlog provide for cancellation fees in the event
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customers cancel projects These cancellation fees usually provide for reimbursement of our out-of-pocket costs

revenues for work performed prior to cancellation and varying percentage of the profits we would have realized

had the contract been completed However we typically have no contractual right upon cancellation to the total

revenues reflected in our backlog Projects may remain in our backlog for extended periods of time If we

experience significant project terminations suspensions or scope adjustments to contracts reflected in our

backlog our financial condition results of operations and cash flows may be adversely impacted

Our operations could continue to be adversely impacted by the Macondo well incident the continuing

effects from the U.S government moratorium on offshore deepwater drilling projects and related new

regulations

On April 22 2010 the drilling rig Deepwater Horizon which was engaged in deepwater drilling operations

in the U.S Gulf of Mexico sank after an explosion and fire The incident resulted in significant and

uncontrolled oil spill off the coast of Louisiana Our Atlantic segment is currently pursuing opportunities in the

U.S Gulf of Mexico During the period from May 28 through October 12 2010 the U.S government imposed

moratoriums on all offshore deepwater drilling projects During 2010 the U.S government established new

regulations relating to the design of wells and testing of the integrity of weilbores the use of drilling fluids the

functionality and testing of well control equipment including blowout preventers and other safety regulations In

addition the U.S government is requiring that operators demonstrate their compliance with the new regulations

before commencing deepwater drilling operations Compliance issues associated with the new regulations are

significantly impacting deepwater drilling in the U.S Gulf of Mexico We cannot predict when operators in the

U.S Gulf of Mexico will be issued permits under the new regulations Marine vessel utilization in our Atlantic

segment has been negatively impacted by the moratorium and the new regulations At this time we cannot

predict the full impact the Macondo well incident and the new regulations may have on the regulation of offshore

oil and gas exploration and development activity the cost or availability of insurance coverage to cover the risks

of such operations or what actions may be taken by our customers or other industry participants in response to

the incident Changes in laws or regulations regarding offshore oil and gas exploration and development

activities the cost or availability of insurance and decisions by customers or other industry participants could

reduce demand for our services which would have negative impact on our operations

change in tax laws could have material adverse effect on us by substantially increasing our corporate

income taxes and consequently decreasing our future net income and increasing our future cash outlays

for taxes

As result of our reorganization in 1982 MIT is corporation organized under the laws of the Republic of

Panama Tax legislative proposals intending to eliminate some perceived tax advantages of companies that have

legal domiciles outside the U.S but operate in the U.S through one or more subsidiaries have been introduced in

the U.S Congress in recent years Recent examples include but are not limited to legislative proposals that

would broaden the circumstances in which non-U.S company would be considered U.S resident for U.S tax

purposes It is possible that if legislation were to be enacted in this area we could be subject to substantial

increase in our corporate income taxes and consequently decrease our future net income and increase our future

cash outlays for taxes We are unable to predict the form in which any proposed legislation might become law or

the nature of regulations that may be promulgated under any such future legislative enactments

We face risks associated with investing in foreign subsidiaries andjoint ventures including the risk that we

may be restricted in our ability to access the cash flows or assets of these entities

We conduct some operations through foreign subsidiaries and joint ventures We do not manage all of our

joint ventures Even in those joint ventures that we manage we are often required to consider the interests of the

other joint venture participants in connection with decisions concerning the operations of the joint ventures

Arrangements involving foreign subsidiaries and joint ventures may restrict us from gaining access to the cash

flows or assets of these entities In addition our foreign subsidiaries and joint ventures sometimes face

governmentally imposed restrictions on their ability to transfer funds to us
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Our international operations are subject to political economic and other uncertainties

We derive significant portion of our revenues from international operations Our international operations

are subject to political economic and other uncertainties These include

risks of war terrorism piracy and civil unrest

expropriation confiscation or nationalization of our assets

renegotiation or nullification of our existing contracts

changing political conditions and changing laws and policies affecting trade and investment

overlap of different tax structures

risk of changes in currency exchange rates and

risks associated with the assertion of national sovereignty over areas in which our operations are

conducted

We also may be particularly susceptible to regional conditions that may adversely affect our operations Our

major marine construction vessels typically require relatively long periods of time to mobilize over long

distances which could affect our ability to withdraw them from areas of conflict Additionally certain of our

fabrication facilities are located in regions where conflicts may occur and limit or disrupt our operations Recent

events in the Middle East highlight the risk that conflicts could have material adverse impact on both the

markets we serve and our operating capabilities in this region Similar or more significant events could also take

place in these and other regions in which we operate and could limit or disrupt our markets and operations

including disruption from evacuation of personnel cancellation of contracts or the loss of personnel or assets

The impacts of these risks are very
difficult to cost effectively mitigate or insure against and in the event of

significant event impacting the operations of one or more of our fabrication facilities we will likely not be able

to timely replicate the fabrication capacity needed to meet existing contractual commitments given the time and

cost involved in doing so Any failure by us to meet our material contractual commitments could give rise to loss

of revenues claims by customers loss of future business opportunities and other issues which could materially

adversely affect our financial condition results of operations and cash flows

Various foreign jurisdictions have laws limiting the right and ability of foreign subsidiaries and joint

ventures to pay dividends and remit earnings to affiliated companies Our international operations sometimes

face the additional risks of fluctuating currency values hard currency shortages and controls of foreign currency

exchange

Our operations are subject to operating risks and limits on insurance coverage which could expose us to

potentially sign if icant liabilities and costs

We are subject to number of risks inherent in our operations including

accidents resulting in injury or the loss of life or property

environmental or toxic tort claims including delayed manifestation claims for personal injury or loss of

life

pollution or other environmental mishaps

hurricanes tropical storms and other adverse weather conditions

mechanical failures

collisions

property losses
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business interruption due to political action in foreign countries or other reasons and

labor stoppages

We have been and in the future we may be named as defendants in lawsuits asserting large claims as result

of litigation arising from events such as these Insurance against some of the risks inherent in our operations is either

unavailable or available only at rates that we consider uneconomical Also catastrophic events customarily result in

decreased coverage limits more limited coverage additional exclusions in coverage increased premium costs and

increased deductibles and self-insured retentions Risks that we have frequently found difficult to cost-effectively

insure against include but are not limited to business interruption including from the loss of or damage to

vessel property losses from wind flood and earthquake events war and confiscation or seizure of property

including by act of piracy pollution liability liabilities related to occupational health exposures including

asbestos liability related to the participation of our executives in the management of certain outside entities

professional liability/errors and omissions coverage the failure misuse or unavailability of our information systems

or security measures related to those systems and liability related to risk of loss of our work in progress and

customer-owned materials in our care custody and control Depending on competitive conditions and other factors

we endeavor to obtain contractual protection against certain uninsured risks from our customers When obtained

such contractual indemnification protection may not be as broad as we desire or may not be supported by adequate

insurance maintained by the customer Such insurance or contractual indemnity protection may not be sufficient or

effective under all circumstances or against all hazards to which we may be subject successful claim for which

we are not insured or for which we are underinsured could have material adverse effect on us

We have captive insurance company subsidiary which provides us with various insurance coverages

Claims as result of our operations could adversely impact the ability of our captive insurance company

subsidiary to respond to all claims presented

Additionally upon the February 22 2006 effectiveness of the settlement relating to the Chapter 11

proceedings involving several BW subsidiaries most of our subsidiaries contributed substantial insurance

rights providing coverage for among other things asbestos and other personal injury claims to the asbestos

personal injury trust With the contribution of these insurance rights to the asbestos personal injury trust we may

have underinsured or uninsured exposure
for non-derivative asbestos claims or other personal injury or other

claims that would have been insured under these coverages
had the insurance rights not been contributed to the

asbestos personal injury trust

Volatility and uncertainty of the credit markets may negatively impact us

We intend to finance our existing operations and initiatives primarily with cash and cash equivalents

investments cash flows from operations and borrowings under our credit facility In the past several years the

credit markets and the financial services industry experienced period of unprecedented turmoil and upheaval

characterized by the bankruptcy failure collapse or sale of various financial institutions and an unprecedented

level of intervention from the U.S government If national and international economic conditions deteriorate it

is possible that we may not be able to fully draw upon our existing credit facility and we may not be able to

obtain alternative financing on favorable terms In addition while we believe our current liquidity is adequate for

our normal operations and planned capital expenditures in 2011 deterioration in the credit markets could

adversely affect the ability of many of our customers to pursue new projects requiring our services or to pay us

on time and the ability of many of our suppliers to meet our needs on competitive basis

Our credit facility imposes restrictions that could limit our operating and investment flexibility

We maintain credit facility that permits borrowings for working capital and other needs as well as letters

of credit for projects The terms of our credit facility impose various restrictions and covenants on us that could

have adverse consequences including

limiting our ability to react to changing economic regulatory and industry conditions

16



limiting our ability to compete and our flexibility in planning for or reacting to changes in our

business and the industry

limiting our ability to pay dividends to our stockholders and

limiting our ability to borrow additional funds

Maintaining adequate letter of credit capacity is necessary for us to successfully bid on and win various

contracts

In line with industry practice we are often required to post standby letters of credit to customers These

letters of credit generally indemnify customers should we fail to perform our obligations under the applicable

contracts If letter of credit is required for particular project and we are unable to obtain it due to insufficient

liquidity or other reasons we will not be able to pursue that project We have limited capacity under our credit

facility for letters of credit Moreover due to events that affect the credit markets generally letters of credit may
be more difficult to obtain in the future or may only be available at significant additional cost There can be no

assurance that letters of credit will continue to be available to us on reasonable terms Our inability to obtain

adequate letters of credit and as result to bid on new work could have material adverse effect on our

business financial condition and results of operations

We depend on relatively small number of customers

We derive significant amount of our revenues and profits from relatively small number of customers in

given year Our inability to continue to perform services for number of these large existing customers if not

offset by contracts with new or other existing customers could have material adverse effect on our business

and operations Our significant customers include major and national oil and gas companies

We may not be able to compete successfully against current andfuture competitors

The industry in which we operate is highly competitive Some of our competitors or potential competitors

have greater financial or other resources than we have Our operations may be adversely affected if our current

competitors or new market entrants introduce new facility designs or improvements to engineering construction

or installation services

The loss of the services of one or more of our key personnel or our failure to attract assimilate and retain

trained personnel in the future could disrupt our operations and result in loss of revenues

Our success depends on the continued active participation of our executive officers and key operating

personnel The unexpected loss of the services of any one of these
persons could adversely affect our operations

Our operations require the services of employees having the technical training and experience necessary to

obtain the proper operational results As such our operations depend to considerable extent on the continuing

availability ot such personnel It we should suttŁr any material loss of personnel to competitors or be unable to

employ additional or replacement personnel with the requisite level of training and experience to adequately

operate our businesses our operations could be adversely affected While we believe our wage rates are

competitive and our relationships with our employees are satisfactory significant increase in the wages paid by

other employers could result in reduction in our workforce increases in wage rates or both If either of these

events occurred for significant period of time our financial condition results of operations and cash flows

could be adversely impacted

Pension expenses associated with our retirement benefit plans may fluctuate significantly depending on

changes in actuarial assumptions future market performance of plan assets and legislative or other

regulatory actions

substantial portion of our current and retired employee population is covered by pension and post

retirement benefit plans the costs and funding requirements of which depend on our various assumptions
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including estimates of rates of return on benefit-related assets discount rates for future payment obligations rates

of future cost growth and trends for future costs Variances from these estimates could have material adverse

effect on us In addition funding requirements for benefit obligations of our pension and post-retirement benefit

plans are subject to legislative and other government regulatory actions

Our business strategy includes acquisitions to continue our growth Acquisitions of other businesses can

create certain risks and uncertainties

We intend to pursue growth through the acquisition of businesses or assets that we believe will enable us to

strengthen or broaden the types of projects we execute and also expand into new industries and regions We may

be unable to continue this growth strategy if we cannot identify suitable businesses or assets reach agreement on

potential strategic acquisitions on acceptable terms or for other reasons Moreover business acquisitions involve

certain risks including

difficulties relating to the assimilation of personnel services and systems of an acquired business and

the assimilation of marketing and other operational capabilities

challenges resulting from unanticipated changes in customer relationships subsequent to an acquisition

additional financial and accounting challenges and complexities in areas such as tax planning treasury

management financial reporting and internal controls

assumption of liabilities of an acquired business including liabilities that were unknown at the time the

acquisition transaction was negotiated

diversion of managements attention from day-to-day operations

failure to realize anticipated benefits such as cost savings and revenue enhancements

potentially substantial transaction costs associated with business combinations and

potential impairment of goodwill or other intangible assets resulting from the overpayment for an

acquisition

Acquisitions may be funded by the issuance of additional equity or new debt financing which may not be

available on attractive terms Moreover to the extent an acquisition transaction financed by non-equity

consideration results in goodwill it will reduce our tangible net worth which might have an adverse effect on

potential credit and bonding capacity

Additionally an acquisition may bring us into businesses we have not previously conducted and expose us

to additional business risks that are different than those we have historically experienced

We rely on intellectual property law and confidentiality agreements to protect our intellectual property We

also rely on intellectual property we license from third parties Our failure to protect our intellectual

property rights or our inability to obtain or renew licenses to use intellectual property of third parties could

adversely affect our business

Our success depends in part on our ability to protect our proprietary information and other intellectual

property Our intellectual property could be challenged invalidated circumvented or rendered unenforceable In

addition effective intellectual property protection may be limited or unavailable in some foreign countries where

we operate

Our failure to protect our intellectual property rights may result in the loss of valuable technologies or

adversely affect our competitive business position We rely significantly on proprietary technology information

processes
and know-how that are not subject to patent or copyright protection We seek to protect this

information through trade secret or confidentiality agreements with our employees consultants subcontractors or
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other parties as well as through other security measures These agreements and security measures may be

inadequate to deter or prevent misappropriation of our confidential information in the event of an infringement

of our intellectual property rights breach of confidentiality agreement or divulgence of proprietary

information we may not have adequate legal remedies to protect our intellectual property Litigation to

determine the scope of intellectual property rights even if ultimately successful could be costly and could divert

managements attention away from other aspects of our business In addition our trade secrets may otherwise

become known or be independently developed by competitors

In some instances we have augmented our technology base by licensing the proprietary intellectual property

of third parties In the future we may not be able to obtain necessary licenses on commercially reasonable terms

We are subject to government regulations that may adversely affect our future operations

Many aspects of our operations and properties are affected by political developments and are subject to both

domestic and foreign governmental regulations including those relating to

constructing and equipping of production platforms and other offshore facilities

marine vessel safety

currency conversions and repatriation

oil exploration and development

clean air and other environmental protection legislation

taxation of foreign earnings and earnings of expatriate personnel and

use of local employees and suppliers by foreign contractors

In addition we depend on the demand for our services from the oil and
gas industry and therefore we are

affected by changing taxes price controls and other laws and regulations relating to the oil and gas industry

generally The adoption of laws and regulations curtailing offshore exploration and development drilling for oil

and gas for economic and other policy reasons would adversely affect our operations by limiting the demand for

our services

We cannot determine the extent to which our future operations and earnings may be affected by new

legislation new regulations or changes in existing regulations

Environmental laws and regulations and civil liability for contamination of the environment or related

personal injuries may result in increases in our operating costs and capital expenditures and decreases in

our earnings and cash flow

Governmental requirements relating to the protection of the environment including solid waste management

air quality water quality and cleanup of contaminated sites have had substantial impact on our operations Ihese

requirements are complex and subject to frequent change In some cases they can impose liability for the entire cost

of cleanup on any responsible party without regard to negligence or fault and impose liability on us for the conduct

of others or conditions others have caused or for our acts that complied with all applicable requirements when we

performed them Our compliance with amended new or more stringent requirements stricter interpretations of

existing requirements or the future discovery of contamination may require us to make material expenditures or

subject us to liabilities that we currently do not anticipate Such expenditures and liabilities may adversely affect our

business financial condition results of operations and cash flows See Governmental Regulations and

Environmental Matters-Environmental in Item above for further information

Our businesses require us to obtain and to comply with government permits and approvals

Our businesses are required to obtain and to comply with government permits and approvals Any of these

permits or approvals may be subject to denial revocation or modification under various circumstances Failure to
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obtain or comply with the conditions of permits or approvals may adversely affect our operations by temporarily

suspending our activities or curtailing our work and may subject us to penalties and other sanctions Although

existing licenses are routinely renewed by various regulators renewal could be denied or jeopardized by various

factors including

failure to provide adequate financial assurance for closure

failure to comply with environmental and safety laws and regulations or permit conditions

local community political or other opposition

executive action and

legislative action

In addition if new environmental legislation or regulations are enacted or implemented or existing laws or

regulations are amended or are interpreted or enforced differently we may be required to obtain additional

operating permits or approvals Our inability to obtain and to comply with the permits and approvals required

for our businesses could have material adverse effect on us

Employee agent or partner misconduct or our overall failure to comply with laws or regulations could

weaken our ability to win contracts lead to the suspension of our operations and result in reduced revenues

and profits

Misconduct fraud non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations or other improper activities by one

or more of our employees agents or partners could have significant negative impact on our business and

reputation Such misconduct could include the failure to comply with regulations on lobbying or similar

activities regulations pertaining to the internal controls over financial reporting and various other applicable laws

or regulations The precautions we take to prevent and detect fraud misconduct or failures to comply with

applicable laws and regulations may not be effective Our failure to comply with applicable laws or regulations

or acts of fraud or misconduct could subject us to fines and penalties lead to the suspension of operations and

result in reduced revenues and profits

We could be adversely affected by violations of the U.S Foreign Corrupt Practices Act UK Bribery Act or

our 1976 Consent Decree

The U.S Foreign Corrupt Practices Act FCPA generally prohibits companies and their intermediaries

from making improper payments to non-U.S officials The recently-enacted UK Bribery Act 2010 which was

originally scheduled to become effective in April 2011 is broader in scope than the FCPA and applies to public

and private corruption and contains no facilitating payments exception We are also subject to consent decree

entered into in 1976 with the U.S Securities and Exchange Commission The 1976 consent decree forbids us

among other things from making payments in the nature of commercial bribe to any customer or supplier to

induce the purchase or sale of goods services or supplies Our training program and policies mandate compliance

with the FCPA and the 1976 consent decree We operate in many parts of the world that have experienced

governmental and other corruption to some degree and in certain circumstances strict compliance with anti-

bribery laws may conflict with local custOms and practices Although we have procedures and controls in place

to monitor internal and external compliance if we are found to be liable for violations of the FCPA UK Bribery

Act 2010 or other similar enactments in other jurisdictions or of the 1976 consent decree either due to our own

acts or our inadvertence or due to the acts or inadvertence of others we could suffer from civil and criminal

penalties or other sanctions which could have material adverse effect on our business financial condition

results of operations and cash flows

Systems and information technology interruption could adversely impact our ability to operate

We expect to replace current key financial and human resources legacy systems with enterprise systems This

implementation subjects us to inherent costs and risks associated with replacing and changing these systems
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including potential disruption of our internal control structure substantial capital expenditures demands on

management time and other risks of delays or difficulties in transitioning to new systems or of integrating new

systems into our current systems Our systems implementations may not result in productivity improvements at the

levels anticipated or at all In addition the implementation of new technology systems may cause disruptions in our

business operations This disruption and any other information technology system disruptions and our ability to

mitigate those disruptions if not anticipated and appropriately mitigated could have material adverse effect on us

War other armed conflicts or terrorist attacks could have material adverse effect on our business

The wars in Iraq and Afghanistan and terrorist attacks and unrest have caused and may continue to cause

instability in the worlds financial and commercial markets have significantly increased political and economic

instability in some of the geographic areas in which we operate and have contributed to high levels of volatility

in prices for oil and gas Instability and unrest in the Middle East and Afghanistan as well as threats of war or

other armed conflict elsewhere may cause further disruption to financial and commercial markets and contribute

to even higher levels of volatility in prices for oil and gas In addition unrest in the Middle East and Afghanistan

could lead to acts of terrorism in the United States or elsewhere and acts of terrorism could be directed against

companies such as ours Also acts of terrorism and threats of armed conflicts in or around various areas in which

we operate such as the Middle East and Indonesia could limit or disrupt our markets and operations including

disruptions from evacuation of personnel cancellation of contracts or the loss of personnel or assets Armed

conflicts terrorism and their effects on us or our markets may significantly affect our business and results of

operations in the future

In connection with the spin-off agreed to indemnify us for certain liabilities However the indemnity

from may not be sufficient to protect us against the full amount of such liabilities and Ws ability

to satisfy its indemnification obligations may be impaired in the future

Pursuant to the master separation agreement we entered into with BW BW agreed to indemnify us from

certain liabilities However third parties could seek to hold us responsible for any of the liabilities that BW
assumed In addition the indemnity may not be sufficient to protect us against the full amount of such liabilities

and BW may not be able to fully satisfy its indemnification obligations to us Moreover even if we ultimately

succeed in recovering from BW any amounts for which we are held liable we may be temporarily required to

bear these losses ourselves Each of these risks could adversely affect our business results of operations and

financial condition

The spin-off could result in substantial tax liability

We obtained private letter ruling from the Internal Revenue Service IRS substantially to the effect that

for U.S federal income tax purposes the spin-off and certain related transactions qualified under Sections 355

andlor 368 of the U.S Internal Revenue Code of 1986 amended the Code If the factual assumptions or

representations made in the request for the private letter ruling prove to have been inaccurate or incomplete in

any material respect then we will not be able to rely on the ruling Furthermore the IRS does not rule on whether

distribution such as the spin-off satisfies certain requirements necessary to obtain tax-free treatment under

section 355 of the Code The private letter ruling was based on representations by us that those requirements

were satisfied and any inaccuracy in those representations could invalidate the ruling In connection with the

spin-off we also obtained an opinion of outside counsel substantially to the effect that for U.S federal income

tax purposes the spin-off and certain related transactions qualified under Sections 355 and/or 368 of the Code

The opinion relied on among other things the continuing validity of the private letter ruling and various

assumptions and representations as to factual matters made by BW and us which if inaccurate or incomplete in

any material respect would jeopardize the conclusions reached by such counsel in its opinion The opinion is not

binding on the IRS or the courts and there can be no assurance that the IRS or the courts would not challenge the

conclusions stated in the opinion or that any such challenge would not prevail
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If notwithstanding receipt of the private letter ruling and opinion the spin-off were determined to be taxable

transaction each U.S holder of our common stock who received shares of BW common stock in the spin-off

would generally be treated as receiving taxable distribution of property in an amount equal to the fair market value

of the shares of BW common stock received That distribution would be taxable to each such stockholder as

dividend to the extent of our current and accumulated earnings and profits as of the end of 2009 which earnings and

profits would be increased as result of the spin-off being treated as taxable transaction For each such

stockholder any amount that exceeded our relevant earnings and profits would be treated first as non-taxable

return of capital to the extent of such stockholders tax basis in our shares of common stock with any remaining

amount being taxed as capital gain In addition if certain related transactions were to fail to qualify for tax-free

treatment BW would be treated as if it had sold part of its assets which were retained by us in taxable sale for

fair market value and we would be treated as receiving such assets from BW as taxable dividend

Under the terms of the tax sharing agreement we entered into with BW in connection with the spin-off

BW is generally responsible for any taxes imposed on BW or us and our subsidiaries in the event that the

spin-off and/or certain related transactions were to fail to qualify for tax-free treatment However if the spin-off

and/or certain related transactions were to fail to qualify for tax-free treatment because of actions or failures to

act by us or our subsidiaries subsidiary of ours would be responsible for all such taxes If we were to become

liable for taxes under the tax sharing agreement that liability could have material adverse effect on us

Provisions in our corporate documents and Panamanian law could delay or prevent change in control of

our company even if that change may be considered beneficial by some stockholders

The existence of some provisions of our articles of incorporation and by-laws and Panamanian law could

discourage delay or prevent change in control of our company that stockholder may consider favorable

These include provisions

providing that our board of directors fixes the number of members of the board

limiting who may call special meetings of stockholders

restricting the ability of stockholders to take action by written consent rather than at meeting of the

stockholders

establishing advance notice requirements for nominations of candidates for election to our board of

directors or for proposing matters that can be acted on by stockholders at stockholder meetings

establishing supermajority vote requirements for certain amendments to our articles of incorporation

and by-laws

authorizing large number of shares of common stock that are not yet issued which would allow our

board of directors to issue shares to persons friendly to current management thereby protecting the

continuity of our management or which could be used to dilute the stock ownership of persons seeking

to obtain control of us and

authorizing the issuance of blank check preferred stock which could be issued by our board of

directors to increase the number of outstanding shares and thwart takeover attempt

In addition we are registered with the Panamanian National Securities Commission the PNSC and as

result we are subject to Decree No 45 of December 1977 of the Republic of Panama as amended the

Decree The Decree imposes certain restrictions on offers to acquire voting securities of company registered

with the PNSC if following such an acquisition the acquiror would own directly or indirectly more than 5% of

the outstanding voting securities or securities convertible into voting securities of such company with market

value of at least five million Balboas approximately $5 million Under the Decree any such offeror would be

required to provide McDermott with declaration stating among other things the identity and background of the

offeror the source and amount of funds to be used in the proposed transaction and the offeror plans with
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respect to McDermott In that event the PNSC may at our request hold public hearing as to the adequacy of

the disclosure provided by the offeror Following such hearing the PNSC would either detenriine that full and

fair disclosure had been provided and that the offeror had complied with the Decree or prohibit the offeror from

proceeding with the offer until it has furnished the required information and fully complied with the Decree

Under the Decree such proposed transaction cannot be consummated until 45 days after the delivery of the

required declaration prepared or supplemented in complete and accurate manner and our board of directors

may in its discretion within 15 days of receiving complete and accurate declaration elect to submit the

transaction to vote of our stockholders In that case the transaction could not proceed until approved by the

holders of at least two-thirds of the voting power of the shares entitled to vote at meeting held within 30 days of

the date it is called If such vote is obtained the shares held by the offeror would be required to be voted in the

same proportion as all other shares that are voted in favor of or against the offer If the stockholders approved the

transaction it would have to be consummated within 60 days following the date of that approval The Decree

provides for civil right of action by stockholders against an offeror who does not comply with the provisions of

the Decree It also provides that certain persons including brokers and other intermediaries who participate with

the offeror in transaction that violates the Decree may be jointly and severally liable with the offeror for

damages that arise from violation of the Decree

We believe these provisions protect our stockholders from coercive or otherwise unfair takeover tactics by

requiring potential acquirors to negotiate with our board of directors and by providing our board of directors with

more time to assess any acquisition proposal and are not intended to make our company immune from takeovers

However these provisions apply even if the offer may be considered beneficial by some stockholders and could

delay or prevent an acquisition that our board of directors determines is not in the best interests of our company
and our stockholders

We may issue preferred stock that could dilute the voting power or reduce the value of our common stock

Our articles of incorporation authorize us to issue without the approval of our stockholders one or more
classes or series of preferred stock having such designation powers preferences and relative participating

optional and other special rights including preferences over our common stock respecting dividends and

distributions as our board of directors generally may determine The terms of one or more classes or series of

preferred stock could dilute the voting power or reduce the value of our common stock For example we could

grant holders of preferred stock the right to elect some number of our directors in all events or on the happening
of specified events or the right to veto specified transactions Similarly the repurchase or redemption rights or

liquidation preferences we could assign to holders of preferred stock could affect the residual value of the

common stock

Item lB UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None
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Item PROPERTIES

The following table provides the segment name location and general use of each of our principal properties

at December 31 2010 that we own or lease

Business Segment and Location Principal Use Owned/Leased

Asia Pacific

Singapore Singapore Administrative/engineering office Leased

Batam Island Indonesia Fabrication facility Leased

Atlantic

Morgan City Louisiana Fabrication facility Leased

Altamira Mexico Fabrication facility Owned/Leased

Houston Texas Engineering/operations/administrative
office Leased

New Orleans Louisiana Engineering office Leased

Halifax Nova Scotia Canada Administrative office Leased

Middle East

Dubai Jebel Au U.A.E Engineering office/fabrication facility Leased

Chennai India Engineering office Leased

Baku Azerbaijan Operations/administrative office Leased

Corporate

Houston Texas Administrative office Leased

We also own or lease number of sales administrative and field construction offices warehouses and

equipment maintenance centers strategically located throughout the world We consider each of our significant

properties to be suitable and adequate for its intended use

We operate fleet of construction and multi-service vessels Our pipelay and derrick vessels range in length

from 260 to 500 feet and are fully equipped with revolving cranes auxiliary cranes welding equipment pile-

driving hammers anchor winches and variety of additional equipment Our multi-service vessels have

capabilities which include subsea construction pipelay cable lay and dive support Seven of our owned and/or

operated major construction vessels are self-propelled We also have substantial inventory of specialized

support equipment for intermediate water and deepwater construction and pipelay In addition we own or lease

substantial number of other vessels such as tugboats utility boats launch barges and cargo barges to support the

operations of our major marine construction vessels Most of our marine vessels are encumbered by liens under

our credit facility As further discussed in Note 2Discontinued Operations and Other Charges during the

quarter ended September 30 2010 we committed to plan to sell our charter fleet business which operates 10 of

the 14 self-propelled vessels acquired in the Secunda acquisition
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The following table sets forth certain information with respect to the major construction and multi-service

vessels utilized to conduct our operations including their location at Decerriber 31 2010

Maximum
Year Entered Maximum Pipe

Service/ Derrick Diameter
Location and Vessel Name Vessel Type Upgraded Lift tons inches

UNITED STATES

DB 161 Pipelay/Derrick 1967/2000 860 30

Intermac 6002 Launch/Cargo Barge 1973

MIDDLE EAST

DB 27 Pipelay/Denick 1974/1984 2400 60

LB 32 Pipelay 2010 60

DLB KP1 Pipelay/Derrick 1974 660 60

DB 101 Semi-Submersible Derrick 1978/1984 3500
North Ocean 102 Multi-Service Vessel 2009 100

Agile1 Multi-Service Vessel 1978 100

Emerald Sea Multi-Service Vessel 1996/2007 100

Thebaud Sea Multi-Service Vessel 1999 100

ASIA PACIFIC

DB 30 Pipelay/Derrick 1975/1999 3080 60

DB 26s Pipelay/Denick 1975 900 60

DB 50 Pipelay/Derrick 1988 4400 20

Intermac 650a Launch/Cargo Barge 1980/2006

Bold Endurance1 Multi-Service Vessel 1979

Vessel with dynamic positioning capability

The overall dimensions of this vessel are 500 120 33
We own 50% joint venture interest in each of the companies that own the indicated vessels

The dimensions of this vessel are 650 170 40

Governmental regulations our insurance policies and some of our financing arrangements-require us to

maintain our vessels in accordance with standards of seaworthiness and safety set by governmental authorities or

classification societies We maintain our fleet to the standards for seaworthiness safety and health set by the

American Bureau of Shipping Den Norske Veritas Lloyds Register of Shipping and other world-recognized

classification societies

Item LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The information set forth under the heading Investigations and Litigation in Note 14 Conmiitments and

Contingencies to our consolidated financial statements included in this annual report is incorporated by

reference into this Item
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PART II

Item MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange NYSE under the symbol MDR We filed

certifications of the President and Chief Executive Officer and the Senior Vice President and Chief Financial

Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 as Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 respectively

included as exhibits to this report

High and low stock prices by quarter for the years
ended December 31 2010 and 2009

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2010

SALES PRICE

QUARTER ENDED HIGH LOW

March3l2010 $27.15 $21.34

June 30 2010 $28.98 $19.25

September302010 $25.10 $1210

December 31 2010 $20.78 $14.25

On July 30 2010 we completed the spin-off of BW On July 30 2010 the closing price of our common

stock on the NYSE was $23.51 On August 2010 the opening price of our common stock on the NYSE

was $12.56

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2009

SALES PRICE

QUARTER ENDED HIGH LOW

March3l2009 $15.55 9.10

June 30 2009 $24.38 $12.78

September 30 2009 $27.89 $16.04

December 31 2009 $26.52 $20.25

We have not paid cash dividends on Mlis common stock since the second quarter of 2000 and do not

currently have plans to reinstate cash dividend at this time Our Board of Directors will evaluate our cash

dividend policy from time to time

As of February 18 2011 there were approximately 2807 record holders of our common stock

The following table provides information on our equity compensation plans as of December 31 2010

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of securities Number of

to be issued upon Weighted-average securities

exercise of exercise price remaining

outstanding options of outstanding available for

Plan Category and rights options and rights future issuance

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 2380715 $7.42 9484241
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The following graph provides comparison of our five-year cumulative total shareholder return from

December 2005 through December 2010 to the return of SP 500 our 2010 custom peer group and our 2009

custom peer group The 2010 custom peer group is group of companies we selected in order to better reflect our

business following the spin-off of BW
$600

$400

$200

$0

Assumes initial investment of $100 on December 31 2005 and the December 2010 presentation includes the

value attributed to the stock dividend of BW common stock which was based on the opening trading price

of BW common stock as quoted on the NYSE Consolidated Transactions Reporting System on August

2010 the first day of regular way trading for BW common stock after the spin-off

The
peer group used for the five-year comparison was comprised of the following companies

2010 Custom Peer Group

Baker Hughes Incorporated

Cal Dive International Inc

Cameron International

Chicago Bridge Iron Company N.y

Dresser-Rand Group Inc

FMC Technologies Inc

Foster Wheeler AG

Global Industries Ltd

Halliburton Company

Helix Energy Solutions Group Inc

Jacobs Engineering Group Inc

KBR Inc

National Oilwell Varco Inc

Noble Corporation

Oceaneering International Inc

Oil States International Inc

The Shaw Group Inc

Tidewater Inc

2009 Custom Peer Group

Cal Dive International Inc

Chicago Bridge Iron Company N.y

Fluor Corporation

Foster Wheeler AG

Jacobs Engineering Group Inc

KBRInc

Oceaneering International Inc

The Shaw Group Inc

URS Corporation

12/05 12/06 12/07 12/08 12/09 12/10
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Item SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Statement of Income Data

Revenues

Operating Income

Income from Continuing Operations

Income Loss from Discontinued

Operations

Net Income Attributable to McDermott

International Inc

Basic Earnings per Common Share1

Income from Continuing

Operations

Income Loss from Discontinued

Operations

Diluted Earnings per Common Share1

Income from Continuing

Operations

Income Loss from Discontinued

Operations

Balance Sheet Data2

Total Assets

Current Maturities of Long-Term Debt

Long-Term Debt

Total Equity

For the Years Ended

2010 2009 2008 2007

In thousands except for per share amounts

$2403743 $3281790

314905 279349

236566 206158

$3098104

106987

60649

2006

$1602676

180401

187970

$2396963

381256

385090

34900 180898 368653 222738 142545

201666 387056 429302 607828 330515

1.02 0.90 0.27 1.72 0.86

0.15 0.79 1.62 1.00 0.65

1.00 0.88 0.26 1.68 0.83

0.15 0.78 1.60 0.97 0.62

$2598688 $4849110

8547 16270

46748 56714

$1512267 $1833100

$4601693

9021

6109

$1316513

$4411486

6599

10609

$1167378

Per share amounts prior to December 31 2010 have been restated to reflect the July 30 2010 spin-off of

BW The 2006 per share amounts presented have been restated to reflect stock split effected in 2007

Balance sheet data presented prior to December 31 2010 includes the historical information of BW

$3633762

257492

15242

443101
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Item MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Statements we make in the following discussion which express belief expectation or intention as well as those

that are not hi storical fact are forward-looking statements that are subject to risks uncertainties and

assumptions Our actual results performance or achievements or industry results could differ materially from

those we express in the following discussion as result of variety offactors including the risks and

uncertainties we have referred to under the headings Cautionary Statement Concerning Forward-Looking

Statements and Risk Factors in Items and JA of Part of this annual report

GENERAL

Mu is leading EPCI company focused on designing and executing complex offshore oil and gas projects

worldwide Providing fully integrated EPCI services for offshore oil and gas field developments we deliver fixed

and floating production facilities pipeline and subsea systems from concept to commissioning We support these

activities with comprehensive project management and procurement services We operate in five primary

business segments which consist of Asia Pacific Atlantic Caspian the Middle East and Corporate The

operations of the Caspian and Middle East are aggregated into our Middle East reporting segment due to the

proximity of regions similarities in the nature of services provided economic characteristics and oversight

responsibilities As result we have four segments on which we report financial results Our business activity

depends mainly on capital expenditures for offshore construction services of oil and gas companies and foreign

governments for the construction of development projects in the regions in which we operate Our operations are

generally capital intensive and rely on large contracts which can account for substantial amount of our

revenues

The results of operations for the years presented reflect the historical operations of BW and the charter

fleet business as discontinued operations The discussions of our business and results of operations in this annual

report are presented on the basis of continuing operations unless otherwise stated

Recent Developments

Spin-OffofBW

On July 30 2010 we completed the spin-off of BW to our stockholders through stock distribution

BW assets and businesses primarily consisted of those that we previously reported as our Power Generation

Systems and Government Operations segments In connection with the spin-off our stockholders received 100%

approximately 116 million shares of the outstanding common stock of BW The distribution of BW
common stock occurred by way of pro rata stock dividend to our stockholders Each stockholder generally

received one share of BW common stock for
every two shares of our common stock held by such stockholder

on July 2010 and cash in lieu of any fractional shares Prior to the completion of the spin-off BW made

cash distribution to us totaling $100 million

In order to effect the distribution and govern MIT relationship with BW after the distribution MIT and

BW entered into master separation agreement and several other agreements including tax sharing

agreement and transition services agreements

Master Separation Agreement

The master separation agreement between us and BW contains the key provisions relating to the

separation of the BW business from Mu and the distribution of BW shares of common stock The master

separation agreement identified the assets transferred to liabilities assumed by and contracts assigned to BW
by MIT or by BW to MIT in the spin-off and provided the mechanisms for these transfers assumptions and

assignments to occur Under the master separation agreement we agreed to indenmify BW against various

claims and liabilities related to the past operation of MITs business other than BWs business and BW
agreed to indenmify us against various claims and liabilities related to its business
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Tax Sharing Agreement

subsidiary of MIT and subsidiary of BW entered into an agreement providing for the sharing of taxes

incurred before and after the distribution various indemnification rights with respect to tax matters and

restrictions to preserve
the tax-free status of the distribution to MIT Under the terms of the tax sharing

agreement BW is generally responsible for any taxes imposed on MIT or BW in the event that certain

transactions related to the spin-off fail to qualify for tax-free treatment However if these transactions fail to

qualify for tax-free treatment because of actions or failures to act by MIT or its subsidiaries subsidiary of MIT

would be responsible for all such taxes BW is also entitled to the historical tax benefits that were generated by

MITs U.S operations and these amounts are shown in income loss from discontinued operations in our

consolidated statements of income

Transition Services Agreements

Under the transition services agreements MIT and BW may provide each other certain transition services

on an interim basis Such services include among others accounting human resources information technology

legal risk management tax and treasury services In consideration for such services MH and BW each pay

fees to the other for the services provided and those fees are generally in amounts intended to allow the party

providing the services to recover its direct and indirect costs incurred in providing those services The transition

services agreements contain customary mutual indenmification provisions

Charter Fleet Business

During the quarter ended September 30 2010 we conmiitted to plan to sell our charter fleet business

which has been classified as discontinued operations We measured the associated assets to be sold using the

estimated fair value of consideration expected from the sale less estimated selling costs Accordingly we

recognized $27.7 million write-down of the carrying value of these assets to their estimated net realizable value

within loss on disposal of discontinued operations

Fabrication Facility

During the quarter ended September 30 2010 some of our customers indicated to us they expect substantial

delays in their planned projects in the Caspian region of our Middle East segment Accordingly we incurred

approximately $21 million of costs to discontinue our development plans for new fabrication yard in

Kazakhstan including estimated lease termination costs These costs are reflected in our consolidated statements

of income in cost of operations We believe any remaining costs that may be incurred in connection with the

facility closure will not materially exceed the costs already recognized

Impairments

During the quarter ended September 30 2010 based on market conditions expected future utilization and

pricing on two of the four vessels we expect to retain from the Secunda acquisition we estimated the

undiscounted cash flows associated with these vessels and as result we recognized an impairment charge of

approximately $24.4 million in our consolidated statements of income in gain loss on asset disposals and

impairmentsnet

Business Outlook

We expect our backlog of approximately $5.0 billion at December 31 2010 to produce revenues of

approximately $3.1 billion in 2011 not including the effects of any change orders or new contracts that may be

awarded during the year We are actively bidding on and in some cases beginning preliminary work on projects

that we expect will be awarded to us in 2011 subject to successful contract negotiations These projects are not

currently in backlog
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The demand for our services depends primarily on capital expenditures from the worlds major oil and
gas

producing companies and foreign governments for construction of development projects in the regions in which

we operate Recent improvements in oil prices influenced by higher demand have led to increased levels of

capital expenditures by the major oil and gas companies and foreign governments Currently higher demand

projections could result in additional improvements in activity levels during 2011 However any significant

future economic contraction could reduce worldwide demand for
energy and result in an extended period of

lower oil and natural gas prices leading our customers to defer major capital expenditures which would result in

decline in the demand for our services

The decision-making process for oil and gas companies in making capital expenditures on offshore

construction services for development project differs depending on whether the project involves new or

existing development In the case of new development projects the demand for offshore construction services

generally follows exploratory drilling and in some cases initial development drilling activities Based on the

results of these activities and evaluations of field economics customers determine whether to install new

platforms and new infrastructure such as subsea gathering lines and pipelines For existing development

projects demand for offshore construction services is generated by decisions to among other things expand

development in existing fields and expand existing infrastructure

We generated less than 5% of our 2010 consolidated revenues from the U.S We expect in the near term

offshore drilling activity in the U.S Gulf of Mexico will continue to be impacted by the Macondo well incident

despite the lifting of the moratorium imposed by the U.S Government during 2010 The U.S Government has

implemented new regulations relating to the design of wells and testing of the integrity of welibores the use of

drilling fluids the functionality and testing of well control equipment including blowout preventers and other

safety regulations Compliance issues associated with these new regulations are significantly impacting

deepwater drilling activity in the U.S Gulf of Mexico which has in turn negatively impacted marine vessel

utilization in our Atlantic segment We have and will continue to monitor regulatory and market developments in

the U.S Gulf of Mexico We have taken certain measures to reduce our U.S cost structure to address anticipated

near term business levels However we anticipate continuing to incur losses in this portion of our Atlantic

segment in 2011 in large part due to our fixed marine costs In the long term we anticipate improvements in the

Atlantic segment due not only to the U.S Gulf of Mexico business outlook but also the other portions of this

segment including Brazil Mexico Caribbean West Africa and the North Sea

Contracts Containing Liquidated Damages Provisions

Some of our contracts contain penalty provisions that require us to pay liquidated damages if we are

responsible for the failure to meet specified contractual milestone dates and the applicable customer asserts

claim under these provisions These contracts define the conditions under which our customers may make claims

against us for liquidated damages In many cases in which we have historically had potential exposure
for

liquidtcd damages such damages ultimately were not asserted by our customers As of December 31 2010 it is

possible that we may incur liabilities for liquidated damages aggregating approximately $82 million of which

$14 million has been recorded in our financial statements based on our actual or projected failure to meet certain

specified contractual milestone dates The date range during which these potential liquidated damages could arise

is from June 2008 to May 2011 We are in active discussions with our customers on the issues giving rise to

delays in these projects and in January 2011 we reached an agreement with one customer to reduce these

potential liquidated damages by approximately $19 million We believe we will be successful in obtaining

schedule extensions or other customer agreed changes that should resolve the potential for additional liquidated

damages being incurred However we may not achieve relief on some or all of the issues We do not believe any

amounts for these potential liquidated damages in excess of the amounts recorded in our financial statements are

probable of being paid by us
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Our financial statements and accompanying notes are prepared in accordance with accounting principles

generally accepted in the United States GAAP The amounts we report in our financial statements and

accompanying notes reflect the application of our accounting policies and managements estimates and

assumptions We believe the following are our most critical accounting policies applied in the preparation of our

financial statements These policies require our most difficult subjective and complex judgments often as

result of the need to make estimates of matters that are inherently uncertain

Revenue Recognition We determine the appropriate accounting method for each of our long-term contracts

before work on the project begins We generally recognize contract revenues and related costs on

percentage-of-completion
method for individual contracts or combinations of contracts based on work

performed man hours or cost-to-cost method as applicable to the activity involved We include revenues and

related costs plus accumulated contract costs that exceed amounts invoiced to customers under the terms of the

contracts in contracts in progress We include in advance billings on contracts billings that exceed accumulated

contract costs and revenues and costs recognized under the percentage-of-completion method Most long-term

contracts contain provisions for progress payments We expect to invoice customers for all unbilled revenues

Certain costs are excluded from the cost-to-cost method of measuring progress
such as significant costs for

materials and major third-party subcontractors if it appears that such exclusion would result in more

meaningful measurement of actual contract progress and resulting periodic allocation of income Total estimated

costs and resulting contract income are affected by changes in the expected cost of materials and labor

productivity scheduling and other factors Additionally external factors such as weather customer requirements

and other factors outside of our control may affect the progress and estimated cost of projects completion and

therefore the timing and amount of revenue and income recognition In addition change orders which are

normal and recurring part of our business can increase and sometimes substantially the future scope and cost of

job Therefore change order awards although frequently beneficial in the long-term can have the short term

effect of reducing the job percentage of completion and thus the revenues and profits recognized to date We

regularly review contract price and cost estimates as the work progresses and reflect adjustments proportionate to

the percentage-of-completion revenue in income for the period when those estimates are revised

For contracts as to which we are unable to estimate the final profitability except to assure that no loss will

ultimately be incurred we recognize equal amounts of revenue and cost until the final results can be estimated

more precisely For these contracts we only recognize gross margin when reasonably estimable which we

generally determine to be when the contract is approximately 70% complete We treat long-term construction

contracts that contain such level of risk and uncertainty that estimation of the final outcome is impractical

except to assure that no loss will be incurred as deferred profit recognition contracts During the quarter ended

September 30 2010 we determined that one active contract qualified to be accounted for under our deferred

profit recognition policy

Our policy is to account for fixed-price contracts under the completed contract method if we believe that we

are unable to reasonably forecast cost to complete at start-up Under the completed contract method income is

recognized only when contract is completed or substantially complete We generally do not enter into fixed-

price contracts without an accurate estimate of cost to complete However it is possible that in the time between

contract execution and the start of work on project we could lose confidence in our ability to forecast cost to

complete based on intervening events including but not limited to experience on similarprojects civil unrest

strikes and volatility in our expected costs In such situation we would use the completed contract method of

accounting for that project We did not enter into any contracts that we have accounted for under the completed

contract method during 2010 2009 or 2008

risk associated with fixed-priced contracts is that revenue from customers may not cover increases in our

costs It is possible that current estimates could materially change for various reasons including but not limited

to fluctuations in forecasted labor productivity pipeline lay rates or steel and other raw material prices Increases

in costs associated with our fixed-price contracts could have material adverse impact on our consolidated

32



financial condition results of operations and cash flows Alternatively reductions in overall contract costs at

completion could materially improve our consolidated financial condition results of operations and cash flows

Variations from estimated contract performance could result in material adjustments to operating results for

any fiscal quarter or year We include claims for extra work or changes in scope of work to the extent of costs

incurred in contract revenues when we believe collection is probable For all contracts if current estimate of

total contract cost indicates loss the projected loss is recognized in full when determined

As of December 31 2010 we have provided for our estimated costs to complete on all of our ongoing

contracts However it is possible that current estimates could change due to unforeseen events which could

result in adjustments to overall contract costs

Property Plant and Equipment We carry our property plant and equipment at depreciated cost reduced by

provisions to recognize economic impairment when we determine impairment has occurred Factors that impact

our determination of impairment include forecasted utilization of equipment and estimates of cash flow from

projects to be performed in future periods Our estimates of cash flow may differ from actual cash flow due to

among other things technological changes economic conditions or changes in operating performance Any
changes in such factors may negatively affect our business segments and result in future asset impairments

Except for major marine vessels we depreciate our property plant and equipment using the straight-line

method over estimated economic useful lives of eight to 33 years for buildings and three to 28 years for

machinery and equipment We depreciate major marine vessels using the units-of-production method based on

the utilization of each vessel Our depreciation expense calculated under the units-of-production method may be

less than equal to or greater than depreciation expense calculated under the straight-line method in any period

We do not depreciate property plant and equipment classified as held for sale

We expense the costs of maintenance repairs and renewals which do not materially prolong the useful life

of an asset as we incur them except for drydocking costs We capitalize drydocking costs in other assets when
incurred and amortize the costs over the period of time between drydockings which is generally three to five

years

Sef insurance We have wholly owned insurance subsidiary that provides employers liability general and

automotive liability and workers compensation insurance and from time to time builders risk insurance within

certain limits and marine hull insurance to our companies We may also have business reasons in the future to have

our insurance subsidiary accept other risks which we cannot or do not wish to transfer to outside insurance

companies Reserves related to these insurance programs are based on the facts and circumstances specific to the

insurance claims our past experience with similar claims loss factors and the performance of the outside insurance

market for the type of risk at issue The actual outcome of insured claims could differ significantly from estimated

amounts We maintain actuarially determined accruals in our consolidated balance sheets to cover self-insurance

retentions for the coverages discussed above These accruals are based on certain assumptions developed utilizing

historical data to project future losses Loss estimates in the calculation of these accruals are adjusted as required

based upon actual claim settlements and reported claims These loss estimates and accruals recorded in our financial

statements for claims have historically been reasonable

Pension Plans and Postretirement Benefits We estimate income or expense related to our pension and

postretirement benefit plans based on actuarial assumptions including assumptions regarding discount rates and

expected returns on plan assets We determine our discount rate based on review of published financial data and

discussions with our actuary regarding rates of return on high-quality fixed-income investments currently available

and expected to be available during the period to maturity of our pension obligations Based on historical data and

discussions with our actuary we determine our expected return on plan assets based on the expected long-term rate
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of return on our plan assets and the market-related value of our plan assets Changes in these assumptions can result

in significant changes in our estimated pension income or expense and our consolidated financial condition We

revise our assumptions on an annual basis based upon changes in current interest rates return on plan assets and the

underlying demographics of our workforce These assumptions are reasonably likely to change in future periods and

may have material impact on future earnings See Note to our consolidated financial statements included in this

annual report for information on our pension and postretirement benefit plans

Loss Contingencies We estimate liabilities for loss contingencies when it is probable that liability has

been incurred and the amount of loss is reasonably estimable We provide disclosure when there is reasonable

possibility that the ultimate loss will exceed the recorded provision or if such loss is not reasonably estimable

We are currently involved in some significant litigation as discussed in Note 14 to our consolidated financial

statements included in this annual report We have accrued our estimates of the probable losses associated with

these matters However our losses are typically resolved over long periods of time and are often difficult to

estimate due to various factors including the possibility of multiple actions by third parties Therefore it is

possible future earnings could be affected by changes in our estimates related to these matters

Impairment We do not amortize goodwill but instead review goodwill for impairment on an annual basis or

more frequently if circumstances indicate that an impairment may exist The annual impairment review involves

comparing an estimate of discounted future cash flows to the net book value of each applicable operating

segment and therefore is significantly impacted by estimates and judgments We review our long-lived assets

for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be

recoverable If an evaluation is required on nonrecurring basis the estimated undiscounted future cash flows

associated with the assets are compared to the assets carrying value to determine if impairment exists in which

case an impairment is recognized for the difference between the recorded and fair value of the asset

We have completed our annual review of goodwill for our Asia Pacific and Middle East segments as of

December 31 2010 which indicated that the fair value for each of those segments was significantly in excess of

the carrying amount resulting in no goodwill impairment Additionally based on market conditions expected

future utilization and pricing on two of the four vessels in our Atlantic segment that we expect to retain from the

Secunda acquisition we recognized an impairment charge of $24.4 million during the quarter
ended

September 30 2010 in our consolidated statements of income

Deferred Taxes We believe that the deferred tax assets recorded as of December 31 2010 is realizable

through carrybacks future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences and future taxable income We

record valuation allowance to reduce our deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be

realized If we subsequently determine that we will be able to realize deferred tax assets in the future in excess of

our net recorded amount the resulting adjustment would increase earnings for the period in which such

determination was made We will continue to assess the adequacy of the valuation allowance on quarterly basis

Any changes to our estimated valuation allowance could be material to our consolidated financial condition and

results of operations

Stock-Based Compensation The cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity

instruments is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award Stock-based compensation

expense is recognized on straight-line basis over the requisite service periods of the awards which is generally

equivalent to the vesting term We use Black-Scholes model to determine the fair value of certain share-based

awards such as stock options The use of Black-Scholes model requires highly subjective assumptions such as

assumptions about the expected life of award the volatility of our stock price and our expected dividend yield

For discussion of recently adopted accounting standards see Note to our consolidated financial statements

included in this annual report

34



Segment Operations

Our segment revenues net of intersegment revenues as well as the approximate percentages of our total

consolidated revenues operating income and operating margin for each of the last three years were as follows

dollars in thousands

Revenues Operating Income

Percent of

Amount Consolidated Revenues Amount Operating Margin

December 31 2010

Asia Pacjfic 870410 36% 88012 10%
Atlantic 183001 8% 89692
Middle East 1350332 56% 316585 23%

Consolidated $2403743 100% $314905 13%

December 31 2009

Asia Pacific 997938 30% $141494 14%
Atlantic 230428 7% 20942
Middle East 2053424 63% 158797 8%

Consolidated $3281790 100% $279349 9%

December 31 2008

Asia Pacific $1097230 35% 75613 7%
Atlantic 372246 12% 10478 3%
Middle East 1628628 53% 20896 1%

Consolidated $3098104 100% $106987 3%

Not meaningful

For additional information on the geographic distribution of our revenues see Note 12 to our consolidated

financial statements included in this annual report

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2010 COMPARED TO YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2009

Revenues

Revenues decreased approximately 27% or $878.1 million to $2403.7 million in the year ended

December 31 2010 compared to $3281.8 million in the year ended December 31 2009 The Middle East

segment accounted for the majority of this decrease Revenues in the Middle East segment decreased

approximately 34% or $703.1 million in the
year ended December 31 2010 as compared to 2009 primarily

attributable to declines in marine activity due to the marine installation programs for several projects being

completed or near completion during 2009 To lesser extent declines in fabrication activity also contributed to

the Middle East segment decline In addition revenues from the Asia Pacific segment decreased
approximately

13% or $127.5 million resulting from executing the fabrication phase on longer duration EPCI projects which

generally results in slower revenue recognition Revenues from our Atlantic segment decreased
approximately

21% influenced by lower activity levels in the U.S Gulf of Mexico resulting in reduced marine asset utilization

Operating Income

Operating income increased $35.6 million from $279.3 million in the year ended December 31 2009 to

$314.9 million in 2010 attributable to the Middle East segment where operating income increased $157.8

million primarily driven by increased activity and project improvements on certain Saudi Arabia projects in the

2010 period coupled with change orders and improvements on certain Qatar projects which increased

approximately $57 million in 2010 compared to 2009 These increases were partially offset by decreased
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operating income from our Atlantic and Asia Pacific segments The year over year decline in operating income

from our Atlantic segment resulted from lower marine asset utilization in the year ended December 31 2010

compared to 2009 which contributed to the segment recognizing $24.4 million asset impairment on two vessels

from the Secunda acquisition The Asia Pacific segment experienced decreased operating income primarily due

to lower change orders and project close-outs in 2010

During the quarter ended September 30 2010 our Atlantic segment began accounting for one contract

under our deferred profit recognition policy under which we recognize revenue and cost equally and will only

recognize profit when reasonably estimable which is generally when the contract is approximately 70%

complete This contract is in the early stages of activity and was not material to our results of operations for the

year ended December 31 2010 The Atlantic backlog includes $169.0 million relating to this project and

revenues on this project totaled approximately $19.1 million for the year
ended December 31 2010 There was

no activity on this project during 2009

Other Items in Operating Income

For the year
ended December 31 2010 we recognized $22.2 million loss on asset disposals and

impairmentsnet attributable to impairment charges recognized on two vessels we expect to retain from the

Secunda acquisition compared to $0.9 million gain on asset disposals and impairmentsnet in 2009

Selling general and administrative expenses decreased by $1.3 million to $216.8 million for the year
ended

December 31 2010 as compared to $218.1 million in 2009 primarily due to cost reductions as result of the

BW spin-off

Equity in loss of unconsolidated affiliates increased $4.0 million to $7.6 million for the year ended

December 31 2010 compared to $3.6 million in 2009 primarily attributable to our share of an asset impairment

in our F1oaTEC LLC joint venture coupled with increased losses at our joint ventures

Other Items

Interest income decreased $4.5 million to $1.5 million in the year ended December 31 2010 compared to

2009 primarily due to lower interest rates on cash and investment balances in 2010 as compared to 2009

Interest expense increased to $2.6 million in the year ended December 31 2010 primarily due to the

write-off of unamortized debt issuance cost associated with the replacement of our previous credit facility

Other expensenet decreased $5.2 million to $10.0 million in the year ended December 31 2010 compared

to 2009 primarily due to lower foreign currency exchange losses during 2010 as compared to 2009

Provision for Income Taxes

Our earnings are subject to tax at various tax rates and under various tax regimes including deemed profits

tax regimes For the year ended December 31 2010 our provision for income taxes decreased $19.4 million to

$41.2 million while income before provision for income taxes increased $33.7 million to $303.8 million Our

effective tax rate was approximately 14% for 2010 as compared to 22% for 2009 The decrease in the overall

effective tax rate was attributable to larger portion of earnings being taxed at lower rates compared to the prior

year partially offset by U.S losses for which we could not record tax benefit

During the year ended December 31 2010 we recorded reduction in the liability for unrecognized tax

benefits of approximately $32.0 million including estimated tax-related interest and penalties The reduction was

principally due to unrecognized tax benefits that were transferred to BW as part of the spin-off partially offset

by additional tax accruals See Note 10Income Taxes
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Discontinued operations and noncontrolling interests

Loss on disposal of discontinued operations includes costs incurred in connection with the spin-off of BW
and the asset impairment associated with our charter fleet business During the year ended December 31 2010
we incurred $95.6 million of costs related to the spin-off of BW as compared to $7.1 million of such costs in

the year ended December 31 2009 Additionally during the quarter ended September 30 2010 we committed to

plan to sell our charter fleet business and based on the estimated fair value of the consideration expected from

the sale less estimated selling costs we recognized $27.7 million impairment of the carrying value of those

assets to adjust them to their estimated net realizable value

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest increased by $22.6 million to $26.0 million in the year

ended December 31 2010 from $3.4 million for the year ended December 31 2009 primarily due to increased

activity and net income in our consolidated joint ventures

Adjusted Net Income

Presented below is reconciliation of net income and adjusted net income excluding impairments
discontinued operations and related charges

December 31
2010

In thousands

Net Income Attributable to McDermott International Inc

GAAP Consolidated Basis $201666

Add Back Charges

Fabrication facility closure costs 21187
Asset impairments 24443
Loss from discontinued operations 34900

Adjusted Net Income $282196

We are providing this non-GAAP information to supplement the results provided in accordance with GAAP
The non-GAAP information should not be considered superior to or as substitute for the comparable GAAP
measure However we believe this non-GAAP information provides meaningful insight into our ongoing

operational performance by separately identifying items that we feel are considered non-recurring Therefore we
use the non-GAAP information internally to evaluate our operations for purposes of review planning and

evaluating performance

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2009 COMPARED TO YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2008

Revenues

Revenues increased approximately 6% or $183.7 million to $3281.8 million in the
year ended

December 31 2009 compared to $3098.1 million in the year ended December 31 2008 The increase was

concentrated in the Middle East segment where revenues increased approximately 26% or $424.8 million in the

year ended December 31 2009 as compared to 2008 primarily attributable to increased marine activity driven

by the marine installation programs for several projects being completed or near completion during 2009
partially offset by decreased fabrication activity on certain projects where the fabrication phases were completed

in 2009 Increases from the Middle East segment were partially offset by decreases from our Atlantic and Asia

Pacific segments where revenues declined approximately 38% and 9% respectively The revenue decline from

the Atlantic segment of $141.8 million resulted from decreased marine and fabrication activities related to

project that was ongoing during 2008 but substantially complete prior to the 2009 period In addition revenue

declines of $99.3 million from the Asia Pacific segment were attributable to decreased marine activity partially

offset by increased fabrication activity
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Operating Income

Operating income increased $172.3 million from $107.0 million in the year
ended December 31 2008 to

$279.3 million in 2009 The increase in operating income was primarily attributable to project improvements in

our Middle East segment in 2009 For the year ended December 31 2008 we recognized approximately $146

million of contract losses related to expected costs to complete various projects primarily in our Middle East

segment In addition we experienced increased marine activity partially offset by decrease in fabrication

services We also experienced an increase in operating income from our Asia Pacific segment in 2009 compared

to 2008 as result of increased change orders and project close-outs These increases were partially offset by

decrease in operating income from our Atlantic segment resulting primarily from decreased marine and

fabrication activities related to project that was ongoing during 2008 but substantially complete prior to the

2009 period

Other Items Included in Operating Income

Gain loss on asset disposals and impairmentsnet decreased $1.7 million for the year
ended

December 31 2009 compared to 2008 primarily attributable to scrap sales and an impairment charge on one of

our vessels recognized in 2009

Selling general and administrative expenses
increased $15.8 million to $218.1 million for the year ended

December 31 2009 as compared to $202.3 million in 2008 The increase was primarily due to increased expense

associated with our pension plans

Equity in loss from unconsolidated affiliates decreased $0.1 million to $3.6 million for the year
ended

December 31 2009 compared to $3.7 million in 2008

Other Items

Interest income decreased $15.6 million to $6.0 million in the year ended December 31 2009 compared to

2008 primarily due to decrease in our short-term investment balance along with decrease in prevailing

interest rates

Interest expense decreased $4.3 million in the year
ended December 31 2009 compared to 2008 primarily

due to the increased recognition of capitalized interest applied on self-constructed assets in 2009

Other expensenet increased $15.4 million in the year
ended December 31 2009 compared to 2008

primarily due to higher foreign currency exchange losses losses on derivative instruments and bad debt expense

in 2009 compared to 2008

Provision for Income Taxes

Our earnings are subject to tax at various tax rates and under various tax regimes including deemed profits

tax regimes For the year ended December 31 2009 our provision for income taxes decreased $3.0 million to

$60.6 million while income before provision for income taxes increased $145.7 million to $270.1 million Our

effective tax rate was approximately 22% for 2009 as compared to 51% for 2008 The decrease in the overall

effective tax rate was primarily attributable to losses in certain jurisdictions in 2008 where we could not record

tax benefit

During the year ended December 31 2009 we recorded reduction in the liability for unrecognized tax

benefits of approximately $1.4 million including estimated tax-related interest and penalties See Note 10
Income Taxes
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Discontinued operations and noncontrolling interests

For the year ended December 31 2009 we incurred $7.1 million of costs related to the spin-off of BW
with no such charges incurred in 2008

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest increased by $3.2 million to $3.4 million in the year ended

December 31 2009 from $0.2 million in the year ended December 31 2008 primarily due to increased activity

and net income in our consolidated joint ventures

EFFECTS OF INFLATION AND CHANGING PRICES

Our financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP generally using historical U.S dollar

accounting historical cost Statements based on historical cost however do not adequately reflect the

cumulative effect of increasing costs and changes in the purchasing power of the dollar especially during times

of significant and continued inflation

In order to minimize the negative impact of inflation on our operations we attempt to cover the increased

cost of anticipated changes in labor material and service costs either through an estimate of those changes

which we reflect in the original price or through price escalation clauses in our contracts

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our overall liquidity position which we generally define as our unrestricted cash and investments plus

amounts available for borrowings under our credit facility continued to remain strong in 2010 Our liquidity

position excluding the spun-off BW operations at December 31 2010 increased by approximately $163.0

million from December 31 2009 mainly due to factors discussed below in connection with the changes in our

cash flows from operating investing and financing activities We experienced net cash provided from operations

from our continuing operations of $384.3 million in 2010 compared to net cash provided from operations of

$185.6 million in 2009 The major components of our net cash generated from operating activities were net

income and our improved contracts in progress to advance billings ratio

Credit Facility

On May 2010 MIT and Ray McDermott S.A JRMSA direct wholly owned subsidiary of Mu
entered into credit agreement the Credit Agreement with syndicate of lenders and letter of credit issuers

relating to our credit facility JRMSA was the initial borrower under the Credit Agreement and on July 30 2010
MIT replaced JRMSA as the borrower under the Credit Agreement The Credit Agreement replaced JRMSA
prior $800 million senior secured revolving credit facility All amounts outstanding under JRMSAs previous

senior secured revolving credit facility were repaid with borrowings nder the Credit Agreement and all letters

of credit outstanding under that previous facility are now deemed issued under the Credit Agreement

The Credit Agreement provides for revolving credit borrowings and issuances of letters of credit in an

aggregate outstanding amount of up to $900.0 million and the credit facility is scheduled to mature on May
2014 Proceeds from borrowings under the Credit Agreement are available for working capital needs and other

general corporate purposes The Credit Agreement includes procedures for additional financial institutions to

become lenders or for any existing lender to increase its conmiitment thereunder subject to an aggregate

maximum of $1.2 billion for all revolving loan and letter of credit commitments under the Credit Agreement

Other than customary mandatory prepayments in connection with casualty events the Credit Agreement

requires only interest payments on quarterly basis until maturity We may prepay all loans under the Credit

Agreement at any time without premium or penalty other than customary LTBOR breakage costs subject to

certain notice requirements
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The Credit Agreement contains customary financial covenants relating to leverage and interest coverage and

includes covenants that restrict among other things debt incurrence liens investments acquisitions asset

dispositions dividends prepayments of subordinated debt mergers and capital expenditures At December 31

2010 we were in compliance with these covenant requirements comparison of the key financial covenants and

current compliance is as follows

Required Actual

In millions except ratios

Maximum leverage ratio 2.50 0.18

Minimum interest coverage ratio 4.00 35.18

Loans outstanding under the Credit Agreement bear interest at the borrowers option at either the Eurodollar

rate plus margin ranging from 2.50% to 3.50% per year or the base rate the highest of the Federal Funds rate

plus 0.50% the 30-day Eurodollar rate plus 1.0% or the administrative agents prime rate plus margin ranging

from 1.50% to 2.50% per year The applicable margin for revolving loans varies depending on the credit ratings

of the Credit Agreement We are charged commitment fee on the unused portions of the Credit Agreement and

that fee varies between 0.375% and 0.625% per year depending on the credit ratings of the Credit Agreement

Additionally we are charged letter of credit fee of between 2.50% and 3.50% per year with respect to the

amount of each financial letter of credit issued under the Credit Agreement and letter of credit fee of between

1.25% and 1.75% per year with respect to the amount of each performance letter of credit issued under the Credit

Agreement in each case depending on the credit ratings of the Credit Agreement Under the Credit Agreement

we also pay customary issuance fees and other fees and expenses in connection with the issuance of letters of

credit under the Credit Agreement In connection with entering into the Credit Agreement we paid certain

up-front fees to the lenders thereunder and certain arrangement and other fees to the arrangers and agents under

the Credit Agreement which are being amortized to interest expense over the term of the Credit Agreement

At December 31 2010 there were no borrowings outstanding and letters of credit issued under the Credit

Agreement totaled $254.6 million At December 31 2010 there was $645.4 million available for borrowings or

to meet letter of credit requirements under the Credit Agreement Borrowings under the Credit Agreement during

the
year

had an applicable interest rate of approximately 5.25% per annum During the year ended December 31

2010 our outstanding borrowings under the Credit Agreement did not exceed $165 million and our average

outstanding borrowings under the Credit Agreement during the period from its effective date through

December 31 2010 was approximately $61 million In addition Mu and its subsidiaries had $331.0 million in

outstanding unsecured letters of credit at December 31 2010

Based on the credit ratings at December 31 2010 applicable to the Credit Agreement the applicable margin

for Eurodollar-rate loans was 3.00% the applicable margin for base-rate loans was 2.00% the letter of credit fee

for financial letters of credit was 3.00% the letter of credit fee for performance letters of credit was 1.50% and

the commitment fee for unused portions of the Credit Agreement was 0.50% The Credit Agreement does not

have floor for the base rate or the Eurodollar rate

North Ocean Construction Financing

On September 30 2010 MIT as guarantor and North Ocean 105 AS in which we have 75% ownership

interest as borrower entered into financing agreement to finance portion of the construction costs of

pipeline construction vessel to be named the North Ocean 105 The agreement provides for borrowings of up to

$69.4 million bearing interest at 2.76% per year and requires principal repayment in 17 consecutive semi-annual

installments commencing on the earlier of six months after the delivery date of the vessel and October

2012 Borrowings under the agreement are secured by among other things pledge of all of the equity of North

Ocean 105 AS mortgage on the North Ocean 105 and lien on substantially all of the other assets of North

Ocean 105 AS MIT unconditionally guaranteed all amounts to be borrowed under the agreement As of

December 31 2010 there were $3.4 million in borrowings outstanding under this agreement
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Oceanteam Debt JRMSA Vessel-Owning Joint Ventures

In December 2009 JRMSA entered into vessel-owning joint venture transaction with Oceanteam ASA As

result of this transaction we have consolidated notes payable of approximately $51.9 million onto our balance

sheet of which approximately $8.5 million is classified as current notes payable JRMSA has guaranteed

approximately 50% of this debt based on its ownership percentages in the vessel-owning companies

Unsecured Performance Guarantee Middle East

In December 2005 JRMSA as guarantor and its subsidiary Ray McDermott Middle East Inc

subsidiary of JRMSA JRM Middle East entered into $105.2 million unsecured performance guarantee

issuance facility with syndicate of commercial banking institutions to provide credit support for bank

guarantees issued in connection with three major projects On February 2008 JRM Middle East entered into

an $88.8 million unsecured performance guarantee issuance facility to replace the $105.2 million facility which

it terminated on February 14 2008 This facility continues to provide credit support for bank guarantees for the

duration of the three projects At December 31 2010 the outstanding amount under this facility is included in the

$331.0 million of outstanding letters of credit referenced above On an annualized basis the average commission

rate of this facility is less than 1.5% JRMSA is also guarantor of the new facility

Surety Bonds Atlantic

In 2007 JRMSA executed general agreement of indemnity in favor of surety underwriter based in

Mexico relating to surety bonds that underwriter issued in support of contracting activities of Ray McDermott

de Mexico S.A de C.V subsidiary of JRMSA As of December 31 2010 bonds issued under this

arrangement totaled $5.1 million

OTHER

Cash Cash Equivalents and Investments

At December 31 2010 we had restricted cash and cash equivalents totaling $197.9 million $197.7 million

of which was held in restricted foreign accounts and $0.2 million was held to meet reinsurance reserve

requirements of our captive insurance company It is possible that portion of restricted cash at December 31

2010 will not be released within the next 12 months

Certain of our subsidiaries are restricted in their ability to transfer funds to MIT Such restrictions principally

arise from debt covenants insurance regulations national currency controls and the existence of minority

shareholders We refer to the proportionate share of net assets after intercompany eliminations that may not be

transferred to Mu as result of these restrictions as restricted net assets At December 31 2010 the restricted

net assets of our consolidated subsidiaries were approximately $276.3 million

In the aggregate our cash and cash equivalents restricted cash and investments decreased by approximately

$311.4 million to $886.5 million at December 31 2010 from $1197.9 million at December 31 2009 primarily

due to the BW spin-off and purchases of property plant and equipment

Our current assets less current liabilities excluding cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash

equivalents increased by approximately $439.6 million to negative $180.7 million at December 31 2010 from

negative $620.3 million at December 31 2009 primarily due to the spin-off of BW and the increase in the net

amount of contracts in progress
and advanced billings

Our net cash provided by operating activities was approximately $384.3 million in the year
ended

December 31 2010 compared to net cash provided of approximately $185.6 million in the year
ended

December 31 2009 This difference was primarily attributable to changes in net contracts in progress
and

advance billings

41



Our net cash used in investing activities increased by approximately $427.7 million to approximately $486.9

million in the year
ended December 31 2010 from approximately $59.2 million in the year ended December 31

2009 This increase in net cash used in investing activities was primarily attributable to an increase in our

restricted cash balance increased purchases of investments and additional contributions to our unconsolidated

affiliates

Our net cash provided by used in financing activities changed by approximately $80.3 million to net cash

provided by financing activities of $76.1 million in the year ended December 31 2010 from net cash used in

financing activities of $4.2 million in the year ended December 31 2009 primarily due to cash distribution

paid to us by BW
At December 31 2010 we had investments with fair value of $285.2 million Our investment portfolio

consists primarily of investments in government obligations and other highly liquid money market instruments

Our investments are classified as available-for-sale and are carried at fair value with unrealized gains and

losses net of tax reported as component of other comprehensive loss Our investments are currently in an

unrealized loss position totaling approximately $4.3 million at December 31 2010 At December 31 2009 we

had net unrealized losses on our investments totaling approximately $6.9 million Based on our analysis of these

investments we believe that none of our available-for-sale securities were permanently impaired as of

December 31 2010

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

Our cash requirements as of December 31 2010 under current contractual obligations were as follows

Less than 1-3 3-5 After

Total Year Years Years Years

In thousands

Long-term debt principal 55295 8547 $12556 $32179 2013

Operating leases $157375 9958 $15038 $10573 $121806

Vessel charters 32324 $32324

We have interest payments on our long-term debt obligations above as follows less than one year $2.2

million one to three years $3.5 million three to five years $0.6 million and after five years 0.2 million for

total of $6.5 million These obligations are based on the debt outstanding at December 31 2010 and the stated

interest rates In addition we expect cash requirements in 2011 totaling approximately $7.2 million for

contributions to our pension plans

Our contingent commitments under letters of credit bank guarantees and surety bonds currently outstanding

expire as follows

Less than 1-3 3-5

Total Year Years Years Thereafter

In thousands

$590837 $219972 $254593 $90034 $26238

We have recorded $42.8 million liability as of December 31 2010 for unrecognized tax benefits and the

payment of related interest and penalties Due to the uncertainties related to these tax matters we are unable to

make reasonably reliable estimate as to when cash settlement with taxing authority will occur However over

the next 12 months we expect to settle approximately $1.6 million of these liabilities either in cash or as

reduction of tax refunds due
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Item 7A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Our exposure to market risk from changes in interest rates relates primarily to our cash equivalents and our

investment portfolio which primarily consists of investments in U.S Government obligations and highly liquid

money market instruments denominated in U.S dollars We are averse to principal loss and seek to ensure the

safety and preservation of our invested funds by limiting default risk market risk and reinvestment risk All our

investments in debt securities are classified as available-for-sale

We have exposure to changes in interest rates on our credit facility see Item 7Managements
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of OperationsLiquidity and Capital Resources

At December 31 2010 we had no outstanding borrowings under our credit facility We have no material future

earnings or cash flow exposures from changes in interest rates on our other outstanding debt obligations as

substantially all of these obligations have fixed interest rates

We have operations in many foreign locations and as result our financial results could be significantly

affected by factors such as changes in foreign currency exchange rates or weak economic conditions in those

foreign markets In order to manage the risks associated with foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations we

attempt to hedge those risks with foreign currency derivative instruments Historically we have hedged those

risks with foreign currency forward contracts We do not enter into speculative derivative positions

In certain cases contracts with our customers may contain provisions under which payments from our

customers are denominated in U.S Dollars and in foreign currency
The payments denominated in foreign

currency are designed to compensate us for costs that we expect to incur in such foreign currency In these cases

we may use derivative instruments to reduce the risks associated with foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations

arising from differences in timing of our foreign currency cash inflows and outflows

Interest Rate Sensitivity

The following tables provide information about our financial instruments that are sensitive to changes in

interest rates The tables present principal cash flows and related weighted-average interest rates by expected

maturity dates

Years Ending December 31
___________

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Thereafter Total

$209463 $80114 $289577

0.04% 0.30%

8547 6177 $6379 $31776 403 2013 55295 56180

3.3O70 3.U3/O f.O7C J.-fZ7/O L.11Y70 L.1070

Fair Value at

December

Years Ending December 31 31

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 Thereafter Total 2009

$216637 $14069 4873 $235579 $228718

0.80% 0.3 1% 2.25%

4504 $12925 $5976 5976 $40537 69918 70363

3.92% 4.94% 6.42% 7.13% 7.31%

At December 312010 Principal Amount by Expected Maturity In thousands

Investments

Average Interest Rate

Long-term Debt

Average Iuterest Rale

At December 312009

Fair Value at

December 31

2010

$285205

Investments

Average Interest Rate

Long-term Debt

Average Interest Rate
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Exchange Rate Sensitivity

The following table provides information about our foreign currency forward contracts outstanding at

December 31 2010 and presents such information in U.S dollar equivalents The table presents notional amounts

and related weighted-average exchange rates by expected contractual maturity dates and constitutes forward-

looking statement These notional amounts generally are used to calculate the contractual payments to be

exchanged under the contract The
average

contractual exchange rates are expressed using market convention

which is dependent on the currencies being bought and sold under the forward contract

Forward Contracts to Purchase or Sell Foreign Currencies in U.S Dollars in thousands

Year Ending Fair Value at Average Contractual

Foreign Currency December 312011 December 312010 Exchange Rate

Euros $116140 $4416 1.2885

Pound Sterling 21078 190 1.5440

Indian Rupee 91 48.3511

Japanese Yen 7201 112 83.2352

Norwegian Krone 43972 868 6.2753

Singapore Dollars 297 1.29838

Year Ending Fair Value at Average Contractual

Foreign Currency December 312012 December 31 2010 Exchange Rate

Euros 32793 $1714 1.2670

Norwegian Krone $127919 $3414 6.3555

Year Ending Fair Value at Average Contractual

Foreign Currency December 312013 December 312010 Exchange Rate

Norwegian Krone 17207 808 6.5075
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ITEM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of McDermott International Inc

Houston Texas

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of McDermott International Inc and

subsidiaries the Company as of December 31 2010 and 2009 and the related consolidated statements of

income equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2010 Our audits

also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15 These financial statements and

financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to

express an opinion on the financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on test

basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes

assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating

the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our

opinion

In our opinion such consolidated financial statements present fairly in all material respects the financial

position of McDermott International Inc and subsidiaries as of December 31 2010 and 2009 and the results of

their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31 2010 in

conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America Also in our opinion

such financial statement schedule when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements

taken as whole presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein

As discussed in Note ito the consolidated financial statements on July 30 2010 the Company completed

the spin-off of its Government Operations and Power Generations Systems segments into an independent

publicly traded company named The Babcock Wilcox Company

We have also audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2010 based on the

criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 2011 expressed an unqualified

opinion on the Companys internal control over financial reporting

6--.-

Houston Texas

March 12011
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McDERMOTT INTERNATIONAL INC

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31

2010 2009

In thousands

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents
403463 899270

Restricted cash and cash equivalents Note 197861 69920

Investments Note 209463 12

Accounts receivabletrade net Note 323497 642995

Accounts and notes receivableunconsolidated affiliates 2960 5806

Accounts receivableother 25487 68035

Contracts in progress
65853 400831

Inventories 1675 101494

Deferred income taxes 10323 100828

Assets held for sale Note 10161

Other current assets 34895 68730

Total Current Assets 1285638 2357921

Property Plant and Equipment 1720040 2608740

Less accumulated depreciation 804471 1271135

Net Property Plant and Equipment 915569 1337605

Assets Held for Sale Note 77150

Investments Note 75742 228706

Goodwill 41202 306497

Deferred Income Taxes _________
275567

Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates 45016 86932

Other Assets 158371 255882

TOTAL $2598688 $4849110

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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McDERMOTT INTERNATIONAL INC

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETSContinued

December 31

2010 2009

In thousands

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities

Notes payable and current maturities of long-term debt 8547 16270
Accounts payable 252974 471858
Accrued employee benefits 80585 217178
Accrued pension liabilitycurrent portion 8797 173271
Accrued liabilitiesother 107511 155773
Accrued contract cost 89888 103041
Advance billings on contracts 250053 689334
Deferred income taxes 12849 4735
Income taxes 32851 59294
Accrued

warranty 50 118278
Liabilities associated with assets held for sale Note 20902

Total Current Liabilities 865007 2009032

Long-Term Debt 46748 56714

Accumulated Postretirement Benefit Obligation 5258 105605

Self-Insurance 35655 87222

Pension Liability 52831 610166

Other Liabilities 80922 147271

Commitments and Contingencies Note 14
Stockholders Equity

Common stock par
value $1.00 per share authorized 400000000 shares issued

240791473 and 236919404 shares at December 31 2010 and December 31
2009 respectively 240791 236919

Capital in excess of
par value 1357316 1300998

Retained earnings 100373 951647

Treasury stock at cost 6906262 and 6168705 shares at December 31 2010

and December 31 2009 respectively 85735 69370
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 163717 612997

Stockholders EquityMcDermott InternationaL Jnc 1449028 1807197
Noncontrolling interest 63239 25903

Total Equity 1512267 1833100

TOTAL $2598688 $4849110

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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McDERMOTT INTERNATIONAL INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands except per share amounts

Revenues 2403743 3281790 3098104

Costs and Expenses

Cost of operations
1842261 2781735 2787803

Gain loss on asset disposals and impairmentsnet 22220 914 2599

Selling general and administrative expenses
216763 218063 202252

Total Costs and Expenses 2081244 2998884 2987456

Equity in Loss of Unconsolidated Affiliates 7594 3557 3661

Operating Income 314905 279349 106987

Other Income Expense

Interest income 1495 6021 21619

Interest expense 2584 4285

Other income expensenet 10022 15257 94

Total Other Income Expense 11111 9236 17428

Income from continuing operations before provision for income

taxes and noncontrolling interest 303794 270113 124415

Provision for Income Taxes 41182 60561 63567

Income from continuing operations before noncontrolling interest 262612 209552 60848

Loss on disposal of discontinued operations 123311 7118

Income from discontinued operations net of tax 88411 188016 368653

Total income loss from discontinued operations net of tax 34900 180898 368653

Net Income 227712 390450 429501

Less net income attributable to noncontrolling interest 26046 3394 199

Net Income Attributable to McDermott International Inc 201666 387056 429302

Eamings per Common Share

Basic

Income from continuing operations less noncontrolling

interest 1.02 0.90 0.27

Income loss from discontinued operations net of tax 0.15 0.79 1.62

Net Income 0.87 1.69 1.89

Diluted

Income from continuing operations less noncontrolling

interest 1.00 0.88 0.26

Income loss from discontinued operations net of tax 0.15 0.78 1.60

Net Income 0.85 1.66 1.86

Shares used in the computation of earnings per share Note 11
Basic 232173362 229471020 226918776

Diluted 235622029 233626876 230393782

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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McDERMOTT INTERNATIONAL INC

Balance January 2008

Comprehensive Income

Net Income

Amortization of benefit plan costs

Unrecognized losses on benefit

obligations

Unrealized loss of investments

Realized gains on investments

Translation adjustments and other

Unrealized loss on derivatives

Realized gains on derivatives

Total comprehensive income net of tax

Exercise of stock options

Restricted stock issuances-net

Contributions to thrift plan

Purchase of treasury shares

Stock-based compensation charges

Distributions to NCI

Balance December 31 2008

Comprehensive Income

Net Income

Amortization of benefit plan costs

Unrecognized losses on benefit

obligations

Unrealized gains of investments

Realized loss on investments

Translation adjustments and other

Unrealized gains on derivatives

Realized gains on derivatives

Total comprehensive income net of tax

Exercise of stock options

Excess tax benefits on stock options

Contributions to thrift plan

Accelerated vesting

Stock-based compensation charges

Purchase of treasury shares

Sale of subsidiary shares to NCI

Acquisition of NCI Note
Distributions to NCI

Balance December 31 2009

429302 429302
24651 24651

387056 387056 3394 390450
59413 59413 59413

711\ 1V 111\

2440 2440 2440
91 91 91

23252 23252 23252
606 606 606

_________ _______
2229 2229 2229

201666 4824 206490 26046 232536

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY
Capital In Accumulated Non-
Excess of Other ControllingCommon Stock

Par Retained Treasury Comprehensive Stockholders Interest Total

Shares Par Value Value Earnings Stock Loss Equity NC Equity

In thousands except share amounts
231722659 $231723 $1145829 135289 $63903 $28l933 $1167005 373 $1167378

199 429501

24651

332687 332687 332687
8470 8470 8470
1492 1492 1492

38370 38370 80 38290
28929 28929 28929
5185 5185 5185

429302 390482 38820 279 39099

1687536 1688 825 7111 9624 9624
350946 351 351
412947 412 12194 12606 12606

6234 6234 6234
94351 94351 94351

311 311
234174088 $234174 $1252848 564591 $63026 $672415 $1316172 341 $1316513

41066 41066 41066
1993 1993 1993

124 124 124

29406 29406 201 29607
11403 11403 11403
1855 1855 1855

387056 59418 446474 3595 450069

285318 285 570 187 1042 1042
2324 2324 2324

941348 941 14423 15364 15364
1518650 1519 1519

34914 34914 34914
6531 6531 6531

2086 2086 2086
24109 24109

56 56
236919404 $236919 $1300998 951647 $69370 $612997 $1807197 $25903 $1833100

201666 201666 26046 227712

44322 4432244322

Comprehensive Income
Net income
Amortization of benefit plan costs

Unrecognized losses on benefits

obligations

Unrealized gain on investments

Realized losses on investments

Translation adjustments and other

Unrealized gains on derivatives

Realized losses on derivatives

Total Comprehensive Income net of tax

Spin-off of The Babcock Wilcox

Company 1441 1052940 444456 609925 503 610428
Exercise of stock options 1039114 1040 2352 650 2742 2742
Excesstaxonstockoptions 2192 2192 2192
Accelerated vesting net of forfeitures 2550933 2550 2528 22 22
Contributions to thrift plan 282022 282 6641 6923 6923
Purchase of treasury shares 15715 15715 15715
Stock-based compensation charges 50888 50888 50888
Acquisition ofNCl 1786 1786 11793 10007

240791473 $240791 $1357316 100373 $85735 $163717 $1449028 $63239 $1512267

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

Balance at December 31 2010
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McDERMOTT INTERNATIONAL INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

227712

34900

262612

76452
7.594

22220

1830

21814

1393
9344

6457
182472

38536
84269

40110

106338
171666

384327

142853
186862
127526

4824

32550
1954

486921

44153
65084

109600
578

219415
469803

250388

390450

180898

209552

79867

3557

914
5252

27352
912

44226

25871

295110
8054
5882

57311
41101

103450

185633

10718
186518

177137

2761

13484
28293

134

59249

4106
105

1042

912

127

4208

1096

123372

306195

429467

$232441

51598
1728
10234

189349

280454

$469803

429501

368653

60848

72555

3661

2599
2180

16758

9786
58749

83197

395818
63180
37015

30024
137621

72809

104896

15753

205447
61211

4018

1062
2996

128523

4248
1756
9624

9786

13404

998

221013

527208

306195

55929

291849
52055

9867
193732
474186

280454

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In tbousands

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income

Income loss from discontinued operations net of tax

Income from continoing operations

Non-cash items incloded in net income

Depreciation and amortization

Equity in loss of unconsolidated affiliates

Gains losses on asset disposals
and impairmentsnet

Provision for deferred taxes

Amortization of pension and postretirement costs

Tax expense benefits from stock-based compensation

Other

Changes in assets and liabilities net of effects from acquisitions

Accounts receivable

Net contracts in progress and advance billings on contracts

Accounts payable

Income taxes

Accrued and other current liabilities

Pension liability and accrued postretirement
and employee benefits

Other

NET CASH PRO VIDED BY USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIESCONTINUING OPERATIONS

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Increase decrease in restricted cash and cash
equivalents

Purchases of property plant and equipment

Net increase decrease in available-for-sale securities

Proceeds from asset disposals

Investments in unconsolidated affiliates

Acquisition of businesses net of cash acquired

Other

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIESCONTINUING OPERATIONS

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACT IVITIES

Payment of debt

Debt issuance costs

Issuance of common stock

Tax expense benefits from stock-based compensation

Cash contribution from The Babcock Wilcox Company
Other

NET CASH PROVIDED BY USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIESCONTINUING OPERATIONS

EFFECTS OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH

NET INCREASE DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIODCONTINUING OPERATIONS

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash paid received during the period for

Interest net of amount capitalized

Income taxes net of refunds

CASH FLOWS FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

NET CASH PROVIDED BY USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

NET CASH PROVIDED BY USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES

EFFECTS OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH

NET INCREASE DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD

TRANSFER OF CASH AflRIBUTABLE TO BW
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD

8540
17881

1040

1393
100000

80

76092

498

26004

429467

403463

2957 2807 8328

52946 7928 53686

Year Ended December31

2010 2009 2008

In thonsands
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McDERMOTT INTERNATIONAL INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31 2010

NOTE 1BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Nature of Operations

McDermott International Inc MIT incorporated under the laws of the Republic of Panama is leading

engineering procurement construction and installation EPCI company focused on designing and executing

complex offshore oil and gas projects worldwide Providing fully integrated EPCI services for oil and gas field

developments we deliver fixed and floating production facilities pipeline and subsea systems from
concept to

commissioning We support these activities with comprehensive project management and procurement services

Our customers include national and major energy companies and we operate in most major offshore oil and gas

producing regions throughout the world In these notes to our consolidated financial statements unless the

context otherwise indicates we us and our mean MIT and its consolidated subsidiaries

Basis of Presentation

On July 30 2010 we completed the spin-off of our previously reported Government Operations and Power

Generation Systems segments into an independent publicly traded company named The Babcock Wilcox

Company BW Additionally during the quarter ended September 30 2010 we committed to plan to sell

our charter fleet business which operates 10 of the 14 vessels acquired in our 2007 acquisition of substantially all

of the assets of Secunda International Limited the Secunda acquisition The consolidated balance sheet as of

December 31 2010 reflects the charter fleet business as held for sale The consolidated statements of income and

the consolidated statements of cash flows reflect the historical operations of BW and the charter fleet business

as discontinued operations The 2009 consolidated balance sheet and the 2009 and prior consolidated statements

of equity contain amounts attributable to the spun-off BW operations Accordingly we have generally

presented the notes to our consolidated financial statements on the basis of continuing operations

In connection with the spin-off of BW as discussed in Note 2Discontinued Operations and Other

Charges we have modified our previous reporting segments which included the operations of BW to reflect

our geographic operating segments We operate in five primary business segments which consist of Asia Pacific

Atlantic Caspian the Middle East and Corporate The operations of the Caspian and Middle East are aggregated

into our Middle East reporting segment due to the proximity of regions similarities in the nature of services

provided economic characteristics and oversight responsibilities As result we have four segments on which

we report financial results For financial information about our segments see Note 12Segment Reporting

We have presented our consolidated financial statements in U.s Dollars in accordance with accounting

principles generally accepted in the United States GAAP These consolidated financial statements include the

accounts of McDermott International Inc its subsidiaries and controlled entities We use the equity method to

account for investments in entities that we do not control but over which we have significant influence We
generally refer to these entities as joint ventures We have eliminated intercompany transactions

Use of Estimates

We use estimates and assumptions to
prepare our financial statements in conformity with GAAP These

estimates and assumptions affect the amounts we report in our financial statements and accompanying notes Our

actual results could differ from these estimates and variances could materially affect our financial condition and

results of operations in future periods

Revenue Recognition

We determine the appropriate accounting method for each of our long-term contracts before work on the

project begins We generally recognize contract revenues and related costs on percentage-of-completion
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method for individual contracts or combinations of contracts based on work performed man hours or

cost-to-cost method as applicable to the activity involved We include revenues and related costs recorded plus

accumulated contract costs that exceed amounts invoiced to customers under the terms of the contracts in

contracts in
progress

We include in advance billings on contracts billings that exceed accumulated contract

costs and revenues and costs recognized under the percentage-of-completion method Most long-term contracts

contain provisions for progress payments We expect to invoice customers for all unbilled revenues Certain costs

are excluded from the cost-to-cost method of measuring progress such as significant costs for materials and

major third-party subcontractors if it appears that such exclusion would result in more meaningful

measurement of actual contract progress and resulting periodic allocation of income Total estimated costs and

resulting contract income are affected by changes in the expected cost of materials and labor productivity

scheduling and other factors Additionally external factors such as weather customer requirements and other

factors outside of our control may affect the progress
and estimated cost of projects completion and therefore

the timing and amount of revenue and income recognition In addition change orders which are normal and

recurring part of our business can increase and sometimes substantially the future scope and cost of job

Therefore change order awards although frequently beneficial in the long-term can have the short term effect

of reducing the job percentage of completion and thus the revenues and profits recognized to date We regularly

review contract price and cost estimates as the work progresses and reflect adjustments proportionate to the

percentage-of-completion revenue in income in the period when those estimates are revised

For contracts as to which we are unable to estimate the final profitability except to assure that no loss will

ultimately be incurred we recognize equal amounts of revenue and cost until the final results can be estimated

more precisely For these contracts we only recognize gross margin when reasonably estimable which we

generally determine to be when the contract is approximately 70% complete We treat long-term construction

contracts that contain such level of risk and uncertainty that estimation of the final outcome is impractical

except to assure that no loss will be incurred as deferred profit recognition contracts During the quarter ended

September 30 2010 we determined that one active contract qualified to be accounted for under our deferred

profit recognition policy

Our policy is to account for fixed-price contracts under the completed contract method if we believe that we

are unable to reasonably forecast cost to complete at start-up Under the completed contract method income is

recognized only when contract is completed or substantially complete We did not enter into any contracts that

we have accounted for under the completed contract method during 2010 2009 or 2008

Variations from estimated contract performance could result in material adjustments to operating results for

any fiscal quarter or year We include claims for extra work or changes in scope of work to the extent of costs

incurred in contract revenues when we believe collection is probable For all contracts if current estimate of

total contract costs indicates loss the projected loss is recognized in full when determined
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Accounts Receivable Trade net

summary of contract receivables is as follows

December 31

2010 2009

In thousands

Contract receivables1

Contracts in progress $191216 $184953

Completed contracts 85587 74411

Retainages 63558 100676

Unbilled 12697 5340
Less allowances 29561 42246

Accounts receivable trade netcontinuing operations 323497 323134

Discontinued operations net 319861

Total $323497 $642995

Contract receivables attributable to the charter fleet business are classified as held for sale and are excluded

from the 2010 presentation

We expect to invoice our unbilled receivables once certain milestones or other metrics are reached and we

expect to collect all unbilled amounts We believe that our provision for losses on uncollectible accounts

receivable is adequate for our credit loss exposure

The following amounts represent retainages on contracts

December 31

2010 2009

In thousands

Retainages expected to be collected within one year 63558 $100676

Retainages expected to be collected after one year 83143 42916

Total retainages $146701 $143592

We have included in accounts receivabletrade net retainages expected to be collected in 2011

Retainages expected to be collected after one year are included in other assets Of the long-term retainages at

December 31 2010 we anticipate collecting $59.0 million in 2012 $22.7 million in 2013 and $1.4 million in

2014

impairment Review

We do not amortize goodwill but instead review goodwill for impairment on an annual basis or more

frequently if circumstances indicate that an impairment may exist The annual impairment review which is

performed as of December 31 involves comparing an estimate of discounted future cash flows to the net book

value of each applicable business segment and therefore is significantly impacted by estimates and judgments

We review our long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that

the carrying amount may not be recoverable If an evaluation is required on nonrecurring basis recent

appraisals the estimated undiscounted future cash flows associated with the assets or other valuation

measurements are compared to the assets carrying value to determine if impairment exists and if an impairment

is determined to exist an impairment charge is recognized for the difference between the recorded and fair value

of the asset
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Loss Contingencies

We estimate liabilities for loss contingencies when it is probable that liability has been incurred and the

amount of loss is reasonably estimable We provide disclosure when there is reasonable possibility that the

ultimate loss will exceed the recorded provision or if such loss is not reasonably estimable We are currently

involved in some significant litigation as discussed in Note 14 We have accrued our estimates of the probable

losses associated with these matters However our losses are typically resolved over long periods of time and are

often difficult to estimate due to various factors including the possibility of multiple actions by third parties

Therefore it is possible future earnings could be affected by changes in our estimates related to these matters

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Our cash equivalents are highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less when we

purchase them

We record current cash and cash equivalents as restricted when we are unable to freely use such cash and

cash equivalents for our general operating purposes At December 31 2010 we had restricted cash and cash

equivalents totaling $197.9 million $197.7 million of which was held in restricted foreign accounts and $0.2

million was held to meet reinsurance reserve requirements of our captive insurance subsidiary It is possible that

portion of restricted cash at December 31 2010 will not be released within the next 12 months

Investments

Our investment portfolio consists primarily of government obligations and other highly liquid money

market instruments Our investments are classified as available-for-sale and are carried at fair value with

unrealized gains and losses net of tax reported as component of other comprehensive loss Our net unrealized

loss on investments was $4.3 million at December 31 2010 At December 31 2009 we had net unrealized losses

on our investments totaling $6.9 million The major components of our investments are U.S government and

agency securities asset-backed obligations and corporate bonds Based on our analysis of these investments we

believe that none of our available-for-sale securities were other than temporarily impaired at December 31 2010

We classify investments available for current operations in the balance sheet as current assets and we classify

investments held for long-term purposes as noncurrent assets We adjust the amortized cost of debt securities for

amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts to maturity That amortization is included in interest income

We include realized gains and losses on our investments in other income expensenet The cost of securities sold

is based on the specific identification method We include interest on securities in interest income

Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates

We use the equity method of accounting for affiliates in which our investment ownership ranges from 20%

to 50% The equity method is also used for affiliates in which our investment ownership is greater than 50% but

we do not have controlling interest Currently most of our significant investments in affiliates that are not

consolidated are recorded using the equity method Investments in affiliates where our ownership interest is less

than 20% and where we are unable to exert significant influence are carried at cost

During the year ended December 31 2009 we commenced joint venture to establish new fabrication

facility in Qingdao Shandong China In connection with this joint venture we contributed $32.5 million and

$10.6 million in 2010 and 2009 respectively

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts that we have reported for financial instruments including cash and cash equivalents

accounts receivables and accounts payable approximate their fair values See Note 8Fair Values of Financial

Instruments for additional fair value measurements
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Derivative Financial Instruments

Our worldwide operations give rise to exposure to changes in certain market conditions which may
adversely impact our financial performance When we deem it appropriate we use derivatives as risk

management tool to mitigate the potential impacts of certain market risks The primary market risk we manage

through the use of derivative instruments is movement in foreign currency exchange rates We use foreign

currency forward-exchange contracts to reduce the impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates on our

operating results We use these instruments to hedge our exposure associated with revenues or costs on our long-

term contracts and other cash flow exposures that are denominated in currencies other than our operating entities

functional currencies We do not hold or issue financial instruments for trading or other speculative purposes

In certain cases contracts with our customers may contain provisions under which payments from our

customers are denominated in U.S Dollars and in foreign currency The payments denominated in foreign

currency are designed to compensate us for costs that we expect to incur in such foreign currency In these cases

we may use derivative instruments to reduce the risks associated with foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations

arising from differences in timing of our foreign currency cash inflows and outflows

Concentration of Credit Risk

Our principal customers are businesses in the offshore oil and natural gas industry This concentration of

customers may impact our overall exposure to credit risk either positively or negatively in that our customers

may be similarly affected by changes in economic or other conditions In addition we and many of our

customers operate worldwide and are therefore exposed to risks associated with the economic and political forces

of various countries and geographic areas We generally do not obtain
any collateral for our receivables See

Note 12 for additional information about our operations in different geographic areas

Foreign Currency Translation

We translate assets and liabilities of our foreign operations other than operations in highly inflationary

economies into U.S Dollars at current exchange rates and we translate income statement items at average

exchange rates for the periods presented We record adjustments resulting from the translation of foreign

currency financial statements as component of accumulated other comprehensive loss We report foreign

currency transaction gains and losses in income We have included in other income expensenet transaction

losses of $3.5 million $9.7 million and $3.9 million for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008

respectively

Capitalization of Interest Cost

We incurred total interest of $14.6 million $11.7 million and $10.3 million in the
years

ended December 31
2010 2009 and 2008 respectively We capitalized $12.0 million $12.6 million and 6.0 million of interest cost

in the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

Earnings per Share

We have computed earnings per common share on the basis of the weighted average number of common

shares and where dilutive common share equivalents outstanding during the indicated periods See Note 11
Earnings per Share for our computations
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Comprehensive Loss

The components of accumulated other comprehensive loss included in stockholders equity are as follows

December 31

2010 2009

In thousands

Foreign currency translation adjustments 6888 16364

Net loss on investments 4330 6861
Net loss on derivative financial instruments 855 3690
Unrecognized losses on benefit obligations1 151644 618810

Accumulated other comprehensive loss $l63717 $6l2997

Amortization of benefit plan costs in the consolidated statement of equity is shown net of $18.6

million of taxes Future amortization will not reflect tax benefit until those benefits can be

recognized and the existing deferred tax benefits will not change significantly

Stock-Based Compensation

We expense
stock-based compensation The fair value of equity-classified awards such as restricted stock

and stock options is determined on the date of grant Grant date fair values for restricted stock are determined

using the closing price of our common stock on the date of grant Grant date fair values for stock options are

determined using Black-Scholes option-pricing model Black-Scholes which requires the input of highly

subjective assumptions such as the expected life of the award and stock price volatility For liability-classified

awards such as cash-settled deferred stock units fair values are determined at grant date using the closing price

of our common stock and are remeasured at the end of each reporting period through the date of settlement

We recognize expense based on the grant date fair value for all share-based awards granted on straight-

line basis over the requisite service periods of the awards which is generally equivalent to the vesting term We
review the estimate for forfeitures periodically and record any adjustments deemed

necessary
If our actual

forfeiture rate is materially different from our estimate the stock-based compensation expense
could be

significantly different from what we have recorded in the current period

Excess tax benefits are reported as financing cash flow rather than as reduction of taxes paid These

excess tax benefits result from tax deductions in excess of the cumulative compensation expense recognized for

options exercised and other equity-classified awards See Note for further discussion of stock-based

compensation

Property Plant and Equipment

We carry our property plant and equipment at depreciated cost less any impairment provisions Except for

major marine vessels we depreciate our property plant and equipment using the straight-line method over

estimated economic useful lives of eight to 33 years for buildings and three to 28 years for machinery and

equipment We depreciate major marine vessels using the units-of-production method based on the utilization of

each vessel Our depreciation expense calculated under the units-of-production method may be less than equal to

or greater than depreciation expense calculated under the straight-line method in any period Our depreciation

expense was $75.8 million $79.1 million and $70.8 miliion for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and

2008 respectively

We expense the costs of maintenance repairs and renewals that do not materially prolong the useful life of

an asset as we incur them We depreciate leasehold improvements over the shorter of the remaining lease term or

useful life of the asset We capitalize drydocking costs in other assets when incurred and amortize the costs over

the period of time between drydockings which is generally three to five years
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Based on market conditions expected future utilization and pricing on two of the four vessels in our

Atlantic segment that we expect to retain from the Secunda acquisition we recognized an impairment charge of

approximately $24.4 million during the quarter ended September 30 2010 in our consolidated statements of

income We used appraised values and undiscounted future cash flows associated with the assets to determine the

impairment We consider this nonrecurring fair value measurement as Level in nature

Additionally we incurred approximately $21 million of costs in 2010 to discontinue our development plans

for new fabrication yard in Kazakhstan including estimated lease termination costs These costs are reflected in

our consolidated statements of income in costs of operations Also in connection with our plan to sell the charter

fleet business we recognized $27.7 million write-down of the carrying value of these assets See Note

Discontinued Operations and Other Charges for further information regarding these charges

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill

In the quarter ended September 30 2010 we allocated our remaining goodwill to our new operating

segments using an income approach fair value measurement which was based on estimates of future earnings

and discount rates We also completed our annual review of goodwill as of December 31 2010 which indicated

that the fair values for those operating segments was significantly in excess of their carrying amounts resulting

in no goodwill impairment

The following summarizes the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill

Spun-off BW
Operations

____________________ ____________ ________ ____________ ____________

Balance at December 31 2008 263152
_______ _______ _______ _________

Transaction with Oceanteam ASA

BW de Monterrey asset

acquisition

Adjustment related to the acquisition

of Nuclear Fuel Services Inc

Adjustment related to the acquisition

of the assets of Secunda

International Limited

Foreign currency
translation

adjustments and other
_________ _______ _________

Balance at December 31 2009

Adjustment related to the acquisition

of Götaverken Miljö AB assets

Acquisition of GE Energy assets

Purchase price adjustments associated

with Oceanteam ASA

transaction 1904 1904
Foreign currency translation

adjustments and other 402 1251
Segment allocations 21023

BW Spin-off 280096

Balance at December 31 2010
________ _______ ______

$21425 41202

Previously reported separately as Government Operations and Power Generation Systems segments

Previously reported operating segment

Old Basis New Basis

Offshore Oil

Gas Construction2 Asia Pacific Atlantic Middle East Total

35113 298265

1904 1904

7442

8066

4952 4952

7442

8066

338

262866

7983

9973

1662

43631

2000

$306497

7983

9973

726 1299
40428

372

19405

280096

$19777
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Other Intangible Assets

We amortize our intangible assets over their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method Our

intangible assets are primarily composed of customer relationships The following summarizes the changes in the

carrying amount of other intangible assets

Balance at beginning of period

Additions

Amortization expense

Foreign currency translation adjustments and other

Balance at end of periodcontinuing operations

Discontinued operations

Balance at end of period _____ _______

Year Ending December 31
_______

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

Other Non-Current Assets

We have included deferred debt issuance costs in other assets We amortize deferred debt issuance cost as

interest expense over the life of the related debt The following summarizes the changes in the carrying amount

of these assets

Balance at beginning of period

Deferred debt issuance costs and performance

guarantees

Reductions and other transfers

Interest expensedebt issuance costs

Balance at end of period-continuing operations

Discontinued operations

Balance at end of period

We estimate warranty costs associated with projects on case-by-case basis We include these specific

provisions as component of our total contract cost estimates and we record the associated expense under the

percentage-of-completion method of accounting for long-term construction contracts

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009

In thousands

$1139 1766

1299

680 799
47 172

$1805 1139

103378

$1805 $104517

The estimated amortization expense for the next five fiscal
years are as follows in thousands

Amount

$456

$456

$456

$437

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands

4635 7431 8071

17881 105 1756

181
6262 2901 2396

16073 4635 7431

1898 4169

$16073 6533 $11600

Warranty Expense
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Self-Insurance

We have wholly owned insurance subsidiary that provides employers liability general and automotive

liability and workers compensation insurance and from time to time builders risk insurance within certain

limits and marine hull insurance to our companies

Reserves related to these insurance programs are based on the facts and circumstances specific to the

insurance claims our past experience with similar claims loss factors and the performance of the outside

insurance market for the type of risk at issue The actual outcome of insured claims could differ significantly

from estimated amounts We maintain actuarially determined accruals in our consolidated balance sheets to cover

self-insurance retentions for the coverages discussed above These accruals are based on assumptions developed

utilizing historical data to project future losses Loss estimates in the calculation of these accruals are adjusted as

required based upon actual claim settlements and reported claims These loss estimates and accruals recorded in

our financial statements for claims have historically been reasonable

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

In January 2010 the FASB issued an update to the topic Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures This

update adds new fair value disclosures for certain transfers of investments between Level and Level

measurements and clarifies existing disclosures regarding valuation techniques On January 2010 we adopted

this revision The adoption of this revision did not have material impact on our consolidated financial

statements

In January 2010 the FASB issued revision to the topic Consolidation This revision clarifies the scope of

partial sale and deconsolidation provisions related to acquisitions and noncontrolling interests On January

2010 we adopted this revision The adoption of this revision did not have material impact on our consolidated

financial statements

In June 2009 the FASB issued revision to the topic Consolidation This revision was subsequently

amended in December 2009 and February 2010 These revisions expand the scope of this topic and amend

guidance for assessing and analyzing variable interest entities On January 2010 we adopted this revision The

adoption of this revision did not have material impact on our consolidated financial statements

In January 2010 the FASB issued revision to the topic Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures This

revision sets forth new rules on providing enhanced information for Level measurements On January 2011

we adopted this revision for both interim and annual disclosures We do not expect the adoption of this revision

to have material impact on our consolidated financial statements

NOTE 2DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND OTHER CHARGES

Spin-Off of

On July 30 2010 we completed the spin-off of BW to our stockholders through stock distribution

BWs assets and businesses primarily consisted of those that we previously reported as our Power Generation

Systems and Government Operations segments In connection with the spin-off our stockholders received 100%

approximately 116 million shares of the outstanding common stock of BW The distribution of BW
common stock occurred by way of pro rata stock dividend to our stockholders Each stockholder generally

received one share of BW common stock for every two shares of our common stock held by such stockholder

on July 2010 and cash in lieu of any fractional shares Prior to the completion of the spin-off BW made

cash distribution to us totaling $100 million

In order to effect the distribution and govern Mlis relationship with BW after the distribution MIT and

BW entered into master separation agreement and several other agreements including tax sharing

agreement and transition services agreements
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Master Separation Agreement

The master separation agreement between us and BW contains the key provisions relating to the

separation of the BW business from Mu and the distribution of BW shares of common stock The master

separation agreement identified the assets transferred to liabilities assumed by and contracts assigned to BW
by MIT or by BW to MIT in the spin-off and provided the mechanisms for these transfers assumptions and

assignments to occur Under the master separation agreement we agreed to indemnify BW against various

claims and liabilities related to the past operation of Mlis business other than BWs business and BW
agreed to indemnify us against various claims and liabilities related to its business

Tax Sharing Agreement

subsidiary of MIT and subsidiary of BW entered into an agreement providing for the sharing of taxes

incurred before and after the distribution various indemnification rights with respect to tax matters and

restrictions to preserve
the tax-free status of the distribution to MIT Under the terms of the tax sharing

agreement BW is generally responsible for any taxes imposed on MIT or BW in the event that certain

transactions related to the spin-off fail to qualify for tax-free treatment However if these transactions fail to

qualify for tax-free treatment because of actions or failures to act by MIT or its subsidiaries subsidiary of MIT

would be responsible for all such taxes BW is also entitled to the historical tax benefits generated by MITs

U.S operations and these amounts are shown in income loss from discontinued operations net of tax in our

consolidated statements of income

Transition Services Agreements

Under the transition services agreements MIT and BW may provide each other certain transition services

on an interim basis Such services include among others accounting human resources information technology

legal risk management tax and treasury services In consideration for such services MIT and BW each
pay

fees to the other for the services provided and those fees are generally in amounts intended to allow the party

providing the services to recover its direct and indirect costs incurred in providing those services The transition

services agreements contain customary mutual indemnification provisions

Financial Information

The following table presents selected financial information regarding the results of operations of our former

BW business

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands

Revenues $1524424 $2854632 $3398574

Loss on disposal of discontinued operations before

taxes 95621 7118
Income before provision for income taxes 105796 260834 449867

10175 253716 449867

Provision for income taxes 22755 67751 91681

Income loss from discontinued operations net of tax 12580 185965 358186

Includes the BW operations through July 30 2010

60



Loss on disposal of discontinued operations for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 includes

approximately $95.6 million and $7.1 million respectively in costs related to the spin-off of BW The

following table presents the significant categories of these costs

Total

In thousands

Severance and employee-related costs 49379

Professional services fees 37339

Asset disposals and write-offs 9245

Other costs 6776

Total spin-off costs $102739

The following table presents the carrying values of the major accounts of discontinued operations related to

BW that are included in our December 31 2009 consolidated balance sheet

December 31
2009

In thousands

Cash and cash equivalents 469803

Accounts receivabletrade net 319861

Contracts in progress 245998

Inventory 98644

Other current assets 267784

Total current assets $1402090

Net property plant and equipment 396822

Goodwill 262866

Other long-term assets 375933

Total long-term assets $1035621

Total assets attributable to discontinued operations $2437711

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 698496

Advance billings on contracts 537448

Total current liabilities $1235944

Pension and other post-retirement benefits 573763

Other long-term liabilities 122808

r1 1._
LULaI 1uuLc111I naujniuc UUJI

Total liabilities associated with discontinued operations $1932515

Charter Fleet Business

During the quarter ended September 30 2010 we committed to plan to sell our charter fleet business

which has been classified as discontinued operations We measured the associated assets to be sold using the

estimated fair value of consideration expected from the sale less estimated selling costs Accordingly we

recognized $27.7 million write-down of the carrying value of these assets to their estimated net realizable value

within loss on disposal of discontinued operations We consider this fair value measurement as Level in nature
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The following table presents selected financial information regarding the results of operations of our charter

fleet business

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands

Revenues 57528 $56655 $75745

Loss on disposal of discontinued operations before taxes 27690

Income loss before provision for income taxes 8081 1533 13032

19609 1533 13032

Provision for income taxes 2711 3534 2565

Income loss from discontinued operations net of tax $22320 5067 $10467

The following table presents the carrying values of the major accounts of held for sale discontinued

operations related to our charter fleet business

December 31
2010

In thousands

Cash
1426

Accounts receivablenet 5253

Other assets
3482

Total current assets held for sale $10161

Property plant and equipment $68595

Other assets
8555

Total assets held for sale $87311

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 8748

Other liabilities
12154

Total liabilities associated with assets held for sale $20902

Fabrication Facility

During the quarter ended September 30 2010 some of our customers indicated to us they expect substantial

delays in their planned projects in the Caspian region of our Middle East reporting segment Accordingly we

incurred approximately $21 million of costs to discontinue our development plans for new fabrication yard in

Kazakhstan including estimated lease termination costs These costs are reflected in our consolidated statements

of income in costs of operations We believe any remaining costs that may be incurred in connection with the

facility closure will not materially exceed the costs already recognized

NOTE 3BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS

We had no significant acquisitions during 2010 In December 2009 we completed transaction with

Oceanteam ASA involving the acquisition of an approximate 50% interest in vessel-owning company that owns

subsea construction vessel and 75% interest in another company that has commenced constructing similar

vessel The acquisition cost to us was approximately $30.2 million net of cash acquired We agreed to charter

each vessel from the respective vessel owning companies for five-year period after which time we will have

the option to purchase Oceanteams interest in each vessel-owning company In connection with this acquisition

we recorded property plant and equipment of approximately $132.7 million notes payable of approximately
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$60.7 million all of which was acquired with the vessel owning company minority interest liability of $25.8

million and other net payables of approximately $15.9 million Pro forrna results have not been presented for this

acquisition because its operations were not material to our consolidated financial statements

NOTE 4LONG-TERM DEBT AND NOTES PAYABLE

Long-term debt obligations are as follows

December 31

2010 2009

In thousands

Long-term debt consists of

Oceanteam debt $51872 $62330
North Ocean 105 Construction Financing 3423

55295 62330
Less Amounts due within one year 8547 9838

Long-term debtcontinuing operations 46748 52492

Long-term debtdiscontinuing operations 4222

Total debt $46748 $56714

Maturities of long-term debt during the five years subsequent to December 31 2010 are as follows

In thousands
2011

8547
2012

6177
2013

6379
2014

31776
2015

403

Thereafter 2013

Total
$55295

Long-term debt obligations as of December 31 2009 attributable to the spun-off BW operations are as

follows

December 31
2009

In thousands
SniineffflRrW 1h

Unsec notes payable 916

Secured notes payable and other 1672

7588

Less Amounts due within one year 3366

Long-term debt $4222

Notes payable and current maturities of long-term debt consist of

Short-term lines of credit $3066
Current maturities of long-term debt 3366

Total $6432
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Credit Facility

On May 2010 MIT and Ray McDermott S.A JRMSA direct wholly owned subsidiary of MIT

entered into credit agreement the Credit Agreement with syndicate of lenders and letter of credit issuers

relating to our credit facility JRMSA was the initial borrower under the Credit Agreement and on July 30 2010

MIT replaced JRIvISA as the borrower under the Credit Agreement The Credit Agreement replaced JRMSA

prior $800 million senior secured revolving credit facility All amounts outstanding under JRMSA previous

senior secured revolving credit facility were repaid with borrowings under the Credit Agreement and all letters

of credit outstanding under that previous facility are now deemed issued under the Credit Agreement

The Credit Agreement provides for revolving credit borrowings and issuances of letters of credit in an

aggregate outstanding amount of up to $900 million and the credit facility is scheduled to mature on May

2014 Proceeds from borrowings under the Credit Agreement are available for working capital needs and other

general corporate purposes The Credit Agreement includes procedures for additional financial institutions to

become lenders or for any existing lender to increase its commitment thereunder subject to an aggregate

maximum of $1.2 billion for all revolving loan and letter of credit commitments under the Credit Agreement

Other than customary mandatory prepayments in connection with casualty events the Credit Agreement

requires only interest payments on quarterly basis until maturity We may prepay all loans under the Credit

Agreement at any time without premium or penalty other than customary LIBOR breakage costs subject to

certain notice requirements

The Credit Agreement contains financial covenants relating to leverage and interest coverage
and includes

covenants that restrict among other things debt incurrence liens investments acquisitions asset dispositions

dividends prepayments of subordinated debt mergers
and capital expenditures At December 31 2010 we were

in compliance with these covenant requirements

Loans outstanding under the Credit Agreement bear interest at the borrowers option at either the Eurodollar

rate plus margin ranging from 2.50% to 3.50%
per year or the base rate the highest of the Federal Funds rate

plus 0.50% the 30-day Eurodollar rate plus 1.0% or the administrative agents prime rate plus margin ranging

from 1.50% to 2.50% per year The applicable margin for revolving loans varies depending on the credit ratings

of the Credit Agreement We are charged commitment fee on the unused portions of the Credit Agreement

which varies between 0.375% and 0.625% per year depending on the credit ratings of the Credit Agreement

Additionally we are charged letter of credit fee of between 2.50% and 3.50% per year with respect to the

amount of each financial letter of credit issued under the Credit Agreement and letter of credit fee of between

1.25% and 1.75% per year with respect to the amount of each performance letter of credit issued under the Credit

Agreement in each case depending on the credit ratings of the Credit Agreement Under the Credit Agreement

we also pay customary issuance fees and other fees and expenses
in connection with the issuance of letters of

credit under the Credit Agreement In connection with entering into the Credit Agreement we paid certain

up-front fees to the lenders thereunder and certain arrangement and other fees to the arrangers and agents under

the Credit Agreement which are being amortized to interest expense over the term of the Credit Agreement

At December 31 2010 there were no borrowings outstanding and letters of credit issued under the Credit

Agreement totaled $254.6 million At December 31 2010 there was $645.4 million available for borrowings or

to meet letter of credit requirements under the Credit Agreement Borrowings under this facility during the year

ended December 31 2010 had an applicable interest rate of approximately 5.25% per annum In addition Mu

and its subsidiaries had $331.0 million in outstanding unsecured letters of credit at December 31 2010

Based on the credit ratings at December 31 2010 applicable to the Credit Agreement the applicable margin

for Eurodollar-rate loans was 3.00% the applicable margin for base-rate loans was 2.00% the letter of credit fee

for financial letters of credit was 3.00% the letter of credit fee for performance letters of credit was 1.50% and

the commitment fee for unused portions of the Credit Agreement was 0.50% The Credit Agreement does not

have floor for the base rate or the Eurodollar rate
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North Ocean Construction Financing

On September 30 2010 MIT as guarantor and North Ocean 105 AS in which we have 75% ownership

interest as borrower entered into financing agreement to finance portion of the construction costs of

pipeline construction support vessel to be named the North Ocean 105 The agreement provides for borrowings

of up to $69.4 million bearing interest at 2.76% per year and requires principal repayment in 17 consecutive

semi-annual installments commencing on the earlier of six months after the delivery date of the vessel and

October 2012 Borrowings under the agreement are secured by among other things pledge of all of the

equity of North Ocean 105 AS mortgage on the North Ocean 105 and lien on substantially all of the other

assets of North Ocean 105 AS MIT unconditionally guaranteed all amounts to be borrowed under the

agreement As of December 31 2010 there were $3.4 million in borrowings outstanding under this agreement

Oceanteam Debt Vessel-Owning Joint Ventures

In December 2009 we entered into vessel-owning joint venture transaction with Oceanteam ASA as

discussed in Note As result of this transaction we included consolidated notes payable of approximately

$51.9 million on our balance sheet of which approximately $8.5 million is classified as current JRIVISA has

guaranteed approximately 50% of this debt based on its ownership percentages in the vessel-owning companies

Unsecured Performance Guarantee Middle East

In December 2005 JRMSA as guarantor and its subsidiary Ray McDermott Middle East Inc

subsidiary of JRMSA JRM Middle East entered into $105.2 million unsecured performance guarantee

issuance facility with syndicate of commercial banking institutions to provide credit support for bank

guarantees issued in connection with three major projects On February 2008 JRM Middle East entered into

an $88.8 million unsecured performance guarantee issuance facility to replace the $105.2 million facility which

it terminated on February 14 2008 This facility continues to provide credit
support for bank guarantees for the

duration of the three projects At December 31 2010 the outstanding amount under this facility is included in the

$331.0 million of outstanding letters of credit referenced above On an annualized basis the
average commission

rate of this facility is less than 1.5% JRMSA is also guarantor of the new facility

Surety Bonds Atlantic

Tn 2007 JRMSA executed general agreement of indemnity in favor of surety underwriter based in

Mexico relating to surety bonds that underwriter issued in support of contracting activities of Ray McDermott

de Mexico S.A de C.V subsidiary of JRMSA As of December 31 2010 bonds issued under this

arrangement totaled $5.1 million

NOTE 5PENSION PLANS AND POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS

We historically provided retirement benefits for most of our regular employees through noncontributory

defined benefit pension plans The Retirement Plan for Employees of Ray McDermott Holdings LLC and

Participating Subsidiary and Affiliated Companies the Ray Plan generally provided benefits for certain

U.S.-based employees of McDermotts offshore oil and gas construction segment while the Retirement Plan for

Employees of McDermott Incorporated and Participating Subsidiary and Affiliated Companies the MT Plan

generally provided benefits for certain corporate and other U.S.-based employees We also provide supplemental

defined pension benefits to certain U.S.-based employees The Ray McDermott S.A Third Country National

Employees Pension Plan the TCN Plan provides retirement benefits for certain of our foreign employees

Tn 2003 the Ray Plan was closed to new entrants and benefit accruals were frozen for existing

participants Tn 2006 the MT Plan was closed to new entrants and benefit accruals were frozen for certain

participants based on years of service In 2007 other participants in the MI Plan who met certain years of service

criteria were given the option of continuing to accrue benefits under the MI Plan or having benefit accruals
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frozen and receiving company contributions under McDermotts qualified defined contribution 401k plan

Additionally on May 31 2010 the MI Plan was merged into the Ray Plan In connection with the merger of

the plans we made contribution of $84 million to fund the anticipated future benefit obligations under the

continuing Ray Plan which was renamed the McDermott U.S Retirement Plan the McDermott Plan

Effective June 30 2010 in connection with the BW spin-off benefit accruals under the McDermott Plan were

frozen for all participants The McDermott Plan and the supplemental defined pension benefits are collectively

referred to as the Domestic Plan

Retirement benefits are based on final average compensation and years
of service subject to the applicable

freeze in benefit accruals under the plans Our funding policy is to fund the plans as recommended by the

respective plan actuaries and in accordance with the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 as

amended or other applicable law The Pension Protection Act of 2006 modified the funding requirements for

single-employer defined benefit pension plans Funding provisions under the Pension Protection Act of 2006

accelerated funding requirements to ensure full funding of benefits accrued

Obligations and Funded Status

Domestic Plan TCN Plan

Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 December 31

2010 2009 2010 2009

In thousands

Change in benefit obligation

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $552854 572017 37800 30313

Service cost 543 888 2305 2179

Interest cost 30639 31460 2185 1984

Actuarial loss gain 36270 20036 5879 4106

Transfers 25871 3680

Divestitures 6863

Curtailments 2258

Benefits paid 34083 35155 979 782

Benefit obligation at end of year
$551231 552854 47190 37800

Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year
$416252 448173 25634 19156

Actual return on plan assets 47547 4856 2588 4960

Company contributions 90568 6074 5300 2300

Plan merger 14431 2016

Benefits paid 34083 35155 979 782

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 505853 416252 32543 25634

Funded status 45378 $136602 $l4647 $12166

Amounts recognized in balance sheet consist of

Accrued pension liabilitycurrent 4797 11395 4000 5300

Pension liability
40581 125207 10647 6866

Accrued benefit liability net 45378 $136602 $14647 $l2166

Amounts recognized in accumulated comprehensive loss

Net actuarial loss gain $129830 143840 14505 11552

Prior service cost credit 1558 31 47

Total before taxes $129830 142282 14536 11599

Supplemental information

Plans with accumulated benefit obligation in excess of plan assets

Projected benefit obligation $551231 552854 47190 37800

Accumulated benefit obligation $551231 547759 38165 30869

Fair value of plan assets $505852 416251 32543 25634
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Domestic Plan TCN Plan

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31 December 31

2010 2009 2010 2009

In thousands

Increase in accumulated other comprehensive loss due to actuarial

lossesbefore taxes $16492 $13757 $5120 $474

We have recognized in 2010 and expect to recognize in 2011 the following amounts in other comprehensive

loss as component of net periodic benefit cost

Assumptions

To Be Recognized

Recognized in 2010 in 2011

Domestic TCN Domestic TCN
Plan Plan Plan Plan

In thousands

Domestic Plan

2010 2009

The expected rate of return on plan assets assumption is based on the long-term expected returns for the

investment mix of assets currently and anticipated in the portfolio In setting this rate we use building-block

approach Historic real retum trends for the various asset classes in the plans portfolio are combined with

Components of periodic benefit cost

Service cost

Interest cost

Expected return on plan assets

Amortization of net loss

Amortization of prior service cost credit

Recognized gain loss due to curtailments and other

adjustments

Net periodic benefit cost

Domestic Plan TCN Plan

Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 December 31

2010 2009 2010 2009

In thousands

543 888 2305 2179

30639 31460 2185 1766

30830 28210 1829 1392
18071 18698 2167 2390

268 725 16 16

1185 282

16970 22111 4844 5241

$18071 $2167

268 16

$17803 $2183

Pension cost in accumulated other comprehensive loss

Net actuarial loss

Prior service cost credit

Weighted average assumptions used to determine net periodic

benefit obligations at December 31

Discount rate

Rate of compensation increase

Weighted average assumptions used to determine net periodic

benefit cost for the years ended December 31

Discount rate

Expected return on plan assets

Rate of compensation increase

$16500 $2736

16

$16500 $2752

TCN Plan

2010 2009

5.30% 5.90% 5.25% 6.00%

N/A N/A 4.50% 4.50%

5.85%

7.05%

1.49%

5.67%

6.87%

2.34%

5.25%

7.50%

4.50%

6.00%

6.80%

4.50%

67



anticipated future market conditions to estimate the real rate of return for each class These rates are then

adjusted for anticipated future inflation to determine estimated nominal rates of return for each class The

expected rate of return on plan assets is determined to be the weighted average of the nominal returns based on

the weightings of the classes within the total asset portfolio We have been using an expected return on plan

assets assumption of 5.75% for our Domestic Plan and 7.50% for our TCN Plan which is consistent with the

long-term asset returns of the portfolio

Investment Goals

General

The current overall investment strategy of the pension trusts is to avoid excessive risk and minimize the

probability of loss of principal over the long term The current specific investment goals that have been set for

the pension trusts in the aggregate are to ensure that plan liabilities are met when due and to achieve an

investment return on trust assets consistent with reasonable level of risk

Allocations to each asset class for both the Domestic Plan and TCN Plan are reviewed periodically and

rebalanced if appropriate to assure the continued relevance of the goals objectives and strategies The pension

trusts for both our Domestic Plan and our TCN Plan employ professional investment advisor and number of

professional investment managers whose individual benchmarks are in the aggregate
consistent with the plans

overall investment objectives The goals of each investment manager are to meet in the case of passive

accounts or exceed for actively managed accounts the benchmark selected and agreed upon by the manager

and the Trust and to display an overall level of risk in its portfolio that is consistent with the risk associated

with the agreed upon benchmark The estimated allocations discussed below are periodically reviewed to assess

the appropriateness of the particular funds in which they are invested and these estimated allocations are subject

to change

The investment performance of total portfolios as well as asset class components is periodically measured

against commonly accepted benchmarks including the individual investment manager benchmarks In evaluating

investment manager performance consideration is also given to personnel strategy research capabilities

organizational and business matters adherence to discipline and other qualitative factors that may impact the

ability to achieve desired investment results

Domestic Plan

The following is summary of the Domestic Plans asset allocations at December 31 2010 and 2009 by

asset category The changes in the allocation of assets at December 31 2010 compared to December 31 2009 are

primarily result of the BW spin-off The funds from the Ray Plan and the MI Plan were combined in July

2010 and invested primarily in fixed income funds which was the historical asset allocation of the Ray Plan

2010 2009

Asset Category

Fixed Income 99% 32%

Equity Securities 25%

Conmiingled and Mutual Funds 15%

U.S Government Securities 12%

Partnerships with Security Holdings 10%

Real Estate 4%

Other 1% 2%

Total 100% 100%
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The estimated allocation for 2011 for the domestic plans by asset class is as follows

Domestic Plans

Asset Class

Fixed Income 90%

Equity Securities 10%

TCN Plan

The weighted average asset allocations of this plan at December 31 2010 and 2009 by asset category was as

follows

2010 2009

Asset Category

Equity Securities 70% 70%

Fixed Income 30% 30%

Total 100% 100%

The estimated allocation for 2011 for the TCN Plan by asset class is as follows

2011 Estimate

Asset Class

Equity 70%

Fixed Income 30%

Fair Value

The following is summary of total investments for our plans measured at fair value at December 31 2010

and 2009 See Note for detailed description of fair value measurements and the hierarchy established for

valuation inputs

12/31/10 Level Level Level

In thousands

Pension Benefits

Fixed Income $514594 $514594

Equities 23424 23424
Cash and Accrued Items 378 378

Total Investments 53396 $538396

12/31/09 Level Level Level

In thousands

Pension Benefits

Fixed Income $285398 $285398

Equities 135345 113005 22340

Commingled and Mutual Funds 7698 7698
U.S Government Securities

Partnerships with Security Holdings

Real Estate 13175 13175

Cash and Accrued Items 270 270

Total Investments $441886 $398673 $30038 $13175
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The following is summary of the changes in the Plans Level instruments measured on recurring basis

for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 In thousands

2010 2009

Balance at beginning of period $13175 $19062

Issuances and acquisitions 200

Dispositions and BW spin-off 13175 936
Realized loss 91
Unrealized gain 5061

Balance at end of period $13175

Cash Flows

Domestic Plan TCN Plan

In thousands

Expected employer contributions to trusts of defined benefit plans

2011 3150 4000

Expected benefit payments

2011 34718 3750

2012 35395 3508

2013 36078 4582

2014 36778 4164

2015 37304 3995

2016-2020 $194782 $40290

The expected employer contributions to trusts for 2011 are included in current liabilities at December 31

2010

Defined Contribution Plans

We provide benefits under the McDermott International Inc Director and Executive Deferred

Compensation Plan Deferred Compensation Plan which is defined contribution plan Expense associated

with the Deferred Compensation Plan was not material to the consolidated financial statements for the years

presented

We also provide benefits under the McDermott Thrift Plan f/k/a the Thrift Plan for Employees of

McDermott Incorporated and Participating Subsidiary and Affiliated Companies Thrift Plan The Thrift Plan

generally provides for matching employer contributions of 50% of participants contributions up to percent of

compensation The Thrift Plan provides for unmatched employer cash contributions to certain hourly employees

as well as service-based contributions to salaried corporate employees Amounts charged to expense for

employer contributions under the Thrift Plan totaled approximately $6.7 million $7.3 million and $7.6 million in

the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively
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NOTE 6INVESTMENTS

The following is summary of our available-for-sale securities at December 31 2010

U.S Treasury securities and obligations of U.S Government

agencies

Money market instruments and short-term investments

Asset-backed securities and collateralized mortgage

obligations1

Corporate and foreign government bonds and notes

Total

Gross Gross Estimated

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

Cost Gains Losses Value

In thousands

$269154 $269161

1975 32 2007

14248 4379 9869

4167 4168

$289544 $41 $4380 $285205

Included in our asset-backed securities and collateralized mortgage obligations is approximately $7.4

million of commercial paper secured by mortgaged-backed securities These investments originally matured

in August 2007 but were extended

We believe the decline in fair value is generally attributable to the collapse in the residential mortgage

market We currently do not have the intent to sell these asset-backed and collateralized mortgage securities

before their anticipated recovery We do not consider these securities to be other than temporarily impaired at

December 31 2010

The 2009 and prior amounts presented below include BW operations which were spun-off on July 30

2010 The following is summary of our available-for-sale securities at December 31 2009

Gross Gross

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated

Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

In thousands

U.S Treasury securities and obligations of U.S Government

agencies $163310

Money market instruments and short-term investments 7445
Asset-backed securities and collateralized mortgage

obligations 17677

Corporate and foreign government bonds and notes 47147
______ ________

Total2 $235579
______ ________

Included in our asset-backed securities and collateralized mortgage obligations is approximately $7.5

million of commercial paper secured by mortgaged-backed securities These investments originally matured

in August 2007 but were extended We changed our investment policy effective in August 2007 to no longer

make new investments in asset-backed securities or asset-backed commercial paper These investments

represented approximately 1.0% of our total cash and cash equivalents and investments at December 31

2009

Fair value of $32.5 million pledged to secure payments under certain reinsurance agreements

At December 31 2010 our available-for-sale debt securities had contractual maturities primarily in 2011

and 2012

$166 10 $163466

21 7466

7122
89

$276 $7137

10555

47231

$228718

71



Proceeds gross realized gains and gross realized losses on sales of available-for-sale securities were as

follows

Gross Gross

Proceeds Realized Gains Realized Losses

In thousands

YearEndedDecember 31 2010 $1363803 91

Year Ended December 31 2009 331474 94

Year Ended December 31 2008 $1161960 $1345

NOTE 7DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

We enter into derivative financial instruments primarily as hedges of certain firm purchase and sale

commitments denominated in foreign currencies We record these contracts at fair value on our consolidated

balance sheets Depending on the hedge designation at the inception of the contract the related gains and losses

on these contracts are either deferred in stockholders equity as component of accumulated other

comprehensive loss until the hedged item is recognized in earnings or offset against the change in fair value

of the hedged firm conmiitment through earnings At the inception and on an ongoing basis we assess the

hedging relationship to determine its effectiveness in offsetting changes in cash flows attributable to the hedged

risk We exclude from our assessment of effectiveness the portion of the fair value of the forward contracts

attributable to the difference between spot exchange rates and forward exchange rates The ineffective portion of

derivatives change in fair value and any portion excluded from the assessment of effectiveness are

immediately recognized in earnings Gains and losses on derivative financial instruments that are immediately

recognized in earnings are included as component of other income expensenet in our consolidated

statements of income At December 31 2010 we had designated the majority of our foreign currency
forward-

exchange contracts as cash flow hedging instruments

At December 31 2010 we had deferred approximately $0.9 million of net losses on these derivative

financial instruments in accumulated other comprehensive loss and we expect to reclassify the net losses on the

derivative financial instruments in the periods that we reclassify the net gains on the forecasted transactions We
expect to reclassify out of accumulated other comprehensive loss approximately $1.9 million of the net deferred

losses over the next 12 months

At December 31 2010 the majority of our derivative financial instruments consisted of foreign currency

forward-exchange contracts The notional value of our forward contracts totaled $366.7 million at December 31

2010 with maturities extending to December 2013 These instruments consist primarily of contracts to purchase

or sell foreign-denominated currencies The fair value of these contracts was in net asset position totaling $1.4

million at December 31 2010 The fair value of outstanding derivative instruments is determined using

observable financial market inputs such as quoted market prices and is classified as Level in nature

72



The following tables summarize our derivative financial instruments at December 31 2010 2009 balance

sneet aata oeiow inciuues me spun-oil operations

Asset and Liability Derivatives

December 31 December 31
2010 2009

In thousands

Derivatives Designated as Hedges

Foreign Exchange Contracts

Location

Accounts receivableother 6066 $3527

Other assets 3225

Total asset derivatives 9291 $3527

Accounts payable 2207 $4313

Other liabilities 5733

Total liability derivatives 7940 $4313

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedges

Foreign Exchange Contracts

Location

Accounts receivableother 458

Accounts payable 65

Total derivatives not designated as hedges 523

Total derivatives $17231 $8363

The Effects of Derivative Instruments on our Financial Statements

December 31

2010 2009

In thousands

Derivatives Designated as Hedges

Cash Flow Hedges

Foreign Exchange Contracts

Amount of gain loss recognized in other comprehensive

income $3236 3267

Income loss reclassified from accumulated other

comprehensive loss into income effective portion

Location

Cost of operations 2474 304

Gain loss recognized in income ineffective portion and

amount excluded from effectiveness testing

Location

Other income expensenet $3434 3745

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedges

Foreign Exchange Contracts

Gain loss recognized in income

Location

Other income expensenet $6055
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Credit Risk

We are exposed to credit-related losses in the event of nonperformance by counterparties to derivative

financial instruments However when possible we enter into International Swaps and Derivative Association

Inc agreements with our hedge counterparties to mitigate this risk We also attempt to mitigate this risk by using

major financial institutions with high credit ratings and limiting our exposure to hedge counterparties based on

their credit ratings The counterparties to all of our derivative financial instruments are financial institutions

included in our credit facilities Our hedge counterparties have the benefit of the same collateral arrangements

and covenants as described under those facilities

NOTE 8FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer liability

an exit price in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date In addition to

defining fair value the authoritative accounting guidance expands disclosures about fair value measurements and

establishes hierarchy for valuation inputs that emphasizes the use of observable inputs when measuring fair

value financial instruments categorization within the fair value hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of

input that is significant to the fair value measurement The fair value hierarchy established by this topic is broken

down as follows

Level 1inputs are based upon quoted prices for identical instruments traded in active markets

Level 2inputs are based upon quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets quoted prices

for similaror identical instruments in inactive markets and model-based valuation techniques for which

all significant assumptions are observable in the market or can be corroborated by observable market

data for substantially the full term of the assets and liabilities

Level 3inputs are generally unobservable and typically reflect managements estimates of

assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability The fair values are

therefore determined using model-based techniques that include option pricing models discounted cash

flow models and similarvaluation techniques

The following sections describe the valuation methodologies we use to measure the fair values of our

available-for-sale securities and derivatives 2009 amounts presented below include the spun-off BW
operations

Available-for-Sale Securities

Investments other than derivatives primarily include U.S Government and agency securities money-market

funds mortgage-backed securities and corporate notes and bonds

In general and where applicable we use pricing service that principally uses composite of observable

prices and quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities to determine fair value This pricing

methodology applies to our Level and investments Our Level investment consists of asset-backed

commercial paper notes backed by pool of mortgage-backed securities The fair value of this Level

investment was based on the calculation of an overall weighted-average valuation using the prices of the

underlying individual securities Individual securities in the pool were valued based on market observed prices

where available If market prices were not available prices of similar securities backed by similar assets were

used

Our net unrealized loss on investments was approximately $4.3 million at December 31 2010 At

December 31 2009 we had net unrealized losses on our investments totaling approximately $6.9 million The

major components of our investments in an unrealized loss position are asset-backed obligations and commercial

paper Based on our analysis of these investments we believe that none of our available-for-sale securities were

other than temporarily impaired at December 31 2010
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Derivatives

Level derivative assets and liabilities primarily include over-the-counter forwards primarily consisting of

foreign exchange rate derivatives Where applicable the value of these derivative assets and liabilities is

computed by discounting the projected future cash flow amounts to present value using market-based observable

inputs including foreign exchange forward and spot rates interest rates and counterparty performance risk

adjustments

At December 31 2010 we had forward contracts outstanding to purchase or sell foreign currencies with

total notional value of $366.7 million and total fair value of $1.4 million

Fair Value MeasurementsRecurring Basis

The following is summary of our available-for-sale securities measured at fair value at December 31

2010

12/31/10 Level Level Level

In thousands

Mutual funds1 2007 $2007

Certificates of deposit

U.S Government and agency securities2 269161 269161

Asset-backed securities and collateralized mortgage obligations3 ... 9869 2497 7372

Corporate notes and bonds4 4168 4168 _____

Total $285205 $269161 $8672 $7372

The following is summary of our available-for-sale securities measured at fair value at December 31

2009

12/31/09 Level Level Level

In thousands

Mutual funds 4944 4944

Certificates of deposit 2522 2522

U.S Government and agency securities 163466 148683 14783

Asset-backed securities and collateralized mortgage obligations 10555 3061 7494

Corporate notes and bonds 47231 47231

Total $228718 $148683 $72541 $7494

Various U.S equities and other investments managed under mutual funds

Invesimenis in U.S Treasury secunties with maiuniies of iwo years or less

Asset-backed and mortgage-backed securities with maturities of up to 26
years

Corporate notes and bonds with maturities of three years or less
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Changes in Level Instrument

The following is summary of the changes in our Level instrument measured on recurring basis for the

years ended December 31 2010 and 2009

Year ended December 31

2010 2009

In thousands

Balance at beginning of period 7494 7456

Instruments attributable to discontinued operations 168
Total realized and unrealized gains 1821 2402

Purchases issuances and settlements 172

Principal repayments 1947 2364

Balance at end of period 7372 7494

Other Financial Instruments

We used the following methods and assumptions in estimating our fair value disclosures for our other

financial instruments as follows

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents The carrying amounts that we have

reported in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents approximate their fair

values

Long- and short-term debt We base the fair values of debt instruments on quoted market prices Where

quoted prices are not available we base the fair values on the present value of future cash flows discounted at

estimated borrowing rates for similardebt instruments or on estimated prices based on current yields for debt

issues of similar quality and terms

The estimated fair values of our financial instruments are as follows

December 31 2010 December 31 2009

Carrying Carrying
Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value

In thousands

Balance Sheet Instruments

Cash and cash equivalents $403463 $403463 $899270 $899270
Restricted cash and cash equivalents $197861 $197861 69920 69920
Investments $285205 $285205 $228718 $228718
Debt 55295 56180 72984 73505
Forward contracts 1352 1352 394 394
Foreign currency options 4747 4747

NOTE 9CAPITAL STOCK AND STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

Capital Stock

The Panamanian regulations that relate to acquisitions of securities of companies registered with the

Panamanian National Securities Commission such as MIT require among other matters that detailed disclosure

concerning an offeror be finalized before that person acquires beneficial ownership of more than 5% of the

outstanding shares of any class of our stock The detailed disclosure is subject to review by either the

Panamanian National Securities Commission or our Board of Directors Transfers of shares of common stock in

violation of these regulations are invalid and cannot be registered for transfer
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At December 31 2010 and 2009 approximately 14.3 million and 16.5 million shares of common stock

respectively were reserved for issuance in connection with our 2009 McDermott International Inc Long-Term

Incentive Plan the 2009 LTIP and our Thrift Plan

Stock Plans

BW Spin-off Changes

In connection with the spin-off of BW we made certain adjustments to our stock-based compensation

awards For our employees who held performance shares issued in or prior to May 2009 we cancelled the

performance shares and issued restricted stock in an amount equal to the fair value of the shares held

immediately prior to the spin-off For holders of restricted stock granted in or prior to May 2010 the holder

received additional units of restricted stock to maintain the total fair value of restricted stock held immediately

prior to the spin-off For stock options granted in or prior to May 2010 we adjusted the number of options held

by each holder so that the intrinsic value of the stock options held immediately following the spin-off equaled the

intrinsic value of the stock options held immediately prior to the spin-off The adjustments to stock-based

compensation awards were treated as modification and resulted in total incremental compensation cost of $14.5

million of which approximately $9.3 million was recognized in the year ended December 31 2010 and the

remainder will be expensed in 2011

2009 McDermott International Inc Long-Term Incentive Plan

In May 2009 our shareholders approved the 2009 LTIP Members of the Board of Directors executive

officers and key employees are eligible to participate in the plan The Compensation Committee of the Board of

Directors selects the participants for the plan The plan provides for number of forms of stock-based

compensation including incentive and non-qualified stock options restricted stock restricted stock units and

performance shares and performance units subject to satisfaction of specific performance goals Shares approved

under the 2001 Directors and Officers Long-Term Incentive Plan the 2001 LTIP that were not awarded as of

the date of approval of the 2009 LTIP or shares that are subject to awards that are cancelled terminated

forfeited expired or settled in cash in lieu of shares are available for issuance under the 2009 LTIP In addition

9000000 shares were authorized for issuance through the 2009 LTIP Options to purchase shares are granted at

the fair market value closing trading price on the date of grant and become exercisable at such time or times as

determined when granted and expire not more than seven years after the date of grant At December 31 2010 we

had total of 9484241 shares of our common stock available for award under the 2009 LTIP

2001 Directors and Officers Long-Term Incentive Plan

In May 2009 our shareholders approved the 2009 LTIP As result we no longer issue awards under the

2001 LTIP Members of the Board of Directors executive officers key employees and consultants were eligible
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for the plan The plan provided for number of forms of stock-based compensation including incentive and

nonqualified stock options stock appreciation rights restricted stock deferred stock units performance shares

and performance units subject to satisfaction of specific performance goals Options to purchase shares were

granted at not less than 100% of the fair market value average of the high and low trading price on the date of

grant became exercisable at such time or times as determined when granted and expire not more than seven

years after the date of the grant Options granted prior to May 2009 expire not more than ten years after the date

of the grant Shares of common stock available to be awarded under the 2001 LTIP are available under the terms

of the 2009 LTIP and have been included in the amount available for grant discussed above

1997 Director Stock Program

Until 2007 we also maintained 1997 Director Stock Program Under this program nonmanagement

directors were entitled to receive grant of options to purchase 2700 shares of our common stock in the first
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year of directors term and grant of options to purchase 900 shares in subsequent years of such term at

purchase price equal to the fair market value of one share of our common stock on the date of grant These

options became exercisable in full six months after the date of grant and expire ten years
from the date of

grant In addition nonmanagement directors were entitled to receive grant of 1350 shares of restricted stock in

the first year of directors term and 450 shares in subsequent years of such term The shares of restricted stock

were subject to payment by the director of purchase price at par value $1.00 per share and to transfer

restrictions that lapse at the end of the directors term By the terms of the 1997 Director Stock Program no

award may be granted under the program beginning June 2007 As result we made our final grants of stock

options and restricted stock under the 1997 Directors Stock Program in connection with our Annual Meeting of

Stockholders in May 2007 The shares of common stock available to be awarded under the 1997 Director Stock

Program are available under the terms of the 2001 LTIP Plan and have been included in the amount available for

grant discussed above

In the event of change in control of our company all of these stock-based compensation programs have

provisions that may cause restrictions to lapse with respect to restricted stock and accelerate the exercisability of

outstanding options

Total compensation expense recognized for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 was as

follows

Compensation Tax Net

Expense Benefit Impact

In thousands

Year Ended December 31 2010

Stock Options 2489 765 1724

Restricted Stock 4101 1079 3022

Restricted Stock Units 12662 3764 8898

Performance Shares 3437 1087 2350

Performance and Deferred Stock Units 723 259 464

Total $23412 $6954 $16458

Year Ended December 31 2009

Stock Options 1078 319 759

Restricted Stock 2882 566 2316

Restricted Stock Units 2956 887 2069

Performance Shares 9217 2817 6400

Performance and Deferred Stock Units 2127 684 1443

Total $18260 $5273 $12987

Year Ended December 31 2008

Stock Options
423 181 242

Restricted Stock 2263 383 1880

Performance Shares 12267 3431 8836

Performance and Deferred Stock Units 1760 545 1215

Total $16713 $4540 $12173

The impact on basic earnings per share of stock-based compensation expense recognized for the
years

ended

December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 was $0.07 $0.06 and $0.05 per share respectively and on diluted earnings

per share was $0.07 $0.06 and $0.05 per share respectively
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As of December 31 2010 total unrecognized estimated compensation expense related to nonvested awards

was $12.9 million net of estimated tax benefits of $7.0 million The components of the total gross unrecognized

estimated compensation expense of $19.9 million and their expected weighted-average periods for expense

recognition are as follows amounts in millions periods in years

Weighted-

Average
Amount Period

Stock options 4.8 1.9

Restricted stock 2.6 0.5

Restricted stock units $12.5 1.5

Stock Options

The fair value of each option grant was estimated at the date of grant using Black-Scholes with the

following weighted-average assumptions

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Risk-free interest rate 2.12% 2.03% N/A

Expected volatility 54% 78% N/A

Expected life of the option in
years 4.64 4.63 N/A

Expected dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% N/A

The risk-free interest rate is based on the implied yield on U.S Treasury zero-coupon
issue with

remaining term equal to the expected life of the option The expected volatility is based on implied volatility

from publicly traded options on our common stock historical volatility of the price of our connnon stock and

other factors The expected life of the option is based on observed historical patterns The expected dividend

yield is based on the projected annual dividend payment per share divided by the stock price at the date of grant

This amount is zero because we have not paid cash dividends in recent years and do not expect to pay cash

dividends for the foreseeable future

The following table summarizes activity for our stock options for the year ended December 31 2010 share

data in thousands

Weighted-

Weighted- Average Aggregate
Number Average Remaining Intrinsic

of Exercise Contractual Value

Shares Price Term in millions

Outstanding at beginning of period 2511 XX4

Granted 688 25.39

Exercised 1126 4.83

Spin-off adjustment 1266 6.68

Cancelled/expired/forfeited 958 26.51
________

Outstanding at end of period1 2381 7.42 5.0 Years $31.2

Exercisable at end of period 987 4.03 3.9 Years $16.3

Of the remaining outstanding shares we expect approximately 1.4 million shares to vest at weighted

average exercise price of $9.83

The aggregate intrinsic value included in the table above represents the total pretax intrinsic value that

would have been received by the option holders had all option holders exercised their options on December 31
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2010 The intrinsic value is calculated as the total number of option shares multiplied by the difference between

the closing price of our common stock on the last trading day and the exercise price of the options This amount

changes based on the fair market value of our common stock

The weighted-average fair value of the stock options granted in the years ended December 31 2010 and

2009 was $25.39 and $11.57 respectively There were no stock options granted in the year
ended December 31

2008 The total fair value of shares vested during the years ended December 31 2010 and 2008 was $1.6 million

and $2.2 million respectively No stock options vested in 2009

During the years
ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 the total intrinsic value of stock options

exercised was $4.0 million $5.6 million and $81.5 million respectively We recorded cash received in the years

ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 from the exercise of these stock options totaling $5.4 million $1.1

million and $9.6 million respectively

The actual tax benefits realized related to the stock options exercised during the years ended December 31

2010 2009 and 2008 were $0.8 million $1.8 million and $17.2 million respectively

Restricted Stock

Nonvested restricted stock awards as of December 31 2010 and changes during the year
ended

December 31 2010 were as follows share data in thousands

Weighted-

Number Average

of Grant Date

Shares Fair Value

Nonvested at beginning of period
222 $40.88

Granted 351 14.16

Vested 163 34.25

Spin-off adjustment
39 22.61

Cancelled/forfeited 72 32.15

Nonvested at end of period 377 $14.65

The actual tax benefits realized related to the restricted stock lapsed during the years ended December 31

2010 2009 and 2008 were $1.6 million $3.4 million and $3.3 million respectively

Restricted Stock Units

Nonvested restricted stock units as of December 31 2010 and changes during the year ended December 31

2010 were as follows share data in thousands

Weighted-

Number Average
of Grant Date

Shares Fair Value

Nonvested at beginning of period 1478 $11.25

Granted 666 25.39

Vested 1050 11.56

Transfers 794 16.55

Spin-off adjustment
996 12.93

Cancelled/forfeited 771 17.01

Nonvested at end of period 2113 $13.26
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Performance Shares and Deferred Stock Units

Nonvested performance share awards as of December 31 2010 and changes during the year ended

December 31 2010 were as follows share data in thousands

Weighted-
Number Average

of Grant Date
Shares Fair Value

Nonvested at beginning of period 1845 $32.57

Granted 393 26.19

Vested 1178 31.22

Cancelled/forfeited 1060 31.68

Nonvested at end of period

Nonvested performance and deferred stock unit awards as of December 31 2010 and changes during the

year ended December 31 2010 share data in thousands

Number Aggregate
of Intrinsic

Units Value

Nonvested at beginning of period 113

Granted

Vested 101
Cancelled/forfeited 12
Nonvested at end of period

As discussed above in connection with the spin-off of BW for our employees who held performance

shares issued in or prior to May 2009 we cancelled the performance shares and issued restricted stock in an

amount equal to the fair value of the shares held immediately prior to the spin-off

Thrfl Plan

On November 12 1991 15000000 of the authorized and unissued shares of Mil common stock were

reserved for issuance for the employer match to the Thrift Plan On October 11 2002 an additional 15000000
of the authorized and unissued shares of MIT common stock were reserved for issuance for the employer match to

the Thrift Plan Those employer matching contributions equal 50% of the first 6% of compensation as defined in

the Thrift Plan contributed by participants and fully vest and are nonforfeitable after three years of service or

upon retirement death involuntary termination of employment due to reduction in force or approved disability

During the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 we issued 282022 941348 and 112947 shares

respectively of MITs common stock as employer matching contributions
pursuant to the Thrift Plan At

December 31 2010 4795934 shares of Mlis common stock remained available for issuance under the Thrift

Plan Effective June 2010 MIT began making employer matching contributions in cash in lieu of MIT common
stock

NOTE 10INCOME TAXES

We provide for income taxes based on the tax laws and rates in the countries in which we conduct our

operations MIT is Panamanian corporation that earns all of its income outside of Panama As result we are

not subject to income tax in Panama We operate in various taxing jurisdictions around the world Each of these

jurisdictions has regime of taxation that varies not only with respect to nominal rates but also with respect to

the basis on which these rates are applied These variations along with changes in our mix of income from these

jurisdictions contribute to shifts in our effective tax rate
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We conduct business globally and as result we or one or more of our subsidiaries file income tax returns

in number of jurisdictions In the normal course of business we are subject to examination by taxing authorities

throughout the world including such major jurisdictions as Indonesia Malaysia Singapore Saudi Arabia

Kuwait India Qatar Azerbaijan and the United States With few exceptions we are no longer subject to tax

examinations for years prior to 2006

U.S state income tax returns are generally subject to examination for period of three to five years after

filing the respective returns With few exceptions we do not have any U.S state returns under examination for

years prior to 2006

reconciliation of unrecognized tax benefits for the year
ended December 31 2010 was as follows in

thousands 2009 and 2008 amounts include discontinued operations

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Balance at beginning of period
59113 $57484 64810

Increases based on tax positions taken in the current year 3511 9895 13575

Increases based on tax positions taken in prior years
920 1322 704

Decreases based on tax positions taken in prior years 875 775 6166

Unrecognized tax benefits transferred to discontinued operations 35920

Decreases due to settlements with tax authorities 95 8813 15027

Decreases due to lapse of applicable statute of limitation 242 412

Balance at end of period 26412 $59113 57484

The entire balance of unrecognized tax benefits at December 31 2010 would reduce our effective tax rate if

recognized

During the year
ended December 31 2010 we made additional accruals of $5.1 million offset by

reduction of $4.3 million related to the spin-off of BW resulting in recorded liabilities of approximately $16.4

million for the payment of tax-related interest and penalties At December 31 2009 and 2008 we had recorded

liabilities of approximately $15.6 million and $15.7 million respectively for the payment of tax-related interest

and penalties The additional accrual of $3.1 million during 2009 was offset by payments of $3.2 million
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the financial and tax

bases of assets and liabilities Significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31
2010 and 2009 were as follows

December 31

2010 2009

In thousands

Deferred tax assets

Pension liability 3093 210288
Accrued liabilities for self-insurance 1840 53737
Accrued liabilities for incentive compensation 23664 40305
Net operating loss carryforward 60172 78401
Accrued warranty expense 41324
State tax credits and net operating loss carryforward 25439 49805
Environmental and products liability 175 11678
Minimum tax credit carryforward 10657

Foreign tax credit carryforward 16062

Long-term contracts 9820 25475
Accrued vacation pay 963 12805
Investments in joint ventures and affiliated companies 2521
Other 2651 16851

Total deferred tax assets 127817 569909
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets 95734 108737
Deferred tax assets 32083 461172

Deferred tax liabilities

Property plant and equipment 16326 40275
Intangibles 32386
Prepaid drydock 7859 9468
Investments in joint ventures and affiliated companies 10630 6573
Other 2993 4873

Total deferred tax liabilities 37808 93575

Net deferred tax asset liability 5725 367597

Deferred tax assets and liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets

include

Current deferred tax assets 10323 11223
Noncurrent deferred tax assets 106360

Total deferred tax assets netcontinuing operations 10323 117583
Total deferred tax assets netdiscontinued operations 258812

Total 10323 376395

Current deferred tax liabilities 12849 3860
Noncurrent deferred tax liabilities 3199 4923

Total deferred tax liabilities netcontinuing operations 16048 8783
Total deferred tax liabilities netdiscontinued operations 15

Total 16048 8798

Net deferred tax asset liability 5725 367597
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Income before provision for income taxes was as follows

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands

u.s $132673 66688 22332

Other than U.S 436467 336801 146747

Income before provision for income taxes 303794 $270113 $124415

The provision for income taxes consisted of

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands

Other than U.S

Current $39352 $55309 $61387

Deferred 1830 5252 2180

Total provision for income taxes1 $41182 $60561 $63567

We have no income tax provision applicable to U.S federal state or local jurisdictions

The following is reconciliation of the Panama statutory federal tax rate to the consolidated effective tax

rate Effective January 2010 the Panama tax rate was reduced to 27.5%

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Panama federal statutory rate 27.5% 30% 30%

Non-Panama operations 32.8 27.4 15.3

Effect of change in tax rates 12.0

Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets 2.9 19.2 49.0

Audit settlements 2.8 2.6 14.2

Other L2 1.6

Effective tax rate attributable to continuing operations 13.6% 22.4% 51.1%

At December 31 2010 we had valuation allowance of $95.7 million for deferred tax assets which we expect

cannot be realized through carrybacks future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences or based on our

estimate of future taxable income We believe that our remaining deferred tax assets will more likely than not be

realized through carrybacks future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences and future taxable income

Any changes to our estimated valuation allowance could be material to our consolidated financial statements

We have foreign net operating loss carryforwards of $193.0 million available to offset future taxable income

in foreign jurisdictions Of the foreign net operating loss carryforwards $85.8 million is scheduled to expire in

2011 to 2013 The foreign net operating losses have valuation allowance of $38.1 million against the related

deferred taxes We have U.S federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $65.1 million which

carry $22.1 million valuation allowance These net operating loss carryforwards are scheduled to expire in

years 2023 to 2030 We have state net operating losses of $477.4 million available to offset future taxable income

in various states The state net operating loss carryforwards begin to expire in 2011 We are carrying valuation

allowance of $25.4 million against the deferred tax asset related to the state loss carryforwards We also have an

approximate $10.1 million valuation allowance against other deferred tax assets

We would be subject to withholding taxes if we were to distribute earnings from our U.S subsidiaries and

certain foreign subsidiaries At December 31 2010 the undistributed earnings of these subsidiaries were

$191.5 million Unrecognized deferred income tax liabilities including withholding taxes of approximately

$12.7 million would be payable upon distribution of these earnings We have provided $10.7 million of taxes on

earnings we intend to remit All other earnings are considered permanently reinvested
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NOTE 11EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income attributable to McDermott International Inc

by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period Diluted earnings per share

equals net income attributable to McDermott International Inc divided by the weighted average common shares

outstanding adjusted for the dilutive effect of our stock options and restricted stock units The diluted earnings

per share calculation excludes 221731 144243 and 22500 shares underlying outstanding stock-based awards

for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively as they were antidilutive

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands except shares and

per share amounts
Basic

Income from continuing operations less noncontrolling

interest 236566 206158 60649
Income loss from discontinued operations net of tax 34900 180898 368653

Net income attributable to McDermott International Inc 201666 387056 429302

Weighted average common shares 232173362 229471020 226918776

Basic earnings per common share

Income from continuing operations less noncontrolling

interest 1.02 0.90 0.27

Income loss from discontinued operations net of tax 0.15 0.79 1.62

Net income attributable to McDermott International Inc 0.87 1.69 1.89

Diluted

Income from continuing operations less noncontrolling

interest 236566 206158 60649
Income loss from discontinued operations net of tax 34900 180898 368653

Net income attributable to McDermott International Inc 201666 387056 429302

Weighted average common shares basic 232173362 229471020 226918776

Effect of dilutive securities

Stock options restricted stock and performance shares 3448667 4155856 3475006

Adjusted weighted average common shares 235622029 233626876 230393782

Diluted earnings per common share

Income from continuing operations less noncontrohng

interest 1.00 0.88 0.26

Income loss from discontinued operations net of tax 0.15 0.78 1.60

Net income attributable to McDermott International Inc 0.85 1.66 1.86

NOTE 12SEGMENT REPORTING

In connection with the July 30 2010 spin-off of BW we developed geographic-based reporting

structure which coincides with how our financial information is reviewed and evaluated on regular basis by our

chief operating decision maker Accordingly we now report our financial results under four reporting segments

consisting of Asia Pacific Atlantic the Middle East and Corporate For
purposes of the following presentation

all prior period segment disclosures have been restated to reflect the new segments and to account for the spin-off
of BW
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We account for intersegment sales at prices that we generally establish by reference to similar transactions

with unaffiliated customers Reporting segments are measured based on operating income which is defined as

revenues reduced by total costs and expenses and equity in loss of investees

Summarized financial information is shown in the following table

Information about Operations in our Different Segments

2010 2009 2008

Revenues

Asia Pacific 870410 997938 $1097230
Atlantic 183001 230428 372246
Middle East2 1350332 2053424 1628628

Total revenues $2403743 $3281790 $3098104

Segment revenues include the following intersegment

transfers and eliminations

Asia Pacific 154 17

Atlantic 20129 71136 72876
Middle East 330 4243
Eliminations 20613 75379 72893

Total adjustments and eliminations

Operating income3

Asia Pacific 88012 141494 75613
Atlantic 89692 20942 10478

Middle East 316585 158797 20896

Total operating income 314905 279349 106987

Segment assets

Asia Pacific 564403 395102 496266
Atlantic 265607 568601 463973
Middle East 1302398 885222 689805

Corporate 378969 562474 530141

Total continuing operations $2511377 $2411399 $2180185

Total discontinued operations 87311 $2437711 $2421508

Total assets $2598688 $4849110 $4601693

Capital expenditures

Asia Pacific 25345 47680 43859
Atlantic 100673 20122 44409
Middle East 47851 90893 75095

Corporate 12993 27823 42084

Total continuing operations 186862 186518 205447

Depreciation and amortization

Asia Pacific 19002 22347 30051

Atlantic 17681 15688 11453

Middle East 24357 21827 16908

Corporate 15412 20005 14143

Total continuing operations 76452 79867 72555
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2010 2009 2008

Investments in unconsolidated affiliates

Asia Pacific $41471 $10634

Atlantic 65 4018 4234

Corporate 3480 3953 4443

Total continuing operations $45016 $18605 8677

Total discontinued operations $68327 $61627

Total Investments in unconsolidated affiliates $45016 $86932 $70304

Includes revenues from Chevron Corporation and Exxon Mobil Corporation which account for 15% and

10% respectively of our 2010 consolidated revenues

Includes revenues from Saudi Aramco which accounts for 40% of our 2010 consolidated revenues

Operating income includes equity in loss of unconsolidated affiliates and gain loss on asset disposals and

impairment net

Information about our Service Lines

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands

REVENUES
Offshore Operations 883559 $1107866 $1175385

Fabrication Operations 412145 499916 412615

Project Services and Engineering Operations 255298 403845 407770

Procurement Activities 852838 1315929 1111795

Eliminations 97 45766 9461

$2403743 $3281790 $3098104

Information about our Operations in Different Geographic Areas

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands

REVENUES
Saudi Arabia 966504 657863 298167

Australia 373864 186164 187838

Qatar 352508 1293755 804545

Thailand 351275 226981 118567

United States 108377 131622 169109

Brazil 57128 243273 136060

Malaysia 52705 98321 184856

Vietnam 43528 166583 369016

Trinidad 18382 37566 155892

Azerbaijan 4899 22855 146587

India 3868 19520 351232

Other Countries 70705 197287 176235

$2403743 $3281790 $3098104
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Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands

PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT NET4
United Arab Emirates $407423 208061 176514

Indonesia 163111 215186 210409

Saudi Arabia 116289 12812

United States 114499 436130 386389

Mexico 49597 39157 48871

Trinidad 12178

Spain 16376

Canada 61 126571 72443

United Kingdom 58 145633 46753

Qatar 108695 57556

Other Countries 48155 58172 54934

$915569 $1337605 $1078859

Our marine vessels are included in the country in which they were operating as of year-end

NOTE 13RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

We are large business organization with worldwide operations and we engage in numerous purchase sale

and other transactions annually We have various types of business arrangements with corporations and other

organizations in which an executive officer director or nominee for director may also be director executive or

investor or have some other direct or indirect relationship We enter into these arrangements in the ordinary

course of our business and they typically involve us receiving some good or service on nonexclusive basis and

at arms-length negotiated rates or in accordance with regularly prepared price schedules

Certain of our grant agreements for restricted stock and restricted stock units awarded under various long-

term incentive plans provide that the withholding obligation of any applicable federal state or other taxes that

may be due on the vesting in the year ending December 31 2011 of those awards be satisfied by the grantee

returning to us the number of such vested shares having fair market value equal to the amount of such taxes

Additionally each of Messrs Stephen Johnson John Fees Perry Elders Gary Carlson Daniel

Houser John McCormack Stewart Mitchell John Nesser and Steven Roll and Ms Liane

llinrichs each current or former executive officer has irrevocably elected to satisfy withholding obligations

relating to all or portion of any applicable federal state or other taxes that may be due on the vesting in the year

ending December 31 2011 of certain shares of restricted stock and restricted stock units awarded under various

long-term incentive plans that do not provide for withholding method in the same manner These elections are

subject to approval of the Compensation Committee of our Board which approval was granted Accordingly this

withholding method will apply to an aggregate of 205316 shares held by Mr Johnson 142445 shares held by

Mr Fees 12886 shares held by Mr Elders 13136 shares held by Mr Carlson 12964 shares held by Mr Scott

Cummins 119901 shares held by Ms Hinrichs 19452 shares held by Mr Houser 29822 shares held by Mr
McCormack 14021 shares held by Mr Mitchell 120469 shares held by Mr Nesser and 21479 shares held by

Mr Roll In the year ended December 31 2010 similarwithholding method applied including with respect to

the exercise price and tax withholding on the exercise and hold of stock options prior to the Spin-off to an

aggregate of 30995 shares held by Mr Johnson 566507 shares held by Mr Fees 59019 shares held by Mr
Taff 93810 shares held by Mr Brandon Bethards 11805 shares held by Mr Cunimins 66862 shares held

by Ms Hinrichs 19613 shares held by Mr Houser 27992 shares held by Mr McCormack 22031 shares held

by Mr Mitchell 162684 shares held by Mr Nesser and 20342 shares held by Mr Roll that vested in the
year

ended December 31 2010 Those elections were also approved by the Compensation Committee We expect any

transfers reflecting shares of restricted stock returned to us will be reported in the SEC filings made by those
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transferring holders who are obligated to report transactions in our securities under Section 16 of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934

NOTE 14COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Investigations and Litigation

lawsuit entitled Coto Ray McDermott S.A et was filed in Civil Disthct Court for the Parish of

Orleans Louisiana in November 1995 The lawsuit arose out of the sinking of the DLB -269 off the coast of
Mexico on October 15 1995 At the time trial began in 2005 13 plaintiffs had claims pending primarily for post
traumatic stress disorder allegedly suffered as result of the incident Settlement agreements have been executed
with 10 of the 13 claimants Appeals of two outstanding judgments in principal amounts of

approximately $4.3
million and $5.8 million respectively are pending We intend to continue to vigorously defend the remaining
claims and expect that any adverse judgments against us would be covered by available insurance

On April 2009 two of our subsidiaries McDermott Gulf Operating Company MGOCand Ray
McDermott Canada Ltd through its registered business name Secunda Marine Services Secunda filed

lawsuit in the Supreme Court of Nova Scotia against Oceanografia Sociedad Anonima de Capital Variable

OSA and Con-Dive LLC for damages including unpaid charter hire for the charter of the vessel Bold
Endurance On or about April 13 2009 as security for the unpaid charter hire MGOC filed suit and obtained
seizure orders for saturation dive system aboard the Bold Endurance in the United States District Court for the
Southern District of Alabama in matter entitled McDermott Gulf Operating Company eta Con-Dive LLC
et The seizure was vacated on equitable grounds by the court via order dated May 29 2009 MGOC and
Secunda appealed the decision to the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit which affirmed the
order to vacate On April 13 2010 USA filed lawsuit entitled Oceanografia S.A de McDermott Guf
Operating Company Inc and Secunda Marine Services Inc in the United States District Court for the Southern
District of Alabama alleging wrongful arrest wrongful attachment and conversion of the saturation-diving
system USA claims damages for loss of revenue in excess of $10 million and physical damage to the equipment
and further

requests awards for punitive damages attorneys fees and costs We cannot reasonably estimate the
extent of potential adverse judgement against us if any and we intend to vigorously defend the wrongful
seizure suit and continue to pursue payment of the charter hire in the Supreme Court of Nova Scotia

Un November 17 2008 December 2008 and January 20 2009 three
separate alleged purchasers of our

conmion stock during the period from February 27 2008 through November 2008 filed purported class action

complaints against Mu Bruce Wilkinson Mlis former Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board
and Michael Taff Mils former Chief Financial Officer in the United States District Court for the Southern
District of New York Each of the complaints alleges that the defendants violated federal securities laws by
disseminating materially false and misleading information and/or concealing material adverse information

relating to the operational and financial status of three ongoing construction contracts for the installation of

pipelines off the coast of Qatar Each complaint sought relief including unspecified compensatory damages and
an award for costs and expenses The three cases were consolidated and transferred to the United States District

Court for the Southern District of Texas In May 2009 the plaintiffs filed an amended consolidated complaint
which among other things added Robert Deason JRMSAs former President and Chief Executive Officer as

defendant in the proceedings In July 2009 Mil and the other defendants filed motion to dismiss the

complaint which was referred to Magistrate Judge In February 2010 the Magistrate Judge issued

Memorandum and Recommendation on the motion finding that the plaintiffs had failed to state claim for relief

under the securities laws and therefore recommended to the District Court that the motion to dismiss be granted
Un March 26 2010 the Court issued an order adopting the Magistrate Judges recommendations in full and
dismissing the case However the order granted the plaintiffs leave to request to amend their complaint and on
April 30 2010 the plaintiffs filed motion with the District Court for leave to amend the complaint The
defendants filed their opposition to the plaintiffs motion in May 2010 and in December 2010 the Magistrate
Judge issued Memorandum and Recommendation that plaintiffs motion to amend be denied and that the case
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be finally dismissed In January 2011 the plaintiffs filed their objections to the Memorandum and

Recommendation and the defendants filed their response to those objections Oral argument was held before the

District Court on February 15 2011 and we await the District Court decision We cannot reasonably estimate the

extent of potential adverse judgement if any We continue to believe the substantive allegations contained in

the amended complaint are without merit and we intend to continue defending against these claims vigorously

On or about August 23 2004 declaratory judgment action entitled Certain Underwriters at Lloyds

London et al Ray McDermott Inc et al was filed by certain underwriters at Lloyds London and

Threadneedle Insurance Company Limited the London Insurers in the 23rd Judicial District Court

Assumption Parish Louisiana against MIT JRMI and two insurer defendants Travelers and INA seeking

declaration that the London Insurers have no obligation to indemnify MIT and JRMI for certain bodily injury

claims including claims for asbestos and welding rod fume personal injury which have been filed by claimants in

various state courts and an environmental claim involving Babcock Wilcox Power Generation Group Inc

subsidiary of BW BW PGG Additionally Travelers filed cross-claim requesting declaration of non-

coverage in approximately 20 underlying matters This proceeding was stayed by the court on January 2005

In proceeding entitled Antoine et vs Ray McDermott Inc et filed in the 24th Judicial District

Court Jefferson Parish Louisiana approximately 88 plaintiffs filed suit against approximately 215 defendants

including JRMI and Delta Hudson Engineering Corporation DHEC another affiliate of ours generally

alleging injuries for
exposure to asbestos and unspecified chemicals metals and noise while the plaintiffs were

allegedly employed as Jones Act seamen On January 10 2007 the District Court dismissed the Plaintiffs

claims without prejudice to their right to refile their claims On January 29 2007 in matter entitled Boudreaux

et al McDermott Inc et originally filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of

Texas 21 plaintiffs originally named in the Antoine matter filed suit against JRIvH MI and approximately 30

other employer defendants alleging Jones Act seaman status and generally alleging exposure to welding fumes

solvents dyes industrial paints and noise Boudreaux was transferred to the United States District Court for the

Eastern District of Louisiana on May 2007 The District Court entered an order in September 2007 staying the

matter until further order of the court due to the bankruptcy filing of one of the co-defendants Additionally on

January 29 2007 in matter entitled Antoine et McDermott Inc et filed in the 164th Judicial District

Court for Harris County Texas 43 plaintiffs originally named in the Antoine matter filed suit against JRMI MI
and approximately 65 other employer defendants and 42 maritime products defendants alleging Jones Act

seaman status and generally alleging personal injuries for exposure to asbestos and noise On April 27 2007 the

District Court entered an order staying all activity and deadlines in this matter other than service of process and

answer/appearance dates until further order of the court The plaintiffs filed motion to lift the stay on

February 20 2009 which is pending before the District Court The plaintiffs seek monetary damages in an

unspecified amount in both cases and attorneys fees in the new Antoine case

Additionally due to the nature of our business we are from time to time involved in routine litigation or

subject to disputes or claims related to our business activities including among other things

performance- or warranty-related matters under our customer and supplier contracts and other business

arrangements and

workers compensation claims Jones Act claims premises liability claims and other claims

Based upon our prior experience we do not expect that any of these other litigation proceedings disputes

and claims will have material adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition results of operations or

cash flows

Environmental Matters

We have been identified as potentially responsible party at various cleanup sites under the Comprehensive

Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act as amended CERCLA and other state and foreign

CERCLA-type environmental laws Such laws can impose liability for the entire cost of cleanup on any of the
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potentially responsible parties regardless of fault or the lawfulness of the original conduct Generally however

where there are multiple responsible parties final allocation of costs is made based on the amount and type of

wastes disposed of by each party and the number of financially viable parties although this may not be the case

with respect to any particular site We have not been determined to be major contributor of wastes to any of

these sites On the basis of our relative contribution of waste to each site we expect our share of the ultimate

liability for the various sites will not have material adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition

results of operations or cash flows in any given year

At December 31 2010 and 2009 we had total environmental reserves of $2.9 million and $3.2 million

respectively excluding BW reserves Of our total environmental reserves at December 31 2010 and 2009 $2.4

million and $3.2 million respectively were included in current liabilities Inherent in the estimates of those

reserves and recoveries are our expectations regarding the levels of contamination remediation costs and

recoverability from other parties which may vary significantly as remediation activities progress Accordingly

changes in estimates could result in material adjustments to our operating results and the ultimate loss may differ

materially from the amounts that we have provided for in our consolidated financial statements

Contracts Containing Liquidated Damages Provisions

Some of our contracts contain penalty provisions that require us to pay liquidated damages if we are

responsible for the failure to meet specified contractual milestone dates and the applicable customer asserts

claim under these provisions These contracts define the conditions under which our customers may make claims

against us for liquidated damages In many cases in which we have historically had potential exposure
for

liquidated damages such damages ultimately were not asserted by our customers As of December 31 2010 it is

possible that we may incur liabilities for liquidated damages aggregating approximately $82 million of which

$14 million has been recorded in our financial statements based on our actual or projected failure to meet certain

specified contractual milestone dates The date range during which these potential liquidated damages could arise

is from June 2008 to May 2011 We are in active discussions with our customers on the issues giving rise to

delays in these projects and in January 2011 we reached an agreement with one customer to reduce these

potential liquidated damages by approximately $19 million We believe we will be successful in obtaining

schedule extensions or other customer agreed changes that should resolve the potential for additional liquidated

damages being incurred However we may not achieve relief on some or all of the issues We do not believe any

amounts for these potential liquidated damages in excess of the amounts recorded in our financial statements are

probable of being paid by us

Other

Mu BW PGG and McDermott Holdings Inc which in connection with the spin-off of BW was

renamed Babcock Wilcox Holdings Inc and merged with BW have jointly executed general agreements of

indemnity in favor of various surety underwriters relating to surety bonds those underwriters issued in support of

BW PGGs contracting activity As of December 31 2010 bonds issued under such arrangements totaled

approximately $82.3 million Pursuant to the master separation agreement entered into between us and BW in

connection with the spin-off BW has agreed to indemnify us with respect to any losses we may incur in

connection with these surety bonds BW is in the process
of obtaining releases of our obligations relating to

certain of these surety bonds as it enters into new bonding arrangements with sureties
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Operating Leases

Future minimum payments required under operating leases that have initial or remaining noncancellable

lease terms in excess of one year at December 31 2010 are as follows in thousands

Fiscal Year Ending December 31
_________

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

Thereafter

Total rental expense for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 was $47.9 million $54.1

million and $67.8 million respectively These expense amounts include contingent rentals and are net of sublease

income neither of which is material

NOTE 15QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA UNAUDITED

The following tables set forth selected unaudited quarterly financial information for the years ended

December 31 2010 and 2009

Quarter Ended

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
Year Ended December 312010 2010 2010 2010 2010

In thousands except per share amounts

$504882 $627144 $732095 $539622

73187 98142 84303 59273

Revenues

Operating income

Income from continuing operations less noncontrolling

interest

Income loss from discontinued operations net of tax

Net income

Basic earnings per common share

Income from continuing operations less noncontrolling

interest

Income loss from discontinued operations net of

tax

Net income

51562 78691 60833 45480

8379 2657 40030 592

59941 76034 20803 44888

Diluted earnings per common share

Income from continuing operations less noncontrolling

interest 0.22

Income loss from discontinued operations net of

tax 0.04$
Net income 0.26

See Note 2for discussion on discontinued operations and other charges

Amount

9958

7791

7247

6365

4208

$121806

Per Share Data

0.22 0.34 0.26 0.20

0.04 0.01 0.17
0.26 0.33 0.09 0.19

0.34 0.26 0.19

0.01 0.17
0.32 0.09 0.19
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Quarter Ended

March 31 june 30 September 30 December 31
Year Ended December 312009 2009 2009 2009 2009

In thousands except per share amounts

Revenues $693748 $818770 $1012474 $756798

Operating income 34076 56829 97589 90855

Income from continuing operations less noncontrolling

interest 21328 35415 76056 73359

Income loss from discontinued operations net of tax 56364 57140 42051 25343

Net income 77692 92555 118107 98702

Per Share Data

Basic earnings per common share

Income from continuing operations less noncontrolling

interest 0.09 0.15 0.33 0.32

Income from discontinued operations net of tax 0.25 0.25 0.18 0.11

Net income 0.34 0.40 0.51 0.43

Diluted earnings per common share

Income from continuing operations less noncontrolling

interest 0.09 0.15 0.32 0.32

Income from discontinued operations net of tax 0.24 0.25 0.18 0.11

Net income 0.33 0.40 0.50 0.43
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Item CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None

Item 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this annual report we carried out an evaluation under the

supervision and with the participation of our management including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief

Financial Officer of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as

that term is defined in Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e adopted by the SEC under the Securities Exchange Act of

1934 as amended the Exchange Act Our disclosure controls and procedures were developed through

process
in which our management applied its judgment in assessing the costs and benefits of such controls and

procedures which by their nature can provide only reasonable assurance regarding the control objectives You

should note that the design of any system of disclosure controls and procedures is based in part upon various

assumptions about the likelihood of future events and there can be no assurance that
any design will succeed in

achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions regardless of how remote Based on the evaluation

referred to above our Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer concluded that the design and

operation of our disclosure controls and procedures are effective as of December 31 2010 to provide reasonable

assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange

Act is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of

the Securities and Exchange Commission and such information is accumulated and communicated to

management including its principal executives and principal financial officers or persons performing similar

functions as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure

Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial

reporting as that term is defined in Rules 3a- 151 and 15d- 151 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

and for our assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting

Our internal control over financial reporting includes policies and procedures that pertain to the

maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of

our assets provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of

our consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that

receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and Board

of Directors and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized

acquisition use or disposition of our assets that could have material effect on the consolidated financial

statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the

policies or procedures may deteriorate

Our management including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer has conducted an

assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2010 based on

the framework established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission the COSO Framework This assessment included an evaluation of

the design of our internal control over financial reporting and testing of the operational effectiveness of those

controls Based on our assessment under the criteria described above management has concluded that our internal

control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31 2010 Deloitte Touche LLP has audited our

internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2010 and their report is included in Item 9A
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended

December 31 2010 that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control

over financial reporting

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of

McDermott International Inc

Houston Texas

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of McDermott International Inc and

subsidiaries the Company as of December 31 2010 based on criteria established in Internal Control

Integrated Framework issued by the Conmiittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission The

Companys management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for

its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying

Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to express an opinion

on the Companys internal control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our

audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that

material weakness exists testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based

on the assessed risk and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We
believe that our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed by or under the supervision of

the companys principal executive and principal financial officers or persons performing similar functions and

effected by the companys board of directors management and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting

includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail

accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable

assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made

only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and provide reasonable

assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the

companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting including the possibility of

collusion or improper management override of controls material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be

prevented or detected on timely basis Also projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal

control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate

because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate

In our opinion the Company maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial

reporting as of December 31 2010 based on the criteria established in Internal Control Integrated

Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
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We have also audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule as of and for the year

ended December 31 2010 of the Company and our report dated March 2011 expressed an unqualified opinion

on those financial statements and financial statement schedule and included an explanatory paragraph regarding

the Companys completed spin-off of its Government Operations and Power Generations Systems segments into

an independent publicly traded company named The Babcock Wilcox Company

Houston Texas

Marchl2011

Item 9B OTHER INFORMATION

Amendments to Amended and Restated By-Laws

On February 28 2011 the Board of Directors of McDermott the Board approved amendments to and

restatement of the Companys Amended and Restated By-Laws as amended the By-Laws The amendments

among other things updated the following provisions of the By-Laws

Notice of Stockholder Meetings The By-Laws were amended to clarify that the Chief Executive Officer or

the Secretary of the Company may transmit or direct the transmission of notice of meetings of stockholders or

waiver of notice of such meetings

Right to Call Special Meetings of Stockholders The By-Laws were amended to permit the Chairman of the

Board of Directors to call special meeting of stockholders and to clarify that only the Chairman of the

Board the Chief Executive Officer and the Board may call special meeting of stockholders and the

business to be conducted at any such special meeting of stockholders would be limited to the purpose for which

the meeting was called

Quorum and Voting Standard for Stockholder Meetings The By-Laws were amended to clarify that the

record date fixed by the Board in accordance with the Articles of Incorporation shall be used for determining

whether the quorum requirement for the transaction of business at meetings of stockholders has been met

broker non-votes will be considered present at the meeting with respect to the determination of quorum

and broker non-votes will not be considered as actually voting on matters at any meeting of stockholders

Appointment of Inspector of Election and Vote by Ballot The By-Laws were amended to remove the ability

of holders of 10% or more of the voting power of shares of the outstanding stock of the Company present and

entitled to vote on any matter to request the appointment of inspector of elections or request vote by ballot

Stockholders Meetings The By-Laws were amended to permit the Lead Director to preside over meeting

of stockholders in the absence of the Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board and to permit director

or officer of the Company who is present at the meeting to preside over the meeting in the absence of the Chief

Executive Officer Chairman of the Board Lead Director and Vice Chairman of the Board

Business at Annual Meeting of Stockholders The By-Laws were amended to clarify that with respect to

business to be conducted at the annual meeting of stockholders which may be brought by any stockholder of

record at the time of giving notice of such business unless otherwise required by applicable law the chairman of

the meeting of stockholders may refuse to permit business to be brought before the meeting of stockholders if

such stockholder does not comply with the provisions of Article Section 10 or if such stockholder does not

appear in person or by proxy at such meeting

Meetings of the Board The By-Laws were amended to expressly provide for telephonic meetings of the

Board permit the Lead Director to preside over meetings of the Board if the Chairman of the Board is absent

or so requests expressly define what constitutes quorum for meetings of the Board majority of the total
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number of directors in office and the voting standard required for actions by the Board majority of the

ptesiii at aiieuug UI WIIILIi quuiuiii IS pLsI1y auu cAplessly pelnul we Bourn Lu Laic aciiuii uy

written consent

Committees of the Board The By-Laws were amended to clarify the notice required for meetings of

committees of the Board permit each committee to fix its rules of procedure and expressly permit the

committees of the Board to hold telephonic meetings and take action by written consent

Nominees for Directors The By-Laws were amended to clarify that director may continue to serve until

the completion of the Board meeting occurring in connection with the first annual meeting of stockholders

immediately following his or her attainment of age 72 or if there is no such Board meeting until the completion

of the annual meeting of stockholders

Officers of the Company The By-Laws were amended to revise the list of officers expressly contemplated

under the By-Laws and to permit any officer of the Company to be removed by written consent of the Board

Indemnification The By-Laws were amended to provide that the Company may indemnify and advance

expenses to certain employees agents or fiduciaries of the Company upon the adoption of resolution of the

Board and include severability clause applicable in the event any
indemnification provision in the By-Laws

is held to be invalid illegal or unenforceable

The foregoing summary of the amendments to the By-Laws is qualified in its entirety by reference to the

text of the Amended and Restated By-Laws of the Company as amended to March 2011 which is filed as

Exhibit 3.2 hereto and is incorporated herein by reference

Amended and Restated Executive Incentive Compensation Plan

On February 28 2011 the Board adopted amendments to and restatement of the McDermott International

Inc Executive Incentive Compensation Plan as amended the EICP to provide annual incentive compensation

to various employees including our executive officers Under the EICP the Compensation Committee of the

Board the Compensation Committee establishes for each plan year performance goals and award

opportunities The award opportunities correspond to various levels of achievement of the preestablished

performance goals based on combinations of one or more corporate group divisional or individual goals The

award opportunity is typically based on the achievement of preestablished targeted performance goals including

company group or division performance The potential final award varies in relation to the various levels of

achievement of the preestablished performance goals with minimum or threshold performance achievement

required before there is any payout and limitation on the maximum payout Performance goals and measures

used to determine award opportunities are based on one or more of the following criteria

revenue and income measures which include revenue gross margin income from operations net

income net sales and earnings per share

expense measures which include costs of goods sold sales general and administrative expenses and

overhead costs

operating measures which include volume margin breakage and shrinkage productivity and market

share

cash flow measures which include net cash flow from operating activities and working capital

liquidity measures which include earnings before or after the effect of certain items such as interest

taxes depreciation and amortization cash flow and free cash flow

leverage measures which include equity ratio and net debt

market measures including those relating to market price stock price total shareholder return and

market capitalization measures
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return measures which include return on equity return on assets cash flow return on assets cash flow

return on capital cash flow return on equity return on capital and return on invested capital

corporate value measures which include compliance safety environmental and personnel matters

other measures such as those relating to acquisitions dispositions or customer satisfaction and

other measures consistent with deductibility under Internal Revenue Code Section 162m
Section 162m

Once established performance goals normally are not changed during the plan year However the

Compensation Conmiittee may adjust performance goals to account for changes in accounting principles and the

occurrence of external changes or other unanticipated business conditions that may materially affect the fairness

of the goals or unduly influence our ability to meet them to the extent permitted under Section 162m The

Compensation Committee has the authority to reduce or eliminate final awards based on any criteria it deems

appropriate In addition the Compensation Committee may use such other performance goals and measures

including subjective measures and make adjustments to performance goals and measures during the plan year if

the Compensation Committee determines that compliance with Section 162m is not desired

Following the end of each plan year awards are computed for each plan participant The EICP places $3

million limit on payouts to any one plan participant in respect of any given one-year period The Board may
amend the EICP from time to time Shareholder approval of the EICP is being sought at McDermotts 2011

Annual Meeting of Stockholders so that some awards as determined by the Compensation Committee under the

EICP may be considered performance-based compensation under Section 162m

The foregoing summary of the EICP is qualified in its entirety by reference to the text of the EICP which is

filed as Exhibit 10.45 hereto and is incorporated herein by reference

Actions of Compensation Committee

On February 28 2011 the Compensation Committee took the following actions relating to the

compensation of McDermott chief executive officer chief financial officer and each other executive officer

expected to be listed in the Summary Compensation Table in McDermotts proxy statement for its 2011 Annual

Meeting of Stockholders collectively the Named Executive Officers

2011 Annual Base Salary The Compensation Committee approved annual base salaries for the officers of

McDermott effective April 2011 The annual base salaries approved for the Named Executive Officers are

included in Exhibit 10.49 to this annual report

2011 Annual Cash Bonus The Compensation Committee established 2011 annual target award

opportunities and confidential performance measures relative to those opportunities for EICP participants

including our Named Executive Officers with such target awards to our Named Executive Officers and certain

other officers being contingent upon shareholder approval of the EICP at our 2011 Annual Meeting of

Stockholders For the year ending December 31 2011 the target award opportunities for our Named Executive

Officers are as follows

Target EICP Award

Opportunity

as percentage of 2011

Named Executive Officer annual base salary earned

Stephen Johnson 100%

Perry Elders 70%

Gary Carlson 60%

Liane Hinrichs 60%

John Nesser III 70%
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70% of the 2011 target award opportunity will be attributable to financial performance goals established by

the Corripensation Corniriittee and 30% of the 2011 target award opportunity will be attributable to individual

performance goals The financial performance goals are attributable 70% to McDermotts consolidated operating

income and 30% to return on invested capital for determining the minimum 25% target 100% and maximum

200% payment participant would be eligible to earn under the EICP in 2011 The Compensation Committee

established the performance goals based on managements internal projections of 2011 operating income and

return on invested capital No awards will be paid unless the stated minimum operating income level is achieved

and the Compensation Committee has the discretion to reduce the amount of any payout even if performance

goals have been achieved

2011 Long-Term Incentive The Compensation Committee approved the types of grants and form of grant

agreements to be used in connection with the 2011 grants 2011 grants include for each Named Executive Officer

total shareholder return performance shares restricted stock units and stock options The grants were all made

pursuant to our 2009 McDermott International Inc Long-Term Incentive Plan Copies of the general forms of

those agreements are included as Exhibits 10.46 10.47 and 10.48 respectively to this annual report

Clawback Policy The Compensation Committee approved policy with respect to executive compensation

clawback requirements under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act Under the

policy McDermott shall seek to recover any incentive-based award granted to any executive officer of

McDermott as required by the provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act or any other clawback provision required by

law or the listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange

Perquisite Allowance The Compensation Committee approved perquisite allowance for certain of our

executive officers including each of the Named Executive Officers The perquisite allowance is in the amount of

$20000 is paid in cash that may be used for any purpose determined by the recipient and is in lieu of any

reimbursements made by McDermott to those executive officers receiving the perquisite allowance for any

individual perquisite

Deferred Compensation Plan Company Contribution The Compensation Committee approved 2011

company contribution under the Deferred Compensation Plan for certain of our executive officers including the

Named Executive Officers in an amount of 5% of Compensation as defined in the Deferred Compensation Plan

received from McDermott during 2010 Additionally the Compensation Committee approved discretionary

supplemental contribution for Messrs Elders and Carlson equal in value to 5% of the value of their prior-year

target base salary each would have earned for the period January 2010 through their respective hire dates and

their 2010 target award opportunity under the EICP multiplied by their 2010 annual base salary so that for each

of Messrs Elders and Carison the total McDermott contributions under the Deferred Compensation Plan were

nearer to the amounts that would have been contributed if they had been employed by McDermott for all of

2010

Pending Retirement of Chief Operating Officer

Additionally Mr John Nesser III our Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer informed

the Company that he intends to retire by year-end 2011
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PART III

Item 10 DIRECTORS EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this item with respect to directors and executive officers is incorporated by

reference to the material appearing under the headings Election of Directors Named Executive Profiles and

Executive Officers respectively in the Proxy Statement for our 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders The

information required by this item with respect to compliance with Section 16a of the Securities and Exchange

Act of 1934 as amended is incorporated by reference to the material appearing under the heading Section 16a

Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance in the Proxy Statement for our 2011 Annual Meeting of

Stockholders The information required by this item with respect to the Audit Committee and Audit Committee

financial experts is incorporated by reference to the material appearing in the Committee and Audit

Committee sections under the heading Corporate GovernanceBoard of Directors and Its Committees in the

Proxy Statement for our 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders

We have adopted Code of Business Conduct for our employees and directors including specifically our

chief executive officer our chief financial officer and our other executive officers Our code satisfies the

requirements for code of ethics within the meaning of SEC rules copy of the code is posted on our web

site www.mcdermott.com/ under Corporate GovernanceGovernance PoliciesCode of Ethics for Chief

Executive Officer and Senior Financial Officers

Item 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the material appearing under the

headings Compensation Discussion and Analysis Compensation of Directors Compensation of Executive

Officers Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation and Compensation Committee

Report in the Proxy Statement for our 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders

Item 12 SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Equity Compensation Plan

Information table appearing in Item 5Market for the Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder

Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities in Part II of this report and the material appearing under

the headings Security Ownership of Directors and Executive Officers and Security Ownership of Certain

Beneficial Owners in the Proxy Statement for our 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders

Item 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR

INDEPENDENCE

The information in Note 13 to our consolidated financial statements included in this report is incorporated

by reference Additional information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the material appearing

under the heading Corporate GovernanceDirector Independence in the Proxy Statement for our 2011 Annual

Meeting of Stockholders

Item 14 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the material appearing under the

heading Ratification of Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firmfor Year Ending

December 31 2011 in the Proxy Statement for our 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
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PART IV

Item 15 EXHIBITS FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

The following documents are filed as part of this annual report or incorporated by reference

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31 2010 and 2009

Consolidated Statements of Income for the Years Ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008

Consolidated Statements of Equity for the Years Ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the Years Ended December 31 2010 2009 and

2008

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

Schedule II is filed with this annual report All other schedules for which provision is made of the applicable

regulations of the SEC have been omitted because they are not required under the relevant instructions or because

the required information is included in the financial statements or the related footnotes contained in this report

EXHIBITS

Exhibit

Number Description

3.1 McDermott International Inc.s Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 3.1 to McDermott International Inc.s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the

quarter ended September 30 2008 File No 1-08430

3.2 McDermott International Inc.s Amended and Restated By-laws

3.3 Amended and Restated Certificate of Designation of Series Participating Preferred Stock of

McDermott International Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to McDermott

International Inc.s Quarterly Report on Form l0-Q for the quarter ended September 30 2001

File No 1-08430

4.1 Credit Agreement dated as of June 2006 by and among Ray McDermott S.A credit lenders

synthetic investors and issuers party thereto Credit Suisse Cayman Islands Branch Credit Suisse

Securities USA LLC Bank of America N.A Calyon New York Branch Fortis Capital Corp
and Wachovia Bank National Association incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to

McDermott International Inc.s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 2006 File

No 1-08430

4.2 First Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of August 2006 by and among Ray

McDermott S.A certain lenders and issuers party thereto Credit Suisse Cayman Islands Branch

as administrative agent and collateral agent and other agents party thereto incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 4.8 to McDermott International Inc.s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the

year ended December 31 2007 File No 1-08430

4.3 Second Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of December 2006 by and among Ray

McDermott S.A certain guarantors thereto certain lenders and issuers party thereto Credit

Suisse Cayman Islands Branch as administrative agent and collateral agent and other agents

party thereto incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.9 to McDermott International Inc.s Annual

Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2007 File No 1-08430
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4.4 Third Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of July 2007 by and among Ray McDermott

S.A certain guarantors thereto certain lenders and issuers party thereto Credit Suisse Cayman Islands

Branch as administrative agent and collateral agent and other agents party thereto incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 4.1 to McDermott International Inc.s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the

quarter ended June 30 2007 File No 1-08430

4.5 Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of July 20 2007 by and among Ray McDermott

S.A certain guarantors thereto certain lenders and issuers party thereto Credit Suisse Cayman Islands

Branch as administrative agent and collateral agent and other agents party thereto incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.2 to McDermott International Inc.s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on

July 26 2007 File No 1-08430

4.6 Fifth Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of April 2008 by and between Ray McDermott

S.A certain guarantors thereto certain lenders and issuers party thereto Credit Suisse Cayman Islands

Branch as administrative agent and collateral agent and other agents party thereto incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.1 to McDermott International Inc.s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on

April 2008 File No 1-08430

4.7 Pledge and Security Agreement by Ray McDermott S.A and certain of its subsidiaries in favor of

Credit Suisse Cayman Islands Branch as administrative agent and collateral agent dated as of June

2006 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to McDermott International Inc.s Current Report on

Form 8-K filed on June 2006 File No 1-08430

4.8 Credit Agreement dated as of May 2010 among Ray McDermott S.A McDermott International

Inc the lenders and issuers party thereto and Credit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank as

administrative agent and collateral agent incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to McDermott

International Inc.s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 2010 File No 1-08430

4.9 Pledge and Security Agreement dated as of May 2010 by McDermott International Inc Ray

McDermott S.A and certain of their subsidiaries in favor of Credit Agricole Corporate and Investment

Bank as administrative agent and collateral Agent incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to

McDermott International Inc.s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 2010 File No 1-08430

4.10 New Borrower Joinder Agreement dated as of August 2010 among McDermott International Inc

Ray McDermott S.A and Credit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank as administrative agent

and collateral agent incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to McDermott International Inc.s

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30 2010 File No 1-08430

We and certain of our consolidated subsidiaries are parties to other debt instruments under which the total

amount of securities authorized does not exceed 10% of our total consolidated assets Pursuant to

paragraph 4iiiA of Item 601 of Regulation S-K we agree to furnish copy of those instruments to the

Commission upon its request

10.1 McDermott International Inc.s Executive Incentive Compensation Plan incorporated by reference to

Appendix to McDermott International Inc.s Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed on May 2006

File No 1-08430

10.2 McDermott International Inc.s 1996 Officer Long-Term Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to

Appendix to McDermott International Inc.s Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed on July 291997

File No 1-08430

10.3 McDermott International Inc.s 1997 Director Stock Program incorporated by reference to

Appendix to McDermott International Inc.s Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed on

July 291997 File No 1-08430
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10.4 McDermott International Inc.s Amended and Restated 2001 Directors Officers Long-Term
Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to Appendix to McDermott International Inc.s Proxy
Statement on Schedule 14A filed on May 2006 File No 1-08430

10.5 Notice of Grant Stock Options and Deferred Stock Units incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 to McDermott International Inc.s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 18 2005

File No 1-08430

10.6 Form of 2001 LTIP Stock Option Grant Agreement incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to

McDermott International Inc.s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 18 2005

File No 1-08430

10.7 Form of 2001 LTIP Deferred Stock Unit Grant Agreement incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.3 to McDermott International Inc.s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 18 2005

File No 1-08430

10.8 Form of 2001 LTIP Stock Option Grant Agreement to Nonemployee Directors incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.5 to McDermott International Inc.s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on

May 18 2005 File No 1-08430

10.9 Form of 2001 LTIP 2007 Performance Shares Grant Agreement incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 to McDermott International Inc.s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 2007

File No 1-08430

10.10 Form of 2001 LTIP 2008 Restricted Stock Grant Agreement incorporated by reference to Exhibit

10.27 to McDermott International Inc.s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended

December 31 2007 File No 1-08430

10.11 Form of Change-in-Control Agreement entered into between McDermott International Inc and

John Fees incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to McDermott International Inc.s

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30 2008 File No 1-08430

10.12 Form of 2001 LTIP 2009 Deferred Stock Grant Agreement incorporated by reference to Exhibit

10.24 to McDermott International Inc.s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended

December 31 2008 File No 1-08430

10.13 Form of 2001 LTIP 2009 Stock Options Grant Agreement incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.26 to McDermott International Inc.s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31 2008 File No 1-08430

10.14 Form of 2009 LTIP Restricted Stock Unit Grant Agreement incorporated by reference to Exhibit

10.2 to McDermott International Inc.s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended

March 31 2009 File No 1-08430

10.15 Form of 2009 LTIP Performance Shares Grant Agreement incorporated by reference to Exhibit

10.3 to McDermott International Inc.s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended

March 31 2009 File No 1-08430

10.16 Form of 2009 LTIP Stock Option Grant Agreement incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to

McDermott International Inc.s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31
2009 File No 1-08430

10.17 McDermott International Inc New Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan as amended and

restated effective December 31 2008 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to McDermott

International Inc.s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31 2009

File No 1-08430
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10.18 2009 McDermott International Inc Long-Term Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to

Appendix to McDermott International Inc.s Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed on

March 27 2009 File No 1-08430

10.19 Form of Restructuring Transaction Retention Agreement between McDermott International Inc

and John Fees incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to McDermott International Inc.s

Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 11 2009 File No 1-08430

10.20 Form of Restructuring Transaction Retention Agreement between McDermott International Inc

and Michael Taff incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to McDermott International Inc.s

Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 11 2009 File No 1-08430

10.21 Form of Restructuring Transaction Retention Agreement between McDermott International Inc

and certain executive officers other than Messrs Fees or Taft incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.3 to McDermott International Inc.s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 11

2009 File No 1-08430

10.22 Form of Restructuring Transaction Retention Agreement between McDermott International Inc

and certain other officers incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to McDermott International

Inc.s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 11 2009 File No 1-08430

10.23 Form of 2009 LTIP 2010 Restricted Stock Unit Grant Agreement incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.32 to McDermott International Inc.s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended

December 31 2009 File No 1-08430

10.24 Form of 2009 LTIP 2010 Stock Option Grant Agreement incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.33 to McDermott International Inc.s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended

December 31 2009 File No 1-08430

10.25 Separation Agreement dated as of March 23 2010 by and between Ray McDermott Inc and

Robert Deason incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to McDermott International Inc.s

Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 29 2010 File No 1-08430

10.26 Assumption and Loss Allocation Agreement dated as of May 18 2010 by and among ACE

American Insurance Company and the Ace Affiliates as defined therein McDermott International

Inc and Babcock Wilcox Holdings Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to

McDermott International Inc.s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30

2010 File No 1-08430

10.27 Novation and Assumption Agreement dated as of May 18 2010 by and among ACE American

Insurance Company and the Ace Affiliates as defined therein Creole Insurance Company Ltd

and Boudin Insurance Company Ltd incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to McDermott

International Inc.s Quarterly Report on Form lO-Q for the quarter ended June 30 2010

File No 1-08430

10.28 Novation and Assumption Agreement dated as of May 18 2010 by and among McDermott

International Inc Babcock Wilcox Holdings Inc Boudin Insurance Company Ltd and Creole

Insurance Company Ltd incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to McDermott International

Inc.s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30 2010 File No 1-08430

10.29 Tax Sharing Agreement dated as of June 2010 between Ray Holdings Inc and Babcock

Wilcox Holdings Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to McDermott International Inc.s

Quarterly Report on Form l0-Q for the quarter ended June 30 2010 File No 1-08430
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10.30 Transition Services Agreement dated as of July 2010 between McDermott International Inc as

service provider and The Babcock Wilcox Company as service receiver incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.4 to McDermott International Inc.s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the

quarter ended June 30 2010 File No 1-08430

10.31 Transition Services Agreement dated as of July 2010 between The Babcock Wilcox Company
as service provider and McDermott International Inc as service receiver incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 10.5 to McDermott International Inc.s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended June 30 2010 File No 1-08430

10.32 Employee Matters Agreement dated as of July 2010 among McDermott International Inc
McDermott Investments LLC The Babcock Wilcox Company and Babcock Wilcox

Investment Company incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to McDermott International Inc.s

Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 2010 File No 1-08430

10.33 Amendment to Employee Matters Agreement dated as of August 2010 among McDermott

International Inc McDermott Investments LLC The Babcock Wilcox Company and Babcock
Wilcox Investment Company incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to McDermott

International Inc.s Quarterly Report on Form l0-Q for the
quarter ended June 30 2010

File No 1-08430

10.34 Amendment No to Employee Matters Agreement dated as of August 10 2010 among
McDermott International Inc McDermott Investments LLC The Babcock Wilcox Company
and Babcock Wilcox Investment Company incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to

McDermott International Inc.s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended

September 30 2010 File No 1-08430

10.35 Form of Change in Control Agreement to be entered into among McDermott International Inc
Ray McDermott Inc and Stephen Johnson incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to

McDermott International Inc.s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30
2010 File No 1-08430

10.36 Form of Change in Control Agreement to be entered into among McDermott International Inc
Ray McDermott Inc and each of Perry Elders and certain other officers incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.10 to McDermott International Inc.s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for

the quarter ended June 30 2010 File No 1-08430

10.37 Form of Change in Control Agreement to be entered into among McDermott International Inc
Ray McDermott Inc and each of Liane Hinrichs and John Nesser III incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.11 to McDermott International Inc.s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for

the quarter ended June 30 2010 File No 1-08430

10.38 McDermott International Inc Director and Executive Deferred Compensation Plan as amended

and restated November 2010 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to McDermott

International Inc.s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30 2010

File No 1-08430

10.39 Form of 2009 LTIP Stock Option Grant Agreement for replacement grants in connection with theBW spin-off

10.40 Form of 2009 LTIP Restricted Stock Unit Grant Agreement for 2008 performance share

replacement grants in connection with the BW spin-off

10.41 Form of 2009 LTIP Restricted Stock Unit Grant Agreement for 2009 performance share

replacement grants in connection with the BW spin-off
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10.42 Form of 2009 LTIP Restricted Stock Grant Agreement for 2010 retention grants made to

Messrs Johnson and Nesser and Ms Hinrichs

10.43 Rabbi Trust Agreement by and between McDermott International Inc and Mellon Bank N.A as

amended as of November 18 2010

10.44 Summary of Named Executive Officer 2010 Salaries and EICP Award Opportunities incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to McDermott International Inc.s Annual Report on Form 10-K for

the year
ended December 31 2009

10.45 McDermott International Inc Executive Incentive Compensation Plan as amended and restated

March 12011

10.46 Form of 2009 LTIP 2011 Total Shareholder Return Performance Share Grant Agreement

10.47 Form of 2009 LTIP 2011 Restricted Stock Unit Grant Agreement

10.48 Form of 2009 LTIP 2011 Stock Option Grant Agreement

10.49 Summary of Named Executive Officer 2011 Salaries and EICP Target Award Opportunities

12.1 Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

21.1 Significant Subsidiaries of the Registrant

23.1 Consent of Deloitte Touche LLP

31.1 Rule 13a- 14a/15d- 14a certification of Chief Executive Officer

31.2 Rule 13a- 14a/i Sd- 14a certification of Chief Financial Officer

32.1 Section 1350 certification of Chief Executive Officer

32.2 Section 1350 certification of Chief Financial Officer

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement

101 .1NS XBRL Instance Document

101 .SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101 .CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101 .LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101 .PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

101 .DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant

has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

McDERMOTF INTERNATIONAL INC

March 12011
By Is STEPrmN JorsoN

Stephen Johnson

President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by
the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated and on the date indicated

Signature Title

Is STEPHEN JoHNsoN

Stephen Johnson

Is PEIux ELDERS

Perry Elders

Is RONALD CAMBRE

Ronald Cambre

Is Joimi BooKouT III

John Bookout ifi

Is ROGER BROwN

Roger Brown

Is SmPiN HKs
Stephen Hanks

Is B1iLEy McWmLwts

Bradley McWiffiams

Is THOMAS ScHIEvELBEwi

Thomas Schievelbein

Is MAJY SI-iFERMALIcIu

Mary Shafer-Malicki

Is DAVID TiucE

David Trice

March 12011

President and Chief Executive Officer and Director

Principal Executive Officer

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Principal Financial Officer and Principal

Accounting Officer

Chairman of the Board and Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

107



Schedule II

McDERMOTT INTERNATIONAL INC
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Additions

Balance at Charged to Balance at

Beginning Costs and Charged to Other End of

of Period Expenses1 Accounts PeriodDescription
___________ ___________

Valuation Allowance for Deferred Tax Assets2

Year Ended December 31 2010 $108737 8155
Year Ended December 31 2009 78249 $30776
Year Ended December 31 2008 $100617 22707

2009 and 2008 amounts presented below include the spun-off BW operations

Net of reductions and other adjustments all of which are charged to costs and expenses

Amounts charged to other accounts included in other comprehensive loss minimum pension liability

Description
__________ ___________ __________

Allowance for Doubtful and Disputed Accounts

Year Ended December 31 2010 $42246 8108 $11231

Year Ended December 31 2009 $28308 $39684 1630
Year Ended December 31 2008 $70569 $30048 $36385

$21158

288

339

95734

$108737

78249

Balance at Charged to Balance at

Beginning Costs and End of

of Period Expenses Write-offs Recoveries Period

9562

$24116

$35924

29561

$42246

$28308
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EXHIBIT 12.1

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

Our ratio of earnings to fixed charges is as follows

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

Earnings

Income from continuing operations before

provision for income taxes and noncontrolling

interest $303794 $270113 $124415 $413427 $137359

Interest expense 2584 4285 8414 18909

Portion of rents representative of the interest

factor 15955 18032 22589 19654 15189

$322333 $288145 $151289 $441495 $171457

Fixed charges

Interest expense including amount

capitalized 14621 11673 10263 13893 21131

Portion of rents representative of the interest

factor 15955 18032 22589 19654 15189

30576 29705 32852 33547 36320

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges l0.54x 9.70x 4.61x 13.16x 4.72x



EXHIBIT 21.1

McDERMOTT INTERNATIONAL INC
SIGNIFICANT SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2010

JURISDICTION PERCENTAGE
OF OF OWNERSHIP

NAME OF COMPANY ORGANIZATION INTEREST

McDermott International Investments Co Inc Panama 100

Ray McDemiott S.A Panama 100

North Atlantic Vessel Inc Panama 100

Ray McDermott Aust Holding Pty Limited Australia 100

McDermott Australia Pty Ltd Australia 100

Hydro Marine Services Inc Panama 100

McDermott Far East Inc Panama 100

McDermott Indonesia Indonesia 75

Ray McDermott International Inc Panama 100

McDermott Middle East Inc Panama 100

McDermott Eastern Hemisphere Ltd Mauritius 100

Ray McDermott Far East Inc Panama 100

McDermott Arabia Company Limited Saudi Arabia 34

Ray McDermott Luxemburg S.ar.1 Luxemburg 100

Ray Holdings Inc Delaware 100

Ray McDermott Holdings LLC Delaware 100

McDermott Inc Delaware 100

The subsidiaries omitted from the foregoing list considered in the aggregate as single subsidiary do not

constitute significant subsidiary



EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No 333-978 13 No 333-133976

and 333-159129 on Form S-8 of our reports dated March 2011 relating to the financial statements and

financial statement schedule of McDermott International Inc which report expresses an unqualified opinion and

includes an explanatory paragraph relating to the Companys completed spin-off of its Government Operations

and Power Generations Systems segments into an independent publicly traded company named The Babcock

Wilcox Company and the effectiveness of McDermott International Inc.s internal control over financial

reporting appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of McDermott International Inc for the
year

ended

December 31 2010

Houston Texas

March 2011



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

Stephen Johnson certify that

have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of McDermott International Inc for the year ended

December 31 2010

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain
any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state

material fact
necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such

statements were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report

fairly present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the

registrant as of and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officers and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure

controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e and internal control

over financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15f and 15d-15f for the registrant and

have

designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to

be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the registrant

including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities particularly

during the period in which this report is being prepared

designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over financial

reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this

report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end

of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation and

disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that

occurred during the registrants fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affected or is reasonably likely

to materially affect the registrants internal control over financial reporting and

The registrants other certifying officers and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of

internal control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit conmiittee of the

registrants board of directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over

financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to record

process
summarize and report financial information and

any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have

significant role in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

March 12011

Is STEPHEN JOHNSON

Stephen Johnson

President and Chief Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 31.2

Perry Elders certify that

have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of McDermott International Inc for the year ended

December 31 2010

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state

material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such

statements were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report

fairly present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the

registrant as of and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officers and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure

controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e and internal control

over financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a- 15f and 15d- 151 for the registrant and

have

designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to

be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the registrant

including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities particularly

during the period in which this report is being prepared

designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over financial

reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this

report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end

of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation and

disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that

occurred during the registrants fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affected or is reasonably likely

to materially affect the registrants internal control over financial reporting and

The registrants other certifying officers and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of

internal control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the

registrants board of directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over

financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to record

process summarize and report financial information and

any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have

significant role in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

March 12011

Is PERRY ELDERs

Perry Elders

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 32.1

MCDERMOTT INTERNATIONAL INC
Certification Pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Subsections and of Section 1350 Chapter 63 of Title 18 United States Code

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 Subsections and of Section 1350

Chapter 63 of Title 18 United States Code Stephen Johnson President and Chief Executive Officer of

McDermott International Inc Panamanian corporation the Company hereby certify to my knowledge

that

the Companys Annual Report on Foi-m 10-K for the year ended December 31 2010 the Report

fully complies with the requirements of Section 13a or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

and

information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and

results of operations of the Company

Dated March 2011 Is SmPHEN JoHNsoN

Stephen Johnson

President and Chief Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 32.2

MCDERMOTT INTERNATIONAL INC
Certification Pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Subsections and of Section 1350 Chapter 63 of Title 18 United States Code

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 Subsections and of Section 1350

Chapter 63 of Title 18 United States Code Perry Elders Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

of McDermott International Inc Panamanian corporation the Company hereby certify to my knowledge

that

the Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2010 the Report

fully complies with the requirements of Section 13a or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

and

information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and

results of operations of the Company

Dated March 2011 /5/ PERRY ELDERs

Perry Elders

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer



McDERMOTT INTERNATIONAL INC

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

Computershare Trust Company NA
P.O Box 43078

Providence Rhode Island

02940-3078

800 446-2617

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC

ACCOUNTING FIRM FOR 2010

Deloitte Touche LLP

1111 Bagby

Suite 2300

Houston Texas 77002-4196

713 982-2000

ANNUAL MEETING

The 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders of McDermott International

Inc will be held at the Intercontinental Miramar Hotel Miramar Plaza

Balboa Avenue Panama City Panama on Friday May 2011 at

300 p.m local time

INVESTOR CONTACTS

Questions concerning McDermotts operating and financial performance

or requests for additional information about the Company should be

directed to

Jay Roueche or Robby Bellamy

Investor Relations

281 870-5011

Copies of the annual
report

and Form 10-K are

available and may be obtained by contacting

McDermott International Inc

do Investor Relations

757 Eldridge Parkway

Houston Texas 77079

281 870-5011 or online at

www.mcdermott.com

Unless the context otherwise requires the use in this report luther than the Form lO-KI of the term McDermott Internatinnal Inc or McDermott refers

to the consolidated enterprise The use of such terms as company segments businesses units division groups organization joint venture we us

nor or it when referring either to McDermott or to its subsidiaries and affiliates either individually or collectively is only for convenience and is not

intended to describe legal relationships For listing of McDermott International Inc.s significant ssbsidmries please refer to its annual report on

Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2010

CAUTION CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This annual report includes certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 including

statements relating to our backlog to the extent backlog maybe viewed as an indicator of future
revenues our belief that our future is bright our

expectation that we will increase capital expenditures in 2011 our enthusiasm for McDermotts years ahead our expectations that number of vessels

will retire and be replaced over the next two decades our anticipation of more complex workload in the
years

to come and the expected scope value

timing and evecotiun associated with certain projects These statements involve uncertainties that may impact the Companys expectations and

future results of operations Althoogh McDermotts management believes that the expectations reflected in those forward-looking statements are

reasonable those statements are subject to numerous uncertainties and risks including but not limited to disruptions experienced with customers

and suppliers the inability to retain key personnel reductions in the capital expenditures of oil companies adverse changes in the industry in which

we operate or credit markets difficulties in performing projects in backlog our inability to execute on our strategic plan our inability to compete in

engineering and construction opportunities our inability to anticipate or manage future challenges changes in project design or schedules c000ract

cancellations change erders and other modifications and difficolties executing on projects If one or more of these risks materialize or if underlying

assumptions prove incorrect actual results may vary materially from those expected For more complete discussion of information about these

and other risk factors see McDermotts a000al report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2010 filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission This annual report reflects managements views as of the date hereof Except to the extent required by applicable law McDermott

undertakes no obligation to update or revise anyfurward-looking statement

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Copies of McDermotts Corporate Governance Guidelines Code of Business Conduct charters for the committees of the Board of Directors and ether

corporate governance materials are available on our website www.mcdermott.com at Corporate Governance and are available in print lx any

stockholder who requests copy in writing to McDermott International Inc Corporate Secretarys Office 757 Eldridge Pkwy Houston Texas

77079 Information on how stockholders or other interested parties can contact McDermotts nonmanagement directors is also available on our

website at Corporate GovernanceBoard Committees
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